AGENDA
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD
Tuesday, June 18, 2019
4:00 pm in BR126
North Vancouver Campus
We respectfully acknowledge the Lil'wat, Musqueam, Squamish, Sechelt and Tsleil-Waututh people on
whose territories our campuses are located.
AGENDA ITEM
1. Approval of Agenda – Soon Kim, Chair

ACTION

SCHEDULE

TIME

Approval

5 min

MOTION: THAT the Board approve the following items on the consent
agenda:
2.1. Minutes from the April 16, 2019 Board Meeting
2.2. Board Committee Reports:
2.2.1. Finance and Audit Committee
2.2.2. Governance Committee
2.2.3. Investment Management Committee
2.2.4. Policy and Planning Committee
2.3. Correspondence

Approval

10 min

3.

Board Chair’s Report – Soon Kim, Chair

Info

verbal

4.

Senate Reports
Info
Info

verbal
verbal

MOTION: THAT the Board approve the agenda as presented.
2. Consent Agenda – Soon Kim, Chair

4.1. Vice-Chair – Majid Raja
4.2. Board Liaison – Duncan Brown

2.1
2.2.1
2.2.2
2.2.3
2.2.4
2.3
5 min
10 min

5.

President’s Report – Paul Dangerfield

Info

5

5 min

6.

Campus Master Plan: Capital Asset Management – Ryan Blades

Info

6

15 min

7.

University KPIs & Dashboard – Toran Savjord and Christine Chan

Info &
Presentation

7

10 min

8.

Institutional Accountability Plan and Report (IAPR) – Toran Savjord

Info &
Discussion

8

15 min

9.

Three New Proposed Degrees – Laureen Styles
9.1 Bachelor of Science General – Stage 2

15 min
Approval

9.1

Approval

9.2

MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Science,
General Full Program Proposal (Stage 2), as presented, for Minister of
Advanced Education, Skills, and Training approval.
9.2 Bachelor of Human Kinetics Full Program Proposal
MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Human
Kinetics Full Program Proposal (Stage 2), as presented, for Minister of
Advanced Education, Skills, and Training approval.
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9.3 Bachelor of Arts in English
MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Arts with a
Major in English Full Program Proposal (Stage 2) for the following credentials
as presented for Minister of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training
approval.
•

Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English;

•

Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English (Honours);

•

Minor in English;

•

Minor in Creative Writing;

•

Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English, Creative Writing
Concentration

Approval

9.3

10. Finance and Audit Committee

20 min

10.1 Confirmation of Chair – Soon Kim

Approval

10.1

Approval

10.2

Approval

10.3

Approval

10.4

MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors confirms the Chair of the Board’s
appointment of Patricia Heintzman as Chair to the Finance and Audit
Committee and the re-appointment of Cherian Itty as Vice Chair.
10.2 Audited Financial Statements for 2018/19 – Soon Kim
MOTION: THAT the Board approve the Draft Consolidated Financial
Statements of Capilano University for the Year Ended March 31, 2019.
10.3 Executive Compensation Disclosure Statement for 2018/19 – Soon Kim
MOTION: That the Board approves the Executive Compensation Disclosure
Statement for the Year Ended March 31, 2019.
10.4 Appointment of Auditors – Soon Kim
MOTION: That the Board appoint KPMG as the auditors for 2019/20.
11 Governance Committee

5 min

11.1 Board Self-Assessment Survey Results – Duncan Brown

Info

11.1

12 Future Board Meetings – Paul Dangerfield

Info

12

5 min

13 Board Chair and Vice Chair Election – Paul Dangerfield

Approval

13

10 min

14 In Camera Session
MOTION: THAT the Board move In-Camera following the adjournment of the
Regular Meeting.
15. Adjournment
MOTION: THAT the Regular Meeting of the Board be adjourned.
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MEETING
MINUTES OF THE BOARD
Tuesday, April 16, 2019
4:00 pm in BR126
North Vancouver Campus
Board
Soon Kim, Chair
Cherian Itty, Vice Chair
Paul Dangerfield, President
Andrew Petrozzi
Ash Amlani (via
teleconference)
Aurelea Mahood

Duncan Brown
Emily Gaudette
Hassan Merali
Michael Fleming
Mila Mattson
Patricia Heintzman
R. Paul Dhillon

Guest: Majid Raja, Senate Vice Chair

Staff
Jacqui Stewart, VP Finance & Admin
Laureen Styles, VP Academic & Provost
Toran Savjord, VP Strategic Planning
Scott Blythe, Director Alumni & Development
Tally Bains, Director of Finance
Marika Morissette, EA to the President
Regrets
David Fung, Chancellor
Carleen Thomas

We respectfully acknowledge the Lil'wat, Musqueam, Squamish, Sechelt and Tsleil-Waututh people on
whose territories our campuses are located.
The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.
1. Approval of Agenda
It was moved (Duncan Brown), seconded by (Emily Gaudette) and resolved;
THAT the agenda be approved as presented.
2. Consent Agenda
It was moved (Duncan Brown), seconded by (Emily Gaudette) and resolved;
THAT the Board approves the consent agenda:
2.1. Minutes from the March 19, 2019 Board Meeting
2.2. Board Committee Reports:
2.2.1. Finance and Audit Committee
2.3. Correspondence
3. Board Chair’s Report
Soon Kim stated how pleased he was that the last Board meeting held at the kálax-ay Sunshine
Coast Campus was well attended by Board members, Executives, local Mayors, Councillors and
members of the shíshálh Nation. He was very happy to report that Capilano University has
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completed its application to Universities Canada and thanked management for all of their efforts
and dedication. He expressed his enthusiasm for the program development update that will be
provided by Laureen Styles at tonight’s Board meeting.
The next Board meeting scheduled on May 16, 2019 will focus on Envisioning 2030, followed by an
in-camera session. Soon anticipates that the June 18th Board meeting will have a very full agenda.
He reminded Board members that the CapU Foundation AGM and Annual Board dinner will be
held on June 25, 2019.
4. Senate Reports
4.1 Vice-Chair
Majid Raja, Senate Vice Chair, reported that Senate met on April 2, 2019. He noted there have
been some changes to Senate membership. Senate was informed that the Senior Leadership
Council approved amendments to Appendix A of the Student Awards Policy (S2018-02). Senate
approved revisions to the Credential and Course Criteria Policy (S2015-05) to include minimum
requirements for the Honours programs, Joint Majors and Double Majors. Senate approved 12
resolutions brought forward from the March 15, 2019 Senate Curriculum Committee meeting.
Senate was informed of the Senate Instructional Technologies Advisory Committee’s general
consensus on expanding the membership of the committee to include multiple representatives
from larger faculties with more diverse programs and technological needs. The Senate Budget
Advisory Committee also met and the Chair reported that a thorough review of the budget
documents was undertaken and the Committee had accordingly fulfilled its mandate for this year’s
budget process. The Committee was presented with a comprehensive draft of the three year
operating and capital budget for 2019/2020 – 2021/2022.
Senate is undertaking its annual self-evaluation survey that will afford the ability to review Senate
performance in comparison with the self-evaluation results from the last two years. The results of
the self-evaluation survey will be presented at the May 14 Senate meeting. It was also reported to
Senate that the Ministry has provided the University with one-time funding for 2019-2020 to
support students in adult special education, support for student mental health, community adult
literacy programs and Indigenous students emergency funding.
4.2 Board Liaison
Nothing to report.
5. President’s Report
Paul Dangerfield reported that work on the operating and capital budget and integrated planning
has been front and centre. A lot of work has also taken place on engaging the community in
Envisioning 2030 and shaping CapU’s future.
Paul informed Board members that in celebration of our 50th anniversary, Capilano University
commissioned Squamish Nation master carver Ses siyam (Ray Natraoro) to build a traditional Coast
Salish canoe as a legacy to future generations. The 30-foot-long sea-worthy canoe symbolizes the
University’s commitment to Truth and Reconciliation. A special ceremony was held on April 11 at
2 p.m. in the Birch Building cafeteria.
Page 2 of 6
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Paul was pleased to announce Capilano University’s plans to open a new branch campus in the
North Vancouver community of Lower Lonsdale this September. At the end of August 2019,
Capilano University will take occupancy of the second floor of 125 Victory Ship Way to deliver
educational programs and services beginning in the Fall term. The new space will provide students
with an exceptional learning and teaching environment that can also be adapted for meetings and
community use.
Paul also shared that Capilano University has signed a Memorandum of Understanding with AMPD
Technologies, Greenstone Initiatives and Hynes Developments to build a Creative Tech Community
(CTC) intended to be one of Canada’s largest on-campus collaborations between education and
industry. The collaboration is a joint effort to develop future generations of digital storytellers in
technology-related areas such as animation, film, games, visual effects and emerging platforms.
The Honourable Jonathan Wilkinson, Minister of Fisheries, Oceans, and the Canadian Coast Guard
and Member of Parliament for North Vancouver will be on campus tomorrow at 1:45 pm in the
Bosa Theatre for an important funding announcement that will help foster Indigenous companies
in the creative and digital sectors.
Paul reported that he travelled to Victoria, BC on April 4 and met with 2 Assistant Deputy
Ministers, Tony Loughran and Kevin Brewster, from the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and
Training. They discussed the campus master plan and regional campus initiatives, and Paul
received lots of support on the approach that the University is taking. On April 5, Paul also met
with Philip Steenkamp, President of Royal Roads University to discuss collaboration opportunities.
ACTION: Lesley Cook to send Board of Governors members an Outlook meeting invitation for the
convocation ceremonies and lunches on June 3 & 4, 2019.
6. Draft Three-Year Operating and Capital Budget (2019/20 – 2021/22)
Paul Dangerfield provided Board members with background information on the draft three-year
operating and capital budget for 2019/20 to 2021/22. An integrated planning approach engaged
all departments in analysis, goal-setting, prioritizing, cross-functional collaboration and budgeting
for both the short and medium term. The process looked at one, two and three-year priorities to
consider initiatives that will span multiple years while at the same time addressing the immediate
needs of the current fiscal year. Development of the budget was also informed by various other
discussions including the Senate Budget Advisory Committee, the Board’s Finance and Audit
Committee and the Senior Leadership Council.
Initiatives receiving priority and new funding in the 2019/20 budget include: improvements to
student success services and financial support for students; pursuing accreditation with
Universities Canada; faculty positions for teaching and non-teaching roles; commitments to Truth
& Reconciliation; the admissions review process (including staffing increases to facilitate the
implementation of recommendations); investments in technology; training to improve operational
processes; digital strategy and outreach; government relations; community engagement; and
facilities maintenance and development.
The proposed budget is based on a two percent increase in tuition and mandatory increase for
both domestic and international students. No material changes in funding from the Ministry of
Advanced Education, Skills and Training are expected, beyond negotiated increases from collective
bargaining and the new employer health tax.
Page 3 of 6
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A surplus of approximately $5.5 M in the 2018/19 fiscal year is forecast. Board Chair Soon Kim
remarked how pleased he was that the Administration has been prudent rather than frivolous in
their spending. The explanation for the surplus mainly has to do with the fact that the University
received higher revenues than expected, mostly from international students. Funds were released
in the final quarter of the budget year to support both emerging priorities and initiatives that had
been requested from earlier planning during budget development
Board members and individuals in the gallery asked numerous questions about the budget which
were answered by members of the Executive Team. The main issues raised were around
supporting admissions and the registrar’s office, as well as advocating for mental health services
for both students and employees. Union executives from the CFA and MoveUp expressed their
opinion that there wasn’t enough time given to consultation with the unions on the budget. Paul
Dangerfield acknowledged that the integrated planning approach provided a different consultation
process involving more people that then created tighter time lines to review the final budget.
Going forward, every effort will be made to consult stakeholders (including union executives) on
the budget earlier on in the process. Planning for development of the budget for the next fiscal
year will begin in late summer working towards a draft university budget for 2021-22 by
December.
ACTION: President to include a financial component to the monthly meeting discussions with
MoveUp Executives.
It was moved (Duncan Brown), seconded by (Emily Gaudette) and resolved;
MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors approve a 2% increase in tuition and mandatory fees for
Domestic and International Students.
It was moved (Duncan Brown), seconded by (Emily Gaudette) and resolved;
MOTION: THAT the Board of Governors approve the 2019/20 operating and capital budget.
7. Operational Plan Highlights 2019/20 to 2021/22
Toran Savjord, VP Strategic Planning, Assessment, and Institutional Effectiveness, referred to the
document included in the Board package, which is intended to provide highlights of Capilano
University’s 2019/20 to 2021/22 Operational Plan. The document supplements the budget and is a
result of the University’s integrated planning process. A separate detailed document that outlines
each Faculty and department’s three-year plans and measurable objectives will be published in
June 2019. This lag is due to the need for each Faculty and department to adjust detailed targets
with the final approved balanced budget.
Toran explained that this past year, CapU piloted an Integrated Planning process that was designed
to simplify and strengthen CapU’s planning and assessment processes. Key features of this process
include:
•

•

Integrating Budget Development with Operational Planning:
o Each Faculty and department was guided through a process of setting targets and
aspirations to inform the budgeting process. Plans will be updated post resource
allocation, based on final balanced budget.
Merging Service Unit Assessment and Operational Planning processes:
Page 4 of 6
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In previous years, each service area had to complete a plan and report outlining
service outcomes for accreditation purposes. This has been incorporated into core
Integrated Planning processes. Each department outlines their service outcomes
and targets on a rolling three-year cycle for Integrated Planning.
Streamlining Institutional Accountability Reporting with Operational Plan Reflection
processes:
o Reflection of past performance compared to plan will be conducted at year end.
This will be conducted simultaneously with reporting activities for Institutional
Accountability.
Supporting all University Faculties and departments in adopting a performance-driven,
data-informed mindset:
o As a part of the Integrated Planning process, data on University Key Performance
Indicators was made available and training was provided to help Faculties and
departments understand the implications on their plans.
o

•

•

Toran commented that the approach taken this past year required a significant cultural shift and
energy from everyone involved. He acknowledged how difficult change can be and thanked
everyone involved in the process. His goal is to continue to streamline and improve the process
for next year.
8. Program Development Update
VP Academic and Provost, Laureen Styles provided the Board of Governors an update on program
development at Capilano University. As previous described and as identified in Board Policy B.106
and procedure B106-02, there is a well-defined process for program development through to
approval, aligned with the level of credential (e.g., degree or non-degree) and expectations as set
out by the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training, and the Degree Quality Assessment
Board (DQAB) for degrees. Programs currently in development at Capilano University are listed in
the chart on pages 40 and 41 of the Board meeting package. Both internal and external peer
review are integrated in the approval process.
The following four degrees are moving with a goal of Board of Governor’s review for Stage 2
approval at the June meeting: Bachelor of Human Kinetics; Bachelor of Arts with a Major in
English; Bachelor of Science, General; and Bachelor of Arts with a Major in Psychology.
The following new credential proposals at the concept paper stage that will be further developed
in the next year to two include: Bachelor of Arts with a Major in Sociology; Bachelor of Arts with a
Major in Environmental Studies; Bachelor of Science with a Major in Data Science; PostBaccalaureate Certificate in Data Science; Bachelor of Arts with a Major in Applied Social Justice
(Community Engagement); Bachelor of Science with a Major in Environmental Technology;
Bachelor of Science with a Major in Life Science; Bachelor of Health Studies; Concentration in
Information Management; Master of Public Administration; Minor in Cinema Studies; PostBaccalaureate in Motion Picture Industry Business Affairs; Bachelor of Digital Animation and Visual
Effects; and Post-Baccalaureate in Social Innovation.
9. Declaration of Related Party Transactions
Jacqui Stewart, Vice President, Finance and Administration, advised Board members that the
provincial government implemented the requirement for a Related Party Disclosure in April 2018.
The requirement applies to numerous public entities including agencies, crown corporations,
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school districts, health authorities, universities and colleges. The form requires the disclosure of
any material transactions between related parties, during 2018/19, for transactions at a value
other than fair market value and transactions that have a material monetary effect on financial
statements at Capilano University.
The definition of a related party, for the purposes of this disclosure includes:
•
•
•

entities within the governments reporting entity (e.g. Capilano University);
key management personnel and their close family members (e.g. President and VicePresidents); and
entities controlled by key management personnel or their close family members.

Three questions that need to be answered in the disclosure are:
•
•
•

Are you aware of any transactions during the fiscal year between yourself and a
government entity (Capilano University) that occurred at a value different than fair value?
Are you aware of any transactions during the fiscal year involving a government entity
(Capilano University) and a close family member that occurred at a value different than
fair value?
Are you aware of any transactions during the fiscal year involving a government entity
(Capilano University) and an entity controlled by you or a close family member that
occurred at a value different than fair value?

Board members present at the meeting completed and signed the declaration of related party
transactions and submitted their paperwork to Marika Morissette, Executive Assistant to the
President (on behalf of Lesley Cook, Executive Assistant to the Board.)
10. In Camera Session
It was moved (Soon Kim), seconded (Cherian Itty) and resolved;
THAT the Board move In-Camera following the adjournment of the Regular Meeting.
11. Adjournment
It was moved (Soon Kim), seconded (Cherian Itty) and resolved;
THAT the Regular Meeting of the Board be adjourned.
The Regular Meeting of the Board adjourned at 6:30 pm.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 2.2.1: FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Soon Kim, Finance and Audit Committee Chair
PURPOSE
To provide the Board with a summary of the May 16, 2019 Finance and Audit Committee meeting.
DISCUSSION
The Committee met with the auditors, KPMG, who provided an overview of the draft Audit Findings
Report and presented the draft Audited Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2019. A
motion recommending that the Board approve the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year
Ended March 31, 2018 was carried, and is presented to the Board under separate cover.
The Committee also reviewed the Executive Compensation report for the year ended March 31, 2019.
The Board Chair, who is also the Committee Chair, signed the submission letter to meet reporting
timelines. A motion recommending that the Board approve the report was carried, and is presented to
the Board under separate cover.
KPMG is concluding a 5-year contract on March 31, 2019 that also provides for a two year extension. In
anticipation of the Office of the Auditor directly auditing in 2020/21, a one-year contract extension is
required for 2019/20. A motion was passed recommending that the Board appoint KPMG as the
auditors for 2019/20 is presented under separate cover.
The Vice President of Finance and Administration and the Director of Financial Services provided
updates on the Financial Services Operational Plan for 2019/20. Risk Management reports were
presented including a quarterly HR dashboard update, Cybersecurity Maturity Assessment Report and a
report cybersecurity. Additionally, the Committee amended the recommended approach to internal
audit.
RECOMMENDATION
This is for the Board’s information only.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 2.2.2: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE REPORT
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Duncan Brown, Governance Committee Chair
PURPOSE
To advise the Board of the Governance Committee meeting that took place on June 11, 2019.
DISCUSSION
The Governance Committee met on June 11, 2019. The members of the Committee are: Duncan Brown
(Chair), Ash Amlani, Aurelea Mahood, Mila Mattson and R. Paul Dhillon.
The Committee met to discuss the Board Self-Assessment Survey. Input from Board members is
requested as it relates to Board orientation. This item is under separate cover.
RECOMMENDATION
This report is for the Board’s information only.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 2.2.3: INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Cherian Itty, Investment Management Committee Chair
PURPOSE
To provide the Board with a summary of the Investment Management Committee meeting that took
place on May 30, 2019.
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Committee held their quarterly meeting to review investment returns (attached) and receive a
report from the University’s Investment Managers, Phillips, Hager and North (PH&N). The Committee
reviewed the asset mix for the University and Foundation portfolios, as they do each quarter, and
decided that no changes were warranted at this time.
The Committee asked staff to review the Investment Policy and Investment Guidelines and return with
recommended changes at the September meeting. A report of Student Financial Awards and the
quarterly returns were discussed. The Committee also reviewed the Terms of Reference and agreed
that no changes were required at this time.
RECOMMENDATION
This report is for the Board’s information only.
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Capilano University
Earnings Performance on Investments held with Phillips, Hager and North
as at Period 12 ending Mar 31, 2019

Book Value
Beginning balance
Interest and dividends
Unrealized gains
Realized gains
Contributions
Earnings withdrawals
Ending balance
Quarterly Returns
Total gain (loss) before fees
Return, before fees
Management fees

Q1
Apr1-Jun30
37,159,240

Q2
Jul1-Sep30
37,311,441

Q3
Oct1-Dec31
38,329,561

Q4
Jan1-Mar31
38,329,561

38,968,333
150,632
930,508
12,198
475,709
(475,709)
40,061,670

40,061,670
152,129
(84,709)
0
0
0
40,129,091

40,129,091
581,078
(1,617,925)
103,615
1,652,802
(1,652,802)
39,195,859

39,195,859
166,798
2,611,881
5,280
228,213
(228,213)
41,979,818

1,050,638
1,839,755
121,092
2,356,725
(2,356,725)
3,011,485

1,093,337
2.8%

67,421
0.2%

(933,232)
-2.3%

2,783,959
7.0%

3,011,485
7.7%

33,641

33,673

33,107

33,600

134,021
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Capilano University Foundation
Earnings Performance on Investments held with Phillips, Hager and North
as at Period 12 ending Mar 31, 2019

Book Value
Beginning balance
Interest and dividends
Unrealized gains
Realized gains
Contributions
Earnings withdrawals
Ending balance
Quarterly Returns
Total gain (loss) before fees
Return, before fees
Management fees
Vancouver Foundation
Investment Principal
Quarterly Disbursement
Quarterly Disbursement Rate

Q1
Apr1-Jun30
9,121,583
9,662,959
30,472
265,462
2,706
116,236
(116,236)
9,961,600

298,640
3.09%
8,551

1,010,050
14,572
1.4%

Q2
Jul1-Sep30
9,152,284
9,961,600
30,707
33,747
10,026,054

Q3
Oct1-Dec31
9,442,834

Q4
Jan1-Mar31
9,478,427

Year to Date
Returns

10,026,054
160,279
(455,767)
27,051
425,267
(425,267)
9,757,618

9,757,618
33,694
711,068
950
61,170
(61,170)
10,503,329

255,153
554,510
30,707
602,673
(602,673)
840,370

(268,437)
-2.72%

745,711
7.57%

840,370
0

64,455
0.66%
8,597

1,010,050
14,572
1.4%
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1,010,050
14,572
1.4%

8,400

1,010,050
0

43,715
0
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 2.2.4: POLICY AND PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Duncan Brown, Policy & Planning Committee Chair
PURPOSE
To advise the Board of the Policy and Planning Committee meeting held on June 5, 2019.
DISCUSSION
The Board’s Policy and Planning Committee met on June 5, 2019. The members of the Committee are:
Duncan Brown (Chair), Carleen Thomas, Emily Gaudette, Michael Fleming, and Mila Mattson.
The Committee reviewed and discussed the following:
Policy Priorities and Policy Review Extensions
The Committee agreed that the following priorities would be prioritized for review:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

B.104 - Rationale: Universities Canada and new degree/program development
B.106 - Rationale: Universities Canada and new degree/program development
Memo 26 - Rationale: First Nations policy
B.401 - Rationale: Legislative requirement
B.701 - Rationale: to address the new smoking policy and legalization of cannabis
B.701 Student Standards and Conduct,
B.506 Employees Standards and Conduct,
B.601 Copyright, and
New research policies.

Terms of Reference Review
A motion was carried to recommend changes to section 3, Duties and Responsibilities, subsection (a), of
the Terms of Reference to: “Review an annual report on the status of the review of the Board policies to
ensure that they remain current, relevant and effective, to address any difficulties with implementation
or compliance, and to identify policies to be prioritized for development or review.”
The Committee agreed that they should meet more than once per Capilano University academic year,
September to June, such as once per major term and where one of those meetings is held in May, in line
with the annual review of the Terms of Reference.
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The Committee also discussed updating the Timetable to align with section 3, Duties and Responsibilities
and to include annual planning.
Meeting Schedule for Sept 2019 to June 2020
The Committee agreed to develop a final calendar and work plan by September 2019.
Student Preclusion of Appeals Tribunal Letter Update
Committee members reviewed the letter which explains that it is necessary for the University to retain
discretion to exclude students from the appeals tribunal process where the sensitivity, confidentiality or
timeliness of the student appeal warrants.
RECOMMENDATION
This report is for the Board’s information only.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 2.3: CORRESPONDENCE
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Soon Kim, Board Chair
PURPOSE
The Board of Governors received three letters. The first letter is from Brent Calvert, President of the
Capilano University Faculty Association, and Christy Slusarenko, Vice President of MoveUP. The letter
requests a meeting to discuss the transition to the next Board Chair, whose term will start July 31, 2019.
SA meeting will be held on June 20, 2019.
The second and third letters are from the Capilano Students’ Union (CSU) regarding notice of the
student society fees that are to be collected by Capilano University and remitted to the CSU. The letter
outlines the fees per campus location, including off-campus, online, and other various fees.
RECOMMENDATION
This report is for the Board’s information only.
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PRESIDENT’S REPORT TO THE BOARD
June 18, 2019

PRESIDENT’S OFFICE
»

On March 20, the president hosted an employee-focused event to start a
dialogue around diversity and inclusion of CapU’s LGBTQ2+ community. The
goal of this gathering was to hear from our community and engage in some
meaningful dialogue around the issues and opportunities our employees face.

»

On May 21, a second event was held for CapU’s LGBTQ2+ community and allies. Feedback gathered from the March
20 event was presented and several themes were identified to create a meaningful culture shift towards a safer and
more inclusive environment for our employees. Paul Dangerfield announced that CapU is partnering with Pride at Pier,
Vancouver Pride Society’s premier North Shore Pride event on July 30, and that we have signed on to partner with
the Canadian Centre for Diversity and Inclusion.

»

On May 6-7, the president attended the CiCAN 2019 Conference in Niagara Falls. On May 8, he connected with
alumni Daniel Dubois in Toronto and also met with Carmen Spencer and Will Matthews of G Adventures. On May 9,
he travelled to Ottawa and met with Philip Landon, vice-president of Governance and Programs at Universities
Canada and also met with Larissa Bezo, president and CEO of the Canadian Bureau of International Education (CBIE.)

»

On May 16, Paul Dangerfield and Toran Savjord hosted a lunch with local mayors to discuss Envisioning 2030 at
Capilano University. Mayor Mary Ann Booth, Mayor Karen Elliott, Mayor Linda Buchanan and Mayor Bill Beamish all
shared their thoughts about how CapU can better serve our communities in the short and long term.

»

On June 3 and 4, our 50th anniversary celebrations concluded with outstanding Convocation ceremonies. Singersongwriter Sarah McLachlan was presented with a Doctor of Fine Arts, honoris causa, and performed two songs for
the audience in addition to her address. Entrepreneur, author and G Adventures travel company founder Bruce Poon
Tip was presented with a Doctor of Laws, honoris causa. Also, retired CapU instructor Pierre Coupey was CapU’s
Faculty Emeritus recipient.
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»

Planning is currently underway for the third annual Chief and Council luncheon which will be held at Capilano
University on June 18, 2019. Invitations have been sent to the Chiefs and Councillors of the Squamish Nation, TsleilWaututh Nation, shíshálh Nation, and Lil’wat Nation as well as our local MLA, Board members and CapU
representatives including Indigenous employees.

ACADEMIC & PROVOST
Over the past two months, there have been significant activities continuing with regards to program development,
program review, Envisioning 2030 planning sessions, and regional meetings and engagements with individuals, local
municipal government, and economic development organizations, on the Sunshine Coast and in Squamish. In keeping with
a strong focus on experiential learning and community connections, the enabling agreement is now in place for CityStudio
with the City of North Vancouver, and we have active involvement with the Industry Innovation Project with the District
of Squamish that involves multiple partners.
Additional academic initiatives and activities include:
»

Launched an internal funding call for university-community partner knowledge mobilization of research, scholarly
work or creative activity.

»

Two undergraduate research assistants were employed to work with Faculty Project Leads, Academic Initiatives to
explore options and opportunities to strengthen infrastructure, support and profiling of undergraduate research as
well as continuing to populate an inventory of scholarship and research at the university.

»

The inaugural Director, Creative Activity, Research and Scholarship Office joins the university August 1, 2019.

»

A small allocation of funds have been received from the Research Support Funds that will be allocated to tools,
capacity development, and other direct resources for faculty research and scholarly work.

»

One time funding from the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training will afford additional opportunities to
mobilize tools and resources on universal design for learning (an open resource where possible), and two other small
projects to assist faculty to better support students with disabilities in programs where there is high employment
demand.
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»

Review commenced of all Senate policy and procedures for gender-inclusive language and updating to align with
inclusive language, taking up one of the recommendations from the Gender Diversity Audit.

»

Celebrated the Teaching Excellence Award recipients at the first day of the university’s Teaching and Learning
Symposium:
•

Reg Johanson, MA (English, Faculty of Arts and Sciences)

•

Kymberly Stewart, PhD (Communications, Faculty of Business and Professional Studies)

•

Annabella Cant, PhD (ECCE, Faculty of Education Health and Human Development)

•

Seanna McPherson, MA (MOPA, Faculty of Fine and Applied Arts)

•

Bruce Wilson, MA (Tourism and Outdoor Recreation, Faculty of Global and Community Studies)

»

Refinement of academic courses and programs for Lonsdale’s Fall opening.

»

Commencement of a dual-credit project (courses that students from high-school can enrol in and gain credit towards
their Grade 12 completion and university credit) with our four regional school districts.

FACULTY OF ARTS & SCIENCES
»

Summer classes: International registrations this summer were approximately 400 students above that of last summer.
In response, offerings were increased to approximately 90 Arts and Sciences courses over summer. In the end, no
student was left without at least 1 course. This informs our planning for Fall 2019. There is currently a robust process
underway with the Dean, CIE, RO and Faculty Chairs to determine the extent to which we will grow to accommodate.

»

Reserve seating pilot project: The VPA and Dean of A&S have collaborated with the RO to launch a reserve seating
pilot for this summer. This will allow us to reserve a specified number of seats in each section/course for domestic
students. This will reduce or eliminate domestic students being left without seats in courses, will allow us to better
diversify our classes, and opens opportunities to reserve for sub-groups at a later stage (e.g. Dual Credit students,
Indigenous seats, etc.).

»

Dual Credit: We are undertaking a multi-Dean approach to building Dual Credit opportunities. Under the coordination
of consultant Debbie Sargent, each Dean will be meeting with one of the Sea to Sky school districts over the next few
weeks, including North Van, West Van, Squamish/Mt Currie and Sechelt. The Dean of A&S is connected to the
Squamish visit and will use the opportunity to also further explore opportunities for A&S programming in Squamish.

»

Two majors to the BOG: A sigh of relief for faculty who invested heavily in the development of the 2 degree packages
coming before the BOG. BA in Psychology and B.Sc. General. Additional efforts to promote these with the Ministry
may be important as these are core to our growth and progress as a university.

MT.CURRIE
»

Ts’zil Learning Centre: The University has provided a grant in the amount of $300,000 to the Lil’wat Nation in support
of enhanced learning spaces and student experience that is being used for the purchase of furniture and equipment in
support of students and faculty at the new Ts’zil Learning Centre.

»

Affiliation agreement: An affiliation agreement between the university and the Lil’wat Nation outlining shared
commitments to post-secondary education and Indigenous student success in Mt. Currie is in the final stages of
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approval. An official signing ceremony is planned for the end of August in concert with a grand ‘reopening’ event of
the Ts’zil Learning Centre.
KÁLAX-AY / SUNSHINE COAST CAMPUS
»

Envisioning 2030: On May 27, 30 members of the community and several staff and faculty members came together
for the kálax-ay Sunshine Coast campus’ Envisioning 2030 event.

FACULTY OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL STUDIES
»

Citation in Contract Law: The Citation in Contract Law (approved by the Board December 2018) and offered by
contract to BC Hydro has completed the first of its three courses (double-streamed online and in person). The second
course begins in September.

»

Appointment: Lori Walker commences a two-year term as Co-Chair, Communication and Media Articulation
Committee (CMAC).

»

Communications faculty and students visited Seycove Secondary School to give a preparatory Public Speaking
Workshop for their grade 10, 11, and 12 students and participated as panelists in student presentations of Self - Exit
Interviews for the graduating class of 2019.

FACULTY OF EDUCATION, HEALTH & HUMAN DEVELOPMENT
»

Dana Lee and Maira Ramirez-Leno, two Educators in the Capilano University Children’s Centre, recently presented
papers at a graduating seminar event reflecting their involvement in a project funded by the Social Sciences and
Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC) on food waste and alternative pedagogies for children. The funding
has been granted to faculty members in the Early Childhood Care and Education department for their collaborative
research with colleagues at other Canadian universities.

»

Early Childhood Care and Education (ECCE) alumna, Saaiqa Bhanji, was honoured recently by the opportunity to speak
on the importance of early childhood education at a funding announcement hosted by BC Minister of State for Child
Care, the Honourable Katrina Chen.

»

In early May, ECCE faculty member, Bo Sun Kim, delivered a virtual presentation to a national audience of more than
150 people, including postsecondary educators from major research universities and provincial government
representatives. The presentation was part of an ongoing and collaborative effort to fundamentally reconceptualize
early childhood education in Canada and internationally.

»

Don Bentley, Chair of the School of Access and Academic Preparation, has been awarded funding for 2019-20
through BC Campus and the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training to work in collaboration with two
other postsecondary educators on the development of open educational resources (OER) for computer studies
courses in Adult Basic Education.

»

The University has received $100,000 for 2019-20 from the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training to
provide additional student and work placement supports for Adult Special Education. The Access Work Experience
department will use this funding to update and offer a one-time intake of the Discover Employability program, a
cohort-based program that provides career coaching, employability training, and work placement opportunities to
students with cognitive and developmental disabilities.
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FIRST NATIONS STUDENT SERVICES (FNSS)

»

Under the leadership of Indigenous Student Success Facilitator, Cailin Lau, the FNSS is developing a new Indigenous
student orientation program designed to welcome new students to campus, familiarize them with critical services and
supports, and provide culturally-appropriate guidance on academic and personal success at university. The program
will run for the first time in the fall of 2019.

»

Indigenous Faculty Advisor, David Kirk, has recently been notified that he will be receiving the Chief Joe Mathias
Education Excellence Award from Native Education College (NEC). The award recognizes NEC graduates who have
continued to pursue further post-secondary education.

FACULTY OF GLOBAL & COMMUNITY STUDIES
»

Stage 2 of the proposal for the new Bachelor’s degree in Human Kinetics has been approved by the Capilano
University Senate Curriculum Committee (SCC). Stage 1 of the proposal is progressing through the approval process
with the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training.

»

Development of a new Master’s degree in Public Administration (with a focus on municipal governance) is progressing.
The development of 500-level courses is at the planning stage. Program development has been conducted in
consultation with mentors from the public administration program at the University of Victoria.

»

The Post-Baccalaureate diploma in Resort and Hotel Management doubled its intake for the Summer I term (JuneJuly) and has welcomed 75 new students into the program this year.

»

Ten new or updated articulation agreements facilitating entry into the third year of the Bachelor of Tourism
Management program are in the final stages of completion and approval.

»

Christy Dodds, Co-operative Education Coordinator, recently co-authored and published an article in the International
Journal of Work-Integrated Learning entitled Ethical risks in work-integrated learning: A study of Canadian

practitioners. Christy will present this work in August at the Advancing Cooperative & Work-Integrated Education
(WACE) conference in Ohio.
»

Stephanie Wells, Co-Chair of the Schools of Tourism Management and Outdoor Recreation Management, has been
elected as the Chair of the Human Capital Development Committee of the Pacific Asia Travel Association (PATA).
This is a two-year term position responsible for facilitating collaboration and dialogue among international educators
and trainers in the tourism and hospitality field.

»

The School of Tourism is offering a new course (elective) in the Spring of 2020 called Building Cultural Connections
Through Gastronomy Tourism.

FACULTY OF FINE & APPLIED ARTS
All schools in Fine and Applied Arts held grad shows throughout April with exceptionally strong turnouts.
»

IDEA 2016 alumni Cristian Fowlie (who created the CapU mural on the side of Birch, facing the short term parking lot)
is featured in current issue of Communication Arts, the Illustration Annual. His illustration for the band Hey Ocean!’s
hometown concert at the Vogue Theatre was featured in the “Advertising” section.
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»

Doreen Manuel, Director of the Bosa Centre, received a nomination for the 2019 YWCA Women of Distinction
Awards, in the category of Education, Training & Development.

»

Kama Sood met with the mayor of the City of North Vancouver, Linda Buchanan, on March 21. Kama has been invited
to meet the North Van Dementia Awareness Committee to discuss how “The Bus Stop” could be used to help spread
the word of dementia awareness in the North Van community. This came about after the mayor saw The Bus Stop, an
Off-the-Grid film, at the North Van Arts Council screenings at Park and Tilford.

»

The Vancouver Opera Festival selected student Malibu Taetz’s short animated film, Sinfonia, to screen during their
pre-show and intermission for the Cenerentola production, part of their ‘Fairy Tales and Fables’ series, April 27 to May
5 at the Queen Elizabeth Theatre lobby.

»

Res-urgency, by Desiree Wallace, Documentary Film Program alumni, played at the Langley Film Festival, on April 12.
Desiree also won Best Emerging Director at the Yorkton Film Festival, which showcases Canadian Films on May 25.
The documentary started while Desiree was attending CapU, and then completed with support from the NFB and the
Off the Grid Program.

»

The Union of British Columbia Performers (UBCP/ACTRA) honoured faculty, P.Lynn Johnson with this year’s Sam
Payne Lifetime Achievement Award, May 2. P.Lynn, and her fellow nominee Danny Virtue, were recognized by the
award for an outstanding body of work in the performing arts industry.

»

Second year MOPA students, Evan Friesen, won the Golden Sheaf Award for ‘Once More, From the Top!’ as Best
Student Film at the Yorkton Film Festival on May 25. He was one of five nominees chosen from all the submitted
shorts from around the world.

»

»

Best Student Film Nominations at the Leo Awards (held on May 25/26):
•

"Once More, From the Top" - Evan Friesen (director), Madison Friesen (producer) (MOPA year 1)

•

"Der Jude" - Spencer Zimmerman (writer director producer) (MOPA year 1)

•

"The Bus Stop" - Kama Sood (writer director), Aidan Kyle (producer) (MOPA year 3)

A few of our CapU alumni were in New York for the screening of the MOPA 4th year film “The Pain Within Us,”
written and directed by Dylan Murray, which was accepted into two categories in two New York film festivals: the
“New Filmmakers New York Film Festival" and the "AltFest New York Film Festival."

»

Members of the Indigenous Independent Digital Filmmaking Diploma program documented the theatre production
“Beneath the Surface” at SFU Downtown on April 12 & 13. This production, produced by the imagi'NATION
Collective and written by Jenifer Brousseau, is a powerful stage play on teen suicide. She had asked for support from
IDF and MOPA to document the play so it can be shared on screens, as this will be a more accessible outreach tool to
First Nations communities that are more remote.

»

Adam Sale and Don Perro (faculty) were invited to Jamaica by the Jamaican Prime Minister’s Office to present
masterclasses at the Kingston Animation Conference and Afro-Descendant Film Festival in Kingston, Jamaica, April 57. The festival took place at the University of Technology, where Don and Adam (and 3D Animation coordinator,
Craig Simmons) volunteer on the animation program’s advisory board. Capilano U sponsored a prize for one festival
winner: Danielle Parchment will be coming to Capilano University this summer to take the Animation Fundamentals
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certificate program during July and August.
»

Brahms' Requiem was performed at the Blueshore, April 13 and 14. Capilano University Festival Chorus, Capilano
University Singers, Soloists and Vancouver Philharmonic Orchestra, with CapU Instructor, Lars Kaario, conductor.

»

Gord Grdina, a Bachelor of Music in Jazz Studies alumni, won a Juno award for Instrumental Album of the Year.

»

Second year Jazz trumpet student, Julian Borkowski, has been selected as the first Fort Langley Jazz & Arts Rising
Young Star Award. The inaugural award recognizes an outstanding student from the lower mainland who
demonstrates a high level of performance ability and will be pursuing a professional career in jazz music.

»

On March 29, there was a sold out concert with Trombonist Wycliffe Gordon, which featured three of our large
ensembles: NiteCap, A Band, and the Trombone Ensemble.

»

Cardi Wong has been nominated for a Leo Award, Best Supporting Performance by a Male in a Television Movie,
“Road to Christmas”.

LIBRARY
»

Canadian Research Knowledge Network: The Library is pleased to have become the first Associate Member to the
Canadian Research Knowledge Network (CRNK), “a partnership of Canadian universities dedicated to expanding
digital content for the academic research and teaching enterprise in Canada.” By becoming an Associate Member,
Capilano University will have the opportunity to take part in CRKN’s commercial content licensing program to enrich
scholarship and resources for students, faculty, and researchers. In addition, we will be able to participate in
knowledge sharing and other CRKN projects and initiatives to expand research capacity on campus.

»

Extended hours: New Library initiatives have had an immediate and positive impact on our ability to provide extended
service to students and faculty with extended hours during the Summer Semester 1. For the period of May 6 through
June 21, the new open hours are 8 a.m. to 7 p.m., Monday through Friday.

»

Additional librarian faculty have been hired that afford opportunities for more of a focus to our indigenization efforts
for the Library with the Indigenous Student Services Librarian being full time and to support the new CARS (creative
activity, research and scholarship) activities at the University, the Library is now able to dedicate a librarian in support
of those initiatives. Both positions will also contribute to supporting faculty and student academic needs through
information literacy teaching and improved program liaison.

CENTRE FOR TEACHING EXCELLENCE (CTE)
»

The 2019 Teaching and Learning Symposium was a success with over 30 sessions, 50 presenters, five days of
programming and 182 attendees.

»

Eleven faculty completed CapU’s first Course (Re)Design workshop over a 3 day period in May.

FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION
April to June in finance and administration has a dual focus with the end of one fiscal year and the start of the next one.
At the close of the previous fiscal year, the reporting deadlines need to be met, the auditors begin their field work and the
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financial statements are finalized. At the same time, the annual operating and capital budgets are finalized for presentation
to the Board of Governors. A schedule for monitoring and reporting on the current year results has been established to
ensure that the University is on track to achieving the planning assumptions.
FACILITIES SERVICES AND CAMPUS PLANNING
»

CapU Lonsdale: Construction is underway on the leased space at the
Shipyards Building on Lower Lonsdale. The vendor was chosen following a
Request for Proposals posted on BC Bid. The additional space enhances
student success services, provides more flexible hours for executive
education offerings and increases CapU’s visibility in a central location in the
North Shore.

»

Centre for Student Success Phase 2: Building upon the success of Phase 1
(The Learning Commons), designs for the Centre for Student Success Phase 2 are underway. The project aims to
consolidate student facing services in the Library Building to provide a central location for students to get the support
they need to be successful at CapU.

»

Repairs and enhancements: A number of projects have been completed including the repair of the heating pipe in
Dogwood, replacement of exhaust fans in Birch, Library, Maple, improvements in the interior (painting and bulletin
boards) and exterior (new fence, new west entrance and playground wood chips) in the Children’s Centre, and
refinishing of the gymnasium floor in the Center for Sports & Wellness.

»

Campus Energy and Emissions Plan: Phase I of several studies has been completed to support development of a
Campus Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) as outlined in the Campus Master Plan. The CEEP is supported by $80,000
in matching funding from BC Hydro as part of the Energy Manager Program and is expected to be completed in 2020.
Completed phase I sub-studies include:
1.
2.
3.

Identifying viable Electricity Supply Alternatives exploring distribution and transmission supply to accommodate
North Vancouver campus growth,
Electrifying the Centre for Sport and Wellness and Cedar buildings as a method of cooling and de-carbonizing the
campus,
District Energy feasibility for heating and cooling all campus buildings, as a method of heating, cooling and decarbonizing all campus buildings.

The results of these studies have been reviewed and show that based solely on currently expected growth, new
electricity supply will be needed for the campus, building electrification alone falls short of achieving Provincial 80%
GHG reduction targets, and campus sub-surface linear asset planning and development integration with new
construction is essential to minimizing costs and disruption to the campus.
»

Review of campus buildings and mapping of all utilities: A full review of campus buildings and mapping of all utilities
underground across the North Vancouver campus was completed. This information will support development of an
Asset Management framework that will support planning for deferred maintenance of buildings and linear
infrastructure for the short term (3-5 years) and longer planning horizons.

»

Summer scholars: With the support of $10,500 from BC Hydro, two UBC scholars were assigned to CapU to complete
summer projects regarding electric vehicles and building envelop research to meet emerging STEP CODE
requirements.
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»

CapUWorks: Our flagship CapUWorks program, which runs events on an annual basis, is set to employ six students in
September and two this summer.

»

Community Garden: The Community Garden has reached end of life and approximately 60 gardeners have begun
using the existing planters for the last time. Research was completed and a pilot has begun for a food safe plastic
technology to replace the wooden boxes.

HUMAN RESOURCES
»

CapULead: 134 registrations in the Spring 2019 term (59 staff, 42 admin, 17 faculty and 16 exempt).

»

Performance and Development Program: Relaunched based on feedback from administrators and employees.

»

Chairs & Coordinators Training: The faculty HR advisors hosted 6 chair and coordinator training sessions covering
regularization and workloads, reductions, vacation and PD scheduling, and leaves and human rights. A new
coordinator orientation will be hosted on May 30, 2019 which will provide an overview of the Main Coordinator
Processes.

»

Training for New Software for Faculty Hires: Training helped guide users of new software implemented for Faculty
employee hiring. All Chairs, Coordinators, Convenors, Deans, Assistant to the Deans, and faculty who are involved in
the Search Hire process were encouraged to attend.

»

New Coordinator Orientation: Joint training hosted by Human Resources and the CFA provided an overview of key HR
processes that occur during the academic year. The training session was designed to be informative and practical, with
resource materials faculty will be able to use in navigating the processes. Positions involved in faculty HR processes,
such as Area Stewards, Divisional Supervisors/Departmental Divisional Assistants were encouraged to attend.

»

Diversity: The University formed the Employee Diversity Committee to address LGBTQ2+
support and inclusion on campus. CapU has become a member of the Canadian Centre for
Diversity and Inclusion (CCDI) which provides employees with access to diversity and
inclusion resources and learning opportunities (in-person and online).

»

Partnership with Vancouver Pride Society: CapU is proud to collaborate this year with the
Vancouver Pride Society to be a sponsoring partner of Pride at the Pier, North Vancouver’s
premiere pride event. The event takes place at the shipyards by Lonsdale Quay on July 30, 2019.

»

Wellness Committee: The Committee was involved in a range of activities or initiatives from the Experience Well
Being Week, the Global Challenge (a worldwide physical well-being campaign), and MEC Trail running clinic, Love Your
Heart – step tracking challenge, Team entry in the Vancouver Sun Run, Financial health lunch and learns, Employee
Scavenger Hunt and BBQ, Weekly Wellness Walk, to the Weekly Therapeutic Yoga (lead by faculty member,
Maggie Reagh).

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES
Work continues on three identified priorities in the Office of the CIO.
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»

Develop a refreshed IT governance structure: A draft structure has been prepared, and consultation with the CapU
community will begin this month. The intention is to have the new structure in place for the start of the 2019/20
academic year.

»

Develop and implement a cyber-security strategy: In April 2019 an external consultant was engaged to conduct a
Cyber Security Maturity Assessment. This report, based on the Center for Internet Security (CIS) critical security
controls, outlines recommendations following an evaluation of the existing and planned security controls,
documentation and security policies. A fulsome update was provided to the Finance and Audit Committee on May 16,
2019.

»

Develop and implement a three year integrated technology plan: Consultation is expected to begin in September, and
will inform budget development in 2020/21. This plan will cover the three-year period of April 2020–April 2022.

POLICY, PRIVACY AND GOVERNANCE
»

Smoking and Vaping Policy: The final draft of the Smoking and Vaping Policy will be presented this month to the
Senior Leadership Council for approval and takes into consideration feedback that was received from the Capilano
University community. Effective August 15, 2019, smoking and vaping at CapU campuses and facilities will only be
permitted in designated smoking areas. As part of the change management process, FAQs will be posted prior to
August 15, 2019 and provide detailed information regarding implementation and enforcement of the policy. The FAQs
also address comments and concerns raised by the University community in the survey and public forum held in
March.

STUDENT HOUSING SERVICES
»

2019-20 wait list: The demand for CapU Residence for the 2019/20 academic year has been significantly higher than
in previous years, and the wait list will open June 1, 2019 (2.5 months earlier than in 2018). 368 residence applications
have been received as of June 1, 2019, a 41% increase over 2018. With only 281 spaces available for students, we
expect that between 75 and 100 students will need to be waitlisted immediately, with more being added throughout
the summer. Student Housing Services will be working with the Capilano Students’ Union and the Centre for
International Experience and external partners to assist waitlisted students in finding alternative housing options prior
to the Fall term.

»

Summer 2019 operations: There are currently about 40 students living in CapU Residence from May to August 2019.
Though scaled down for efficiencies, operations for these residents remain the same as during the academic year with
dining services, custodial, and security supports all being offered. We are also offering additional programming for
these students to ensure that this smaller community remains engaged and supportive. Additional groups including
international tours, summer camps, conferences, and sports teams will be staying in CapU Residence throughout the
summer. Revenue from these groups contributes to our ability to offer the full program for summer students as
described above.
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STRATEGIC PLANNING, ASSESSMENT AND INSTITUTIONAL EFFECTIVENESS
CONTINUING STUDIES & EXECUTIVE EDUCATION
»

Summer camps: This year, CSEE will offer 31 camps over 1.5 months in topics ranging from “Space Camp” to “Fun with
Photography” to “Digital Media & Innovation Bootcamp.” CSEE is currently recruiting volunteers to ensure that every
camper has an outstanding experience.

»

CSEE open-enrollment courses: Wrapping up for the Spring term and customized programs are ramping up for the
summer season. This includes ESL programming for visiting groups and digital marketing training for international
students.

»

Recruitment: As a result of the change in leadership of the unit, several positions were left vacant and the focus of the
past month has been to recruit to these positions. Two staff positions were filled with one remaining to be hired. In
addition, CSEE is currently engaged in a search for a Program Developer to oversee the development of new
programs, review existing ones, mentor instructors, and work on business development.

CENTRE FOR INTERNATIONAL EXPERIENCE
»

International students: On May 2, CapU welcomed 400 new international students to summer orientation. Overall, this
was a record setting semester for international enrolment. Due to enhanced efficiencies in our sub-continent office
and CIE operations we have achieved far higher conversion rates for applications which has resulted in us applying
management tools to reduce overall applications for the Fall and achieve greater diversity in our applications globally.

»

Pre-departure sessions: CIE continues to develop programming to achieve higher levels of success in the classroom for
international students. Next month, the Director, International, will be returning to India to conduct pre-departure
training with incoming students. We are now making these pre-departure sessions mandatory as they have a strong
impact on the student’s preparedness for study. The content features workshops on life skills planning, program
planning and cultural adaptation. This leading practice activity is being emulated by several other institutions. Most
students that participate in pre-departure training have completed registration, found accommodation, are aware of
the need to engage in studies immediately, are aware of the need to place priority on studies and feel more at ease
upon arrival in a new and foreign learning environment.

»

Internationalization plan: The first draft of the internationalization plan is now complete and an advisory group
consisting of faculty and staff members active in international activities and programs is reviewing and providing
guidance to a refined plan. The plan captures all the needs, initiatives, and aspirations of the institution in global
education. It consists of five core strategies: diversifying and sustaining our international student population, ensuring
international student success, increasing global engagement across the institution, building a global brand for quality
and innovation, and securing effective procedures for international education. The plan features a range of specific
activities in support of each of the strategies and related goals and measures. Specifically, we are in the process of
designing our first international recruitment strategy which features strategies, activities, goals, and measures and is
designed specifically to help build markets and diversify our international student population on campus.

»

British Columbia Council for International Education (BCCIE): At the June BCCIE Summer Conference, two CapU
graduates will be featured speakers to the delegation on their international experience at CapU. Additionally,
President Dangerfield has been invited as a keynote speaker at the BCCIE/SEAMEO RETRAC (South East Asia
Ministers of Education Organization) conference on July 4-5. The conference brings educators from around South
East Asia to learn about leadership skills and educational innovation. Chris Bottrill will also be running a leadership and
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entrepreneurship workshop preceding the conference and delivering a plenary session on 21st century learning and
innovation. Vietnam is a key strategic recruitment and partnership country in South East Asia and participation in this
conference and related partnership activities will continue to raise CapU’s profile in the country and region.
DIVISION OF STUDENT SUCCESS
»

New Director of Student Affairs and Services: Our new Director of Student Affairs and Services was welcomed in May.
Daniel Levangie will oversee Student Affairs, Learning Success, Accessibility Services and Counselling Services.

»

Centre for Student Success Phase 2: The planning of Phase 2 for the Centre for Student Success was launched in May.
Phase 2 will include the Career Development Centre, Academic Advising, Registrar’s Office, Cashier’s Office, Learning
Success, Peer’s Helping Peers Centre and CapCard. Discussions about design needs are now being held by the
architecture firm with key stakeholders.

ATHLETICS & RECREATION

»

Capilano University Blues varsity teams were very successful in 2018-19. The Blues program finished 2nd in
PACWEST Aggregate Points for the top athletic program in the conference. This was our best finish since 2011-12.
•

Five teams earned conference medals and for the first time 5 out of 6 teams were nationally ranked this season.

•

Men’s volleyball athlete, Simon Friesen won the 2019 Sport BC Collegiate Player of the Year.

•

3.00 overall GPA across all teams in Spring 2019 was the highest since 2011 (GPA records go back to 2011)

•

63% of student-athletes with a GPA of 3.0 or better in Spring 2019 and 59% for 2018/19 overall.

•

19 student-athletes were named in the Dean’s List for Fall 2018.

•

27 CCAA National Scholars (most ever recorded.)

CAREER DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

»

Service outcomes: The Career Development Centre (CDC) aimed to meet four service outcomes in the integrated
planning process covering Fall 2018 to Spring 2019.

»

Visibility: Fall 2018 saw 374 students have one-on-one appointments with a career development advisor. Of these
students, 63 completed the post-appointment survey. 100% of the respondents indicated that they were provided
with the information they needed. In Spring 2019, student appointments increased to 479 and 99.3% of the
respondents in the post-appointment survey indicated they were successfully helped with their needs. Our outreach
activities to build visibility included tabling by our student Career Ambassadors in the Birch cafeteria; visiting 20
classes to introduce students to the CDC and promoting the Jobs for U! Hiring Fair; participating in the Community
Engagement Drop-In Orientation Session, Explore CapU Info Night, Grad Fair 2019, and Experience Well-Being Week
reaching a total of 572 students.

»

Student engagement: During the 2018/2019 academic year, the CDC launched the career management system, Orbis,
re-named Career Hub. This platform allows students to access resources, book appointments, view job postings and
register for events all in one convenient system. The CDC delivered 39 workshops with a total of 1390 participants
ranging from topics related to career exploration, job search skills to workplace etiquette as well as 55 classroom
sessions in the Faculty of Business and Professional Studies, Faculty of Global and Community Studies and Faculty of
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Education, Health & Human Development classes. 98.25% of our workshop respondents either strongly agreed or
agreed that the material presented in our workshops was useful. The CDC also participated in the national It All Adds
Up Campaign to raise student awareness of the various skills they have already developed through the multitude of
activities and courses they have or are currently engaged in.
»

Collaboration and partnership: We delivered workshops for the CSU student association, Capilano University
Marketing Association (CAPUMA) and teamed up with the ePortfolio community to offer Bring Your Own Portfolio
(BYOP) workshops. We organized the 11th annual networking event, Creating Connections, on behalf of the Faculty
of Business and Professional Studies and opened up the event to include the School of Legal Studies and the School of
Communication. The Pipe Shop created a warm and welcoming environment for 172 students, 36 employer partners,
34 alumni and 32 members of the CapU community. We offered presentations at the Education & Career Fair at the
Surrey Kwantlen Campus and the Vancouver Convention Centre to high school students and offered a Dining
Etiquette event with a professional consultant at the Holiday Inn collaborating with Christy Dodds. All 15 of our
students who attended received a certificate of completion.

»

Employer connections: Three alumni who graduated from the IDEA, BBA and Communications program returned as
panelists for our CapU to Career (C2C) panel event in Fall 2018. The alumni provided students advice they wish they
had, lessons they’ve learned post-graduation and imparted the wisdom they’ve gained in their career journey. 14
representatives participated in our invite only Industry Day event from ICBC, CIBC, Sherwin-Williams, Dexterra, and
Cactus Club. Students learned more about these organizations and asked questions about careers and received
general career advice. Spring 2019 included the Jobs for U! Hiring Fair, Industry Panel and Hootsuite Company Tour.
196 students attended and we were at maximum capacity for employer booths (32) with several organizations on the
waitlist. The District of North Vancouver, CIBC, ICBC and Sherwin Williams participated in our Industry Panel. We
secured a company tour to Hootsuite after reaching out to a School of Business alumnus, Nick Martin.

COUNSELLING

»

Systems upgrade: Counselling Services is partnering with IT Services to support a major systems upgrade (in
conjunction with Accessibility). The new software will augment scheduling and record keeping systems, allowing
counselling to increase student access to scheduling and appointments, to increase capacity for tracking appointments
and usage, and to provide greater capacity for secure record keeping and appropriate access for Counselling and
Accessibility faculty members and staff.

»

Review of programming: During the systems upgrade, Counselling will undergo an external review of programming.
The aims of the review are to: analyze optimal service levels for students, assess best practices as related to our
institutional circumstance and upgrade systems and approaches as necessary.

LEARNING SERVICES

»

USS 100 Introduction to University Success Strategies: The course had been fully subscribed for both the Spring and
Summer semesters with multiple full sections. The majority of students in Summer sections are new to CapU and
mostly new international students. In April, Counselling faculty members voted unanimously to move the course out
of Counselling. As a result, USS 100 is now administered by Student Success and awaiting placement in a faculty or
school for curricular and teaching purposes.

»

Learning Success: Learning Success is piloting drop-in sessions in the Learning Commons with the aim of creating low
barrier learning opportunities. The main focus for upcoming initiatives will be incorporating the ‘growth mindset’
approach to student success materials and workshops.
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OFFICE OF INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH

»

KPI dashboard: Rolled out key performance indicator dashboard to SLC and their teams with a focus on enrolment,
application, high school transitions, return rates and course outcomes.

»

Data jam: Piloted first data jam to increase decision maker capacity, and continued deployment of departmental data
jams to facilitate the roll-out of CapU Analytics.

»

Dashboard analytics: Developed and deployed dashboard analytics for external survey, internal student success survey
and university planning survey.

STUDENT AFFAIRS

»

Community Well-Being: The team was invited to present at Moving Forward Together: Building Capacity to Prevent
and Respond to Sexual Violence on Campus, a provincial conference hosted at KPU. In April, Jody Armstrong
represented CapU at the Western Canadian Sexual Violence Prevention and Response Community of Practice
Forum in Victoria. In conjunction with the CSU, Well-Being also facilitated nine sessions to collect information about
students’ mental health as part of a larger project funded by the Mental Health Commission of Canada. May has also
seen the launch of the Well-Being Ambassador Program that will be piloted in fall 2019. This program is built on the
$40,000 grant received from the Ministry of Advanced Ed to support mental health and well-being.

»

Orientations and transitions: After an overhaul and redevelopment, orientation is now a two-week, comprehensive
launch for roughly 2,000 new CapU students (over 1,300 students (65.75%) chose to engage in orientation programs).
Programming includes Smart Start academic success programming, online orientation, the Start Right Here main
launch and other events throughout the first two weeks of classes. January intake students also received transition
support in the first week of classes of the Spring semester. This year we piloted the peer mentor program, pairing
1,600 eligible first-year students with 30 mentors. The orientation team has also increased its outreach by assuming
leadership of the JumpStart pre-orientation programming held in June. This year 2-3 events will be held prior to
registration for up to 400 incoming students and their parents.

»

Student Engagement and Leadership: Major highlights include the establishment of the Co-Curricular Record, allowing
students to track non-academic achievements and involvement. The next step related to the CCR is to pilot a nonacademic badging program. Our newly established Student Life Hub within the Learning Commons has created an
engagement opportunity where roughly 900 students have come to the Hub to learn more about connecting with oncampus engagement opportunities. A further highlight has been the development of the Peers Helping Peers program,
encompassing 16 teams of peer leaders who receive unified foundational training. Additionally, our recently created
CapULeads finished its first cohort of eight students who went through a series of workshops to learn about the
Student Leadership Challenge in relation to their own behaviours.

»

Student Rights and Responsibilities: We are pleased to announce the hiring of our new Rights and Responsibilities
Advisor, Ashley Bentley. Ashley brings a strong background in sexual violence prevention and education, student
advocacy, conduct and support. This background meshes well with the renewed focus this unit is taking towards
educational outreach, pre-emotive support and ongoing faculty collaboration. This approach differs in philosophy from
traditional conduct-focused and punitive measures, employing best practice approaches to community planning and
educational support.

»

Positive Space: Staff across student affairs have launched CapU’s Positive Space program, engaging students and
employees in workshops and education related to gender and sexual diversity. Since January, more than 70
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community members have participated in 8 workshops including the Senior Leadership Council. More workshops are
planned for the upcoming semesters.

UNIVERSITY RELATIONS
The portfolio formerly known as advancement has now transitioned to the name “university relations.” The renaming is
more inclusive of all the services which make up the portfolio (university relations, communications & marketing,
development & alumni relations and university events) and can expand to encapsulate government relations and
community engagement. As a portfolio, university relations (and the people formerly known as “advancement”) will
continue to engage in work that raises profile, secures resources and builds relationships for Capilano University.
COMMUNICATIONS & MARKETING
»

Campaign advertising: Communications & marketing is actively preparing a major mid-year campaign to support the
opening of CapU Lonsdale. The campaign emphasizes place-based marketing, announcing our arrival (this September)
at The Shipyards in a bold interpretation of the University’s brand. It combines large format out of home creative with
digital with major positioning along the Lonsdale corridor and in both North and South SeaBus terminals. The
department is taking a similarly styled visual approach to the University’s 2020/21 Viewbook.

»

Collateral materials, messaging and media relations: Supported CapU Lonsdale, the Indigenous Digital Accelerator,
Creative Tech Community and new initiatives including the 2019 Convocation commemorative program received an
enhanced creative design, featuring the 50th anniversary.

»

Journal of Education Advancement & Marketing: The academic Journal of Education Advancement & Marketing
requested for publication a written case study on how the University leveraged storytelling in its 50th anniversary
celebrations. We are currently working with the editor to establish a schedule for submission.

DEVELOPMENT & ALUMNI RELATIONS
»

Team Key Performance Indicators (March 31, 2019): The team exceeded annual engagement and revenue targets for
the year, positioning the University for sustained engagement and revenue growth from fundraising and sponsorship.

»

Alumni Awards of Excellence: Alumni nominations closed in April for the upcoming awards reception in the fall. The
team will strike the adjudication committee and recipients will be announced in late summer.

»

Momentum 2019: On April 25, 2019, the team hosted the first annual Momentum event focused on stewardship of
individuals and organizations that support donor-established funds. This reception-style event directly connected
student and alumni recipients with the donors who supported them. The inaugural event was a resounding success.

UNIVERSITY EVENTS
»

Convocation: 2019 Spring Convocation marked the final major celebration with a 50th anniversary theme. This
ceremony saw many new additions including Indigenous performances, a new institutional hood and gonfalons. Our
diploma and certificate graduates also now wear a Capilano University branded stole on their gown to signify their
academic achievements. There was a 1% increase in the number of graduates registered for the ceremony (up by 24
from 2018).
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»

Honorary Degrees and Faculty Emeritus: Capilano University bestowed Honorary Degrees on Sarah McLachlan and
Bruce Poon Tip as well as the Faculty Emeritus on Pierre Coupey. Also attending the ceremony as an audience
member on Monday was Sam Feldman, Sarah McLachlan’s agent, and an influential music agent in the province.

50TH ANNIVERSARY UPDATE
»

Events: 50th anniversary celebrations continued in March and April of 2019
with the Capilano University Employee Recognition Awards, Sechelt Campus
Homecoming and the Legacy Canoe Awakening.

»

Cap Love Tuesdays: The final group portrait took place in April, marking the
sale of 2,421 items from the anniversary collection, resulting in $54,127 in
sales and $2,706 towards the CapU student bursary.

»

Winding down: The plan to wind down the anniversary is underway and
includes a campus graphics refresh, “thank-you” communications (comprised
of a North Shore News announcement, social media posts, employee
communications and giveaways). The 50th Anniversary Committee hosted a
“My CapU 50 Moment” contest inviting the university community (including
alumni) to share their favourite moments in photos from the 50th online
(capu50.capilanou.ca/my-capu50-moment/). The anniversary will officially
end following the 2019 CapU convocation ceremonies. A final report will be
released in September 2019 at the Capilano University Board of Governors meeting.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 6: CAMPUS MASTER PLAN: CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Ryan Blades, Director Facilities and Campus Planning
PURPOSE
To provide the Board of Governors with information regarding capital asset management of buildings
and linear infrastructure for Capilano University.
BACKGROUND
Capilano’s North Vancouver campus is 14 buildings (approximately 572,000 SF) on approximately
34 acres. The Sechelt campus has one building (approximately 11,000 sq. ft.) on 1 acre. The North
Vancouver campus has developed over 50 years, resulting in buildings and linear infrastructure (e.g. gas
lines, sewer, roadways etc.) that are in various conditions and stages of lifecycle.
BUILDINGS
The buildings of all public post-secondary institutions are assessed tri-annually by a Ministry appointed
engineering firm. The consultant provides institutions with access to a database that contains detailed
information on the condition, lifecycle, and replacement value of each building and building system (e.g.
windows, roofs, HVAC etc.).
Table 1 in Appendix A provides information on each building and the Facilities Condition Index (FCI)
(recommended maintenance value divided by the building’s replacement value) that can be used to
compare to a group of buildings. A building might be considered to be in poor condition when the
recommended maintenance is greater than half of the replacement value (i.e. FCI = 0.5).
The index alone does not tell the whole story, a careful review of each building system is required
before making judgements. As an example, the index may indicate that a boiler should be replaced
immediately because it is considered “end of life” based on an industry standard lifecycle estimate for
boilers. However, the boiler may have been maintained exceptionally well and will operate for five
more years. During the next five-year period where the boiler replacement is deferred, the boiler will
contribute negatively to the building index even though the boiler is operating well.
Given the age of the campus, Capilano faces a growing backlog of maintenance on its building systems.
In the 2018 assessment, the total recommended maintenance on building systems over the next 5 years
is approximately $82 million. One third is listed in the database as “address immediately” and the
balance is listed as “Address within 3 to 5 years”.
LINEAR INFRUSTRUCTURE
Institutions must assess and maintain its own database for the location, condition, lifecycle, and
replacement value of linear infrastructure. In 2018/19, Capilano engaged the same engineering firm to
update the linear infrastructure database and produce an accurate underground map of the entire
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campus. The project is ongoing and replacement values are still to be determined. Table 2 in
Appendix A provides an overview of linear infrastructure at the North Vancouver Campus.
CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT
The Ministry provides all institutions with funding for capital asset management and expects institutions
to contribute additional funding. In 2019/20, the Ministry allocated $2.75 million to Capilano and the
university allocated an additional $1 million during budget development. All Ministry funded projects
must be pre-approved and adhere to the Ministry’s Capital Asset Management Framework. Prior to
submitting the projects, the President’s Master Plan Steering Committee reviews the project to ensure
alignment and coordination with the Campus Master Plan, the Academic Plan, the Operating Plan and
new construction projects under consideration.
With limited resources, Capilano must be diligent in prioritizing the remediation, replacement or
decommission of part of an asset or a whole asset. Staff use the building and linear infrastructure
databases to develop multi-year plans and forecast resource requirements. When unexpected
emergency repairs arise, plans are revised and/or additional funding allocated (e.g. the recent repairs to
heating in the Dogwood building).
Projects are often prepared (e.g. studies and designs) in one fiscal year and executed in the next fiscal or
deferred based on resources and timing constraints. When planning and selecting projects, building
systems in the categories of Life Safety (e.g. replacement of an end of life Fire Alarm System), Building
Code (e.g. the addition of a sprinkler head), and Health and Environment (e.g. the replacement of an
HVAC fan to improve air circulation) are given priority. Projects in the End of Life category that might
impact the operations of a building if they were to fail are considered next. When a project is
completed, the building system that has been replaced is updated in the database and the facility
condition index for the building is improved. Any recommended maintenance identified as “Address
Immediately” that is not addressed is deferred.
Capilano also considers innovation projects where a new system is added to a building. As an example,
the Birch building is one of the largest on campus and a major contributor to Capilano’s carbon
footprint. The building receives sun for the majority of the day but has no cooling system. The result is
30-degree indoor temperatures during the spring and summer months. In 2018/19, an Air Source Heat
Pump system was added to the building which utilizes electricity to provide heating and cooling,
requiring only a minor supplementation of heat from the gas boilers during the coldest part of the year.
The project reduced pressure on the aging boilers, reduced Capilano’s reliance on gas, reduced GHG
emissions and provided comfort to the students and staff located in the building.
Linear infrastructure remediation or replacement can be costly and disruptive to the campus. Capilano
looks for opportunities to combine projects. For example, the water mains that enter the campus from
Greg Lee Way must be replaced as they are considered end of life. The student housing project with
Woodbridge Northwest, also located on Greg Lee Way, will need to connect to those water mains and
other linear infrastructure. It is anticipated that the two projects will be combined to minimize
disruption, replace the aging linear infrastructure, and to make the infrastructure more accessible for
future work.

Page 38 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

Sch 6

APPENDIX A
Table 1: Building by Year Built
Facility Condition Index = recommended maintenance value/replacement value
As of Fall 2018
Recommended
Year
Area
Replacement
Building
Maintenance
Built
(sq. ft.)
Value
Value
North Vancouver Campus
Alder
1973
4,682
$1,618,320
$2,889,857
Maple
1976
11,840
$1,557,164
$3,539,010
Arbutus
1976
48,351
$7,558,258
$18,434,775
Fitness Centre
1976
2,982
$311,420
$1,557,102
Facilities
1981
6,437
$680,371
$2,346,108
Fir
1982
90,847
$15,116,279
$31,492,247
Willow
1982
19,429
$3,522,514
$8,386,939
Dogwood
1991
9,375
$2,454,627
$3,457,221
Centre for Sport
and Wellness
1991
31,657
$8,750,787
$15,087,563
Library
1992
83,528
$16,061,046
$31,492,247
Cedar
1992
49,912
$8,646,488
$17,292,975
Children's Centre
1995
7,136
$649,943
$2,599,772
Birch
1996
130,028
$11,734,033
$55,876,348
Bosa
2012
76,273
$2,066,796
$29,525,657
Sechelt
1987
11,044
$1,708,876
$4,471,389
Total
$82,436,922
$228,449,210

Facility
Condition
Index
0.56
0.44
0.41
0.20
0.29
0.48
0.42
0.71
0.58
0.51
0.50
0.25
0.21
0.07
0.38

Table 2: Linear Infrastructure Condition
Linear Infrastructure
Status
Watermain
About 60% of the watermains are 40+ years old and assumed to be at
the end of their service life.
Storm
About 50% of the storm mains are about 40 years old and assumed to
be at the end of their service life.
Sanitary
About 30% of the sanitary mains are about 40 years old and assumed
to be at the end of their service life.
Gas
About 25% of the gas mains are about 40 years old and assumed to be
at the end of their service life.
Communication
About 10% of the communication lines are about 40 years old and
assumed to be at the end of their service life.
Electrical
About 25% of the electrical lines are about 40 years old and assumed
to be at the end of their service life.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 8: INSTITUTIONAL ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN AND REPORT (IAPR)
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Toran Savjord, VP of Strategic Planning, Assessment & Institutional Effectiveness
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
IR is seeking feedback from the Board of Governors regarding the annual Institutional Accountability
Plan and Report (IAPR). This is part of an annual ministry reporting process with multiple rounds of
submission and data analysis of the university performance metrics based on CapU’s mandate.
Between March and June 2019, the IR team gathered data and information regarding departmental
metrics and annual planned progress from each area as well as from the Integrated Planning team
and Envisioning 2030 team. Additional university performance metrics and official assessment by the
Ministry will be included in the IAPR once they are officially released before July 2019.
During this consultation phase, a draft submission has been sent to the ministry for comments and
recommendations on May 24, 2019, and to the Senior Leadership Council on June 12, 2019.
We are now seeking feedback from the board. All feedback and comments must be received by IR
before July 2, 2019 for data verification purposes. This will also allow time for the Communication &
Market team to brand the report for official publication. A final approval and sign-off will be required
from the Board and the President by July 14, 2019. The final submission deadline with the Board’s
approval is July 15, 2019.
Enclosed:
1. Key dates for annual accountability plan and report
2. Systems and institutional performance metrics overview
3. Official university target and metrics including
a. 2018/19 round 1 results
b. 2018/19 round 2 results
c. 2017/18-2020/2021 targets (this year’s will be released before July 2019)
d. 2017/18 contact hour (this year’s will be released before July 2019)
4. Draft Institutional Accountability Plan and Report for the Board to provide feedback
Recommendation:
That the Board accepts the information in the IAPR and provide necessary feedback to IR as part of
the consultation process by July 2, 2019.
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Annual Accountability Plan & Report
Key Dates
Performance Results
Round 1 — March 2019 (measures 4-7)
Round 2 — May 2019 (measures 2, 3, 8, 9)
Round 3 — June 2019 (measure 1)

Research University Data Call
April 2019

Draft Submission
May 24, 2019 (if desired)

Performance Targets
June 2019

IAPR Submission
July 15, 2019

Contact Hour Activity Submission
July 15, 2019

IAPR Review
Ministry Review period — July 15-August 2, 2019
Ministry Feedback (if needed) — August 5–16, 2019

IAPR Letters
November 2019 (tentative)
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System and Institutional Performance Metrics Overview (1/2)

System and Institutional Performance Metrics Overview (2/2)
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OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY TARGET AND METRICS - 2018/19 ROUND 1 RESULTS (1/2)
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OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY TARGET AND METRICS - 2018/19 ROUND 1 RESULTS (2/2)
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OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY TARGET AND METRICS - 2018/19 ROUND 2 RESULTS (1/3)
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OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY TARGET AND METRICS - 2018/19 ROUND 2 RESULTS (2/3)
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OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY TARGET AND METRICS - 2018/19 ROUND 2 RESULTS (3/3)

Page 48 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

Sch 8

OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY TARGET AND METRICS - 2017/18-2020/2021 TARGETS
(note: this year’s will be released before July 2019)
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OFFICIAL UNIVERSITY TARGET AND METRICS - 2017/18 CONTACT HOUR
(note: this year’s will be released before July 2019)
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INSTITUTIONAL ACCOUNTABILITY
PLAN AND REPORT

2018-2019
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STRATEGIC
DIRECTION
AND CONTEXT

Capilano University: Who we are
Capilano University (CapU) began fifty years ago to serve the growing populations of the North
Shore, the Sea-to-Sky Corridor, and the Sunshine Coast with campuses located in Squamish
(Sḵwx̱ wú7mesh), Sechelt (shíshálh), and North Vancouver. Capilano University operates within
the traditional unceded territories of the Coast Salish peoples. We respectfully acknowledge the
Lil’wat, Musqueam, Sechelt, Squamish, and Tsleil-Waututh people on whose territories our
campuses are located.
Founded in 1968 as Capilano College, Capilano University became a provincially designated
special purpose teaching university authorized by the University Act to offer baccalaureate and
masters-level degrees in 2008. Celebrating our school’s half-centenary has been a focus of
community and campus excitement and connectivity throughout the 2018-19 academic year.
An exciting new chapter in CapU history begins in September 2019, when CapU begins teaching
students at its new campus in North Vancouver’s Lower Lonsdale neighbourhood. Located in the
heart of The Shipyards redevelopment—surrounded by private residences, community
organizations, and business services—the campus offers students wide variety of potential
experiential learning opportunities within walking distance of the campus, along with retail and
cultural amenities just steps away from the waterfront. Given its proximity to the Lonsdale Quay
and SeaBus terminal, CapU Lonsdale is an ideal learning location for both commuting students
and residents of the North Shore.
Capilano University served 9,497 students in the 2018-19 fiscal year, representing 3878
domestic FTE and 1815 international FTEs. Our student body is diverse with the majority of our
domestic students coming from different regions in the Lower Mainland and our largest
international student populations from East Asia, South America and Western Europe. We are
one of the largest employers on the North Shore with more than 1,000 employees, including
over 600 regular and non-regular full- and part- time faculty members.
This year saw the emergence of a remarkable number of achievements and milestones. In
September 2018, we launched the CapU Centre for Student Success; the central site provides
math, writing and English language support for CapU students, along with an open study space
and quite group study rooms. In the same month, CapFest drew almost 6,000 people to
celebrate our 50th anniversary. Other anniversary celebrations continued throughout the
academic year, including the carving of the Legacy Canoe under the guidance of master carver
Ses siyam, who comes from seven generations of canoe carvers from the Squamish Nation.
In April 2019, we announced the opening of a new campus this fall in the Lonsdale Shipyards
area. This year saw the Ts’zil Learning Centre at the Mount Currie campus move out of portable
trailers into a new, energy-efficient building, allowing an expansion of programming offered to
Indigenous and non-Indigenous learners throughout the Mount Currie-Pemberton-Whister
region. Capilano University announced two major tech-related projects this year: the Indigenous
Digital Accelerator, which will find a home in the second major project planned, the Creative
Tech Community (CTC). The vision of the CTC is to be an on-campus centre for students, faculty
and B.C.’s leading industry professionals where they can collaborate on specialized workintegrated learning, research and intellectual property development.
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SPOTLIGHT

WHY CAPU FILM
STUDENTS ARE
DOCUMENTING THE
HISTORIC LEGACY
CANOE PROJECT

OUR
PROGRAMS

“The canoe is about pulling together—where
everybody is in the same situation and
coming together to make progress,” says
McArthur, whose passion for Indigenous
storytelling sprung from wanting to rectify
the under-representation and
misrepresentation of Indigenous people in
film. “If there is only one person paddling in
the canoe, it’s going to take a longer time
to get anywhere. If we don’t all contribute,
we don’t move forward.”
The footage will be edited into a 10-minute
documentary that will screen at the
University later in 2019.
Even before master carver Ses Siyam (Ray
Natraoro) put a chainsaw to the log,
collaborating with the Squamish Nation
artist has been a privilege and positive
experience for the documentary team.

Capilano University has several signature
programs. These include our Animation,
Early Childhood Care and Education,
Applied Behaviour Analysis, Legal Studies
and Tourism Management programs. These
programs offer unique and industry
relevant educational experiences that
attract students from Western Canada and
beyond. Students’ program opportunities
increased this year with two new programs:
University One for Aboriginal Learners
Certificate and the Applied Behaviour
Analysis Post-Baccalaureate Certificate.
The University One program is a
particularly important development; it
provides critical bridging support for
Indigenous learners whose previous

education left them underprepared for
academic demands of university.
University One will help break down
barriers that prevent many First Nations
members of our local communities from
pursuing advanced education.
These new programs add to 97 existing
programs that span five faculties, in
addition to programming through our
Continuing Studies & Executive Education
programs. We serve students pursuing
careers in a variety of professions by
providing 13 bachelor’s degrees in business
administration, communication, early
childhood care and education, legal studies,
motion picture arts, music therapy,

performing arts (in collaboration with
Douglas College), and tourism
management, along with six postbaccalaureate programs.
Capilano University provides quality
assurance activities using the policies and
procedures set out by the University Act,
the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills,
and Training, our accreditation body (North
West Commission on Colleges and
Universities), the Capilano Board of
Governors, and the Capilano Senate. CapU
has also applied for membership in
Universities Canada.

When Shasha McArthur heard the news
that Capilano University was
commissioning a Coast Salish artist to
carve a traditional canoe on campus as part
of its Cap50 celebrations, the film student
knew she had to be involved.
“I was extremely excited about having the
chance to witness the birth of a canoe and
I wanted to be part of bringing it to light in
whatever way I could,” says McArthur, a
graduate of the Indigenous Independent
Digital Filmmaking Diploma program who
is now enrolled in the Motion Picture Arts
Degree Program.
McArthur’s infectious enthusiasm to
document the carving, including the
protocols around drawing out the canoe’s
spirit, spread to her fellow classmates. In
no time, she and four others formed a
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creative team to film the process. Each
team member brings their unique talents
and perspectives to the filming. The team
includes Michael Wright of the Gitsxawetsuwet’en Nation, Esteban Manuel from
the Secwepemc (Shuswap) and Ktunaxa
(Kootenay) from Neskonlith, Dustin
McGladery from the Nisga’a Nation
(specifically the Gisk’ansnaat Tribe at the
Gitlaxt’aamiks Village), and John Spink of
the Metis Nation, who has roots in Alberta,
Montreal, Montana and Oklahoma.
The canoe, an enduring symbol of the
imagination, identity and skills of First
Nations people, has deep meaning for
Saskatchewan-born McArthur, who is of
Nakota-Plains Cree heritage and grew up
on White Bear First Nation. She sees the
canoe as a metaphor for life.

“Working with Ray is awesome because he
really wants to contribute to what we are
doing,” explains McArthur. “If I pick up
something, he will come over and tell me
about it. He will also go over his techniques
— where he learned it, the history behind it
and who taught him. It’s a very in-depth
process for him. I am so grateful that Ray
and his apprentice Victor are very good
with students. They don’t mind being
interrupted to answer questions… unless of
course they have a chainsaw in their hands.”
CapU held an awakening and a naming
ceremony on April 11, 2019; the canoe will
eventually make its way onto the water.
Plans for the canoe include potentially
forming a campus paddling team, not just
for athletics but to share important Coast
Salish cultural traditions.
“This canoe is a huge symbol for any
Indigenous student coming to CapU,” says
McArthur. “It’s going to be part of a team
sport, but it’s not going to be just for
Indigenous students but for anyone who
wants to get involved and learn about First
Nations traditions. The canoe teaches us
about uniting together for a common goal.”
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OUR MISSION
Capilano University is a teaching-focused university
offering a wide range of programs and services that
enable students to succeed in their current studies, in
their ongoing education, in their chosen careers, in their
lifelong pursuit of knowledge and in their contribution as
responsible citizens in a rapidly changing and diverse
global community.
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OUR
VISION
Students are drawn to our dynamic and unique programs,
passionate faculty, welcoming staff, and close-knit learning
environment; graduates are independent learners, thinkers
and doers actively contributing to their communities.
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WE VALUE
▪▪
▪▪
▪▪
▪▪
▪▪
▪▪
▪▪
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Diversity, and the individuality of learners
A culture of inquiry and evidence-based decision making
Academic integrity
Open engagement with ideas and respectful engagement with each other
Personal accountability for the integrity and success of the university
Commitment to our communities
Transparency and an ethic of fairness
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OUR GOALS
AND THEMES

CORE
THEMES

INSTITUTIONAL GOALS

1. OPPORTUNITY

2. LEARNING

3. COMMUNITY

This theme focuses on ensuring access to
opportunities for engagement with an
academic environment that inspires and
encourages them to explore themselves
and their communities in new and
productive ways, leading to enhanced
learning within and beyond the university.
Through exploration and inspiration, our
learners become empowered, confident
and intentional.

This theme focuses on engaging with and
contributing to a challenging environment
in ways that help all our learners discover
new pathways to knowledge and new
connections amongst their various
communities.
Through discovery and creativity, our
learners are well prepared to apply the
knowledge and experience they have
acquired.

This theme focuses on inspiring,
connecting and engaging all members of
the University community, helping them
imagine and explore new connections and
new engagements with the public we all
serve, enhancing the mutual support and
collaboration of our communities.
Through connection and engagement our
learners will make positive contributions
that enrich and enhance their communities.

Arising from the mission statement, the
institutional goals are broadly defined as
the general areas of success that are
desired for all students. From the mission,
the institutional goals are:
▪▪ Student success in ongoing education
▪▪ Student success in chosen career
▪▪ Student success in lifelong pursuit
of knowledge
▪▪ Student success in contributing as
responsible citizens in a rapidly changing
and diverse global community

In support of the specific knowledge,
understanding and skills developed in
individual programs, the institution has
identified seven broad learning outcomes
for all students. These institutional student
learning outcomes are:
▪▪ Self-directed learning, awareness,
and responsibility
▪▪ Up-to-date information gathering
and research skills
▪▪ Communication skills
▪▪ Quantitative reasoning ability
▪▪ Group and social interaction skills
▪▪ Creative, critical, and analytical
thinking skills
▪▪ Community/global consciousness
and responsibility

The context of each program defines
student achievement of these outcomes.
While different programs of study will have
a different emphasis on each of these
outcomes and differing levels of expected
competence, all programs are expected to
address every outcome. These general
student outcomes, along with the program
specific outcomes, are the basis for
measuring the success of the institution.
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STRATEGIC
PRIORITIES

Priority #1
Strengthen Capacity

IMMEDIATE PRIORITIES
Capilano University is actively addressing two immediate
priorities: 1) strengthening capacity and 2) enrolling more
students on campus. Our progress and further actions are
summarized below.
Progress in

Further actions in

Goals

2018-19

2019-20 to 2021-22

Build the framework
to plan, communicate
and budget

▪ Built and piloted integrated planning
process that focuses on outcome and
priority-based resource allocation
and budgeting
▪ Established Financial Planning and
Analysis unit that completed
insightful analytics to support the
development of the 2019-20 budget
▪ Centralized budget for IT Services
and Facilities to improve
accountability and coordination for
University development activities

▪ Further develop framework
for academic analytics and
support the University’s
ability to conduct timely and
effective analysis and
decision-making
▪ Continue to upgrade critical
finance areas including
financial systems, budgeting
and forecasting and
reporting to support higher
service standards

Build trust and
collaboration

▪ Increased transparency and clarity in
resource allocation processes
through clear budgeting principles
▪ Continued to build on openness and
transparency by adopting a
collaborative approach to Envisioning
2030, our long-term planning process
▪ Created a unified orientation focusing
on student success and empowering
students to build connections, be
engaged and take actions
▪ Enacted policy changes as a result of
admissions review, beginning to
alleviate a source of distrust between
Registrar’s Office and Faculties

▪ Continue to build trust
through clearer, simpler and
more collaborative planning
and assessment processes

Priority #1
Strengthen Capacity
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Progress in

Further actions in

Goals

2018-19

2019-20 to 2021-22

Build a culture that
embraces challenges
and change

▪ Guided all University units and
Faculties through multi-phase
Integrated Planning process to
outline 3-year service outcomes and
aspirations
▪ Simplified planning, assessment, and
accountability processes by
streamlining duplicative activity
▪ Began Envisioning 2030 process
challenging the organization to
envision preferred futures given
situational trends
▪ Increased institutional pride through
CapU’s 50th Anniversary
celebrations and public
announcement of a new location in
Lonsdale, North Vancouver

▪ Complete Envisioning 2030
process

Build competencies

▪ Continued to increase professional
development opportunities tailored
to each unit’s needs
▪ Strengthened employee onboarding
and centralized employee training,
including topics such as workplace
diversity
▪ Piloted Tableau dashboard to enable
institutional access to Key
Performance Indicator (KPI) data
to build awareness of institutional
performance
▪ Provided planning training as a part
of Integrated Planning process
▪ Hired new senior leadership including
dean of faculty of arts & science,
Chief Information Officer, and
director, Continuing Studies &
Executive Education with goals
to improve operations in each
of their units

▪ Continue to build institutionwide competencies for a
data-informed performancebased culture through
improved engagement on
institutional KPIs
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PRIORITIES

Priority #2
More Students
on Campus

Progress in

Further actions in

Goals

2018-19

2019-20 to 2021-22

Student success
(focus on retention)

▪ Improved interventions programming
for student success by focusing on
students in need and earlier
intervention in order to help students
reach their true potential
▪ Provided training and data for
faculties to understand retention
data by program as part of Integrated
Planning process
▪ Launched Learning Common Space,
a visually appealing and welcoming
space for students to collaborate
and study
▪ Completed first year of operations
for Student Housing, continuously
improving services by actively acting
on student feedback

▪ Continue to build out a
‘one-stop’ service center for
students’ academic and
learning needs

Recruiting (focus on
domestic students
and “One University”
approach)

▪ Established a framework to support
programs in setting recruitment
targets and began to develop a
university-wide strategy for
cooperative and collaborative
recruitment
▪ Completed major milestones in
admissions review through faculty
consultations and completion of
key policies

▪ Focus on increasing
conversion of students from
offer to registration by
defining a comprehensive
recruitment strategy and
improving post-offer
engagement opportunities
and processes
▪ Develop an
internationalization strategy
that establishes CapU as a
leading centre of excellence
for international education,
prepares students for today’s
global marketplace and
engages all employees
▪ Develop a comprehensive
revenue-generating strategy
for Continuing Studies and
Executive Education (CS+EE)

Priority #2
More Students
on Campus
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Progress in

Further actions in

Goals

2018-19

2019-20 to 2021-22

Program innovation
(new programs)

▪ Developed four new programs, under
review by the Ministry of Advanced
Education, including Bachelor of
Human Kinetics, Bachelor of Science,
Bachelor of Arts with a major in
Psychology and Bachelor of Arts with
a major in English
▪ Piloted University One for Aboriginal
Learners program

▪ Continue to build an
innovation agenda to ensure
the University has the
capacity to evolve and meet
the changing demands of
higher education through
applied, community-based
and pedagogical research,
process improvements,
blended and mixed delivery
modes, campus sustainability
practices, campus and
curricular support for
indigenization and
internationalization as well
as academic and data
analytics

Diversity and access

▪ Completed plans for Lonsdale to
Shipyards location launch in
September 2019; these facilities will
improve access to Capilano
University
▪ Embarked upon Legacy Canoe
project in response to Calls to Truth
and Reconciliation
▪ Provided internationalization training
for staff and faculty while continuing
to focus on improving international
student outcomes and success

Campus master
facilities and urban
plan (focus on student
experience)

▪ Completed master campus plan
which will be used as a framework for
decision making for long term campus
development
▪ Continued to improve student and
staff facilities including Learning
Commons and dedicated space for
Centre for Teaching Excellence

▪ Energy plan
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Envisioning 2030
Envisioning 2030 is the collaborative
planning process engaging the Capilano
University community to identify our
preferred future. This process includes
various phases, starting with a
comprehensive situational analysis of
external and internal facts and trends. It
continues with open consultation to
identify CapU’s new Vision, Purpose and
Values, and will conclude by developing
specific goals, objectives, strategic
priorities, strategies and long term
institutional KPIs. Using our Mandate
Letter as a planning guideline, Envisioning
2030 will produce the Capilano University
2030 Plan, to be introduced in
January 2020.

Operational Plan 2018-19
While Envisioning 2030 develops, the
Operation Plan guides Capilano University.
The current Operational Plan builds on
positive aspects and improvement
opportunities outlined in previous
operational plans and other strategic
planning documents. It captures evidence
of progress on many fronts and outlines
key elements of our institutional
performance including an environmental
scan, CapU’s key performance indicators
and short- and mid-term strategic priorities.
With an entirely new format, the 2018-19
Operational Plan presents the opportunity
to improve knowledge and understanding
of the direction and objectives that every
academic area and service function
provides to support the University’s
priorities. It represents a transition to a
performance-based model where support
is given to achieve specific objectives
carefully aligned with CapU’s short- and
long-term direction.

CapU entered 2018-19 with recent
meaningful achievements, adding reasons
to celebrate our 50th anniversary. A firstever student residence was opened as the
Campus Master Plan was actively
developed. True commitment to student
success translated into the start-up of the
Centre for Student Success, the Centre for
Teaching Excellence, and the development
and launch of the Academic Initiatives and
Planning Office. Especially relevant was the
opportunity to sign an affiliation agreement
regarding post-secondary educational
opportunities with the shíshálh Nation.
Of particular importance in this year’s
Operational Plan is the presentation of
seven key performance indicators and five
key indicators in progress, all closely linked
to CapU’s short- and mid-term priorities. It
is imperative that all programs and services
collaborate to use the 2018-19 operational
cycle to gather baselines to prepare and
propose the next set of targets as part of
our Integrated Planning Process. For
example, recent findings presented by
Academica Group regarding CapU’s
student application processes suggest the
need to pay significant attention to the
improvement of the admission yield
(offerings to registrations). In order to
monitor progress, individual program
offerings and registrations baselines and
supported projections will be necessary for
our next planning round.
Recently, CapU received the results of its
2017 Employee Engagement Survey. The
survey report included a suggested
pathway with the greatest potential for
change, outlining a way for CapU to move
forward towards strengthening University
commitment. This pathway requires that
we continue to improve our senior-level
leadership, and that we double our efforts

to overcome challenges related to
workplace learning, workload and stress
and recognition. As part of the strategies to
deal with workload and stress, Capilano
University has committed to the health and
well-being of its students, staff and
community by formally signing and
adopting the Okanagan Charter—An
International Charter for Health Promoting
Universities and Colleges to embed wellbeing into CapU’s everyday operations,
business practices and academic mandates.
More actions will be proposed to ultimately
improve University commitment, as
outlined in the survey results.

Reflection of past performance compared
to plan will be conducted at year end. This
will be conducted simultaneously with
reporting activities for institutional
accountability.

Integrated planning

Aboriginal Service Plan

This year, Capilano University piloted an
Integrated Planning process that was
designed to simplify and strengthen the
university’s planning and assessment
processes. Key features of this process
include:

The current Aboriginal Service Plan (ASP)
for CapU and the communities of the
traditional territories on which our
campuses reside has been an essential
vehicle for our shared growth and learning.
It is much greater than a fund that provides
services to learners and Indigenizes the
academy; it is a program of mutual
ownership that has helped build trust and
respect. It provides us with collective focus
on how to continually improve pathways
for Indigenous learners, and how to
improve education for all by incorporating
the values and wisdom of Indigenous ways.

▪ Integrating budget development with
operational planning
▪ For all units, a process; of setting targets
and aspirations to inform the budgeting
process. Plans will also be updated post
resource allocation, based on the final
balanced budget.
▪ Merging service unit assessment and
operational planning processes
▪ In previous years, each service area had
to complete a plan and report outlining
service outcomes for accreditation
purposes. This has been incorporated
into core Integrated Planning processes.
Each department outlines their service
outcomes and targets on a rolling 3-year
cycle for Integrated Planning.
▪ Streamlining institutional accountability
reporting with Operational Plan
reflection processes

▪ S
 upporting all CapU faculties and
departments in adopting a performancedriven, data-informed mindset
As part of the Integrated Planning process,
data on KPIs was made available and
training was provided to help Faculties and
departments understand the implications
on their plans.

We have long understood the barrier that a
lack of knowledge of opportunities
presents to young people. The community
learning facilitator model we have
developed through the Coastal Corridor
Consortium (C3) provides a critical means
for individuals in the community to access
and succeed in post-secondary education.
Facilitators provide a friendly and
supportive face to higher education, and
help address individual needs. This
personalized support has reduced barriers
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of fear, distrust, and lack of confidence, and
enhanced a sense of support, care and
commitment to learning that has changed
the lives of many individuals in highly
positive ways. The facilitator model is also
important for maintaining positive relations
with the communities and being constantly
aware of emerging issues and needs. This
plan has introduced an annual Aboriginal
Youth Summit.
Although we have always consulted
actively with communities, with this ASP
CapU continued to evaluate educational
needs through surveys and focus groups.
CapU has now implemented needs-analysis
surveys in three communities. We have
also sought to deepen dialogue on how
communities can find their own solutions
to needs with our support where relevant.
This approach is evolving and may inform
new ideas and initiatives to pursue in
future ASPs. We learned through our
needs analysis surveys of additional
barriers to accessing post-secondary
education. Financial constraints, lack
of information about educational
opportunities, childcare, family well-being
were among the impeding factors
identified. The needs will form the basis
of an ongoing trend analysis that the
university will review annually. They
also serve to inform community economic
development initiatives and job
creation efforts.
One of our proudest programming
outcomes of the ASP is the success of the
Sechelt, Squamish and Lil’wat language and
culture programs. This has contributed
significantly to revitalization of language
and culture and related pride and personal
enrichment. The Tsleil-Waututh Nation has
requested that we begin developing a

language and culture program for their
community and we will be asking for
assistance in completing current
credentials and beginning a new program
for Tsleil-Waututh in this year’s ASP. In
addition, we have worked with each of the
communities to determine how to take
immersion language studies to another
level and remain hopeful that this will be
possible in future years. The language and
culture programs have had profound
personal impact for many.
Once Indigenous learners reach university
they are often faced with significant
cultural barriers to learning and can be
under prepared for independent study at a
post-secondary level. We have found in the
past that around 20% of Aboriginal learners
are placed on academic probation in their
first year of study. This causes an erosion
of confidence and sets in motion ongoing
barriers to academic success. Under a
previous ASP, we piloted a University Study
Skills for Aboriginal Learners (USSAL)
workshop program that provided university
support measures to learners in their first
year to help them succeed. The success of
this pilot program has resulted in a new
certificate program being formed,
University One for Aboriginal Learners. We
have recorded higher participation in the
individualized math and writing support
offered in the Learning Centre. Aligned
with this bridging program, we introduced
peer mentor support for new learners in
the institution. This led to personal
connections and lines of support with
benefits for both the new and experienced
learner. We believe each of these
approaches will result in stronger retention
and ongoing success for all learners.
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BC Skills Gap Plan
CapU has adhered to the provincial
government’s Skills Gap Plan, complied
with the job skills blueprint and has
continued to be successful in delivering
high quality education dedicated to meet
our planned targets in early childhood care
& education, paralegal studies, business
administration, and tourism management.

#BCTECH Strategy
CapU continues to strengthen our techrelated programming in support of the
#BCTECH Strategy, specifically in our
Design in Visual Communication and
Motion Picture Arts programs. Our
programs continue to integrate practical
experience into their course of study with
graduates having a reputation of being
industry-ready.
This unique intersection of creative and
digital skills that CapU has become known
for lay the foundations for two significant
developments this spring that will
significantly enhance CapU’s ability to
support the #BCTECH strategy. In April
2019, CapU and the federal government
announced the provision of $1.94 million in
federal funding to develop an Indigenous
Digital Accelerator program. The project
will scale up early stage Indigenous
companies with high growth,
commercialization and innovation potential
within a framework that emphasizes
community development and low
environmental impact. This project
combines our commitment to developing
technological skills provincially and locally
with our commitment to supporting the
Indigenous communities and learners. The
economic benefits are not just restricted to
Indigenous communities: Western
Economic Diversification Canada estimates

the IDA will help inject more than $13
million into Canada’s economy over the
next three years.
In the same month, moreover, came the
signing of a memorandum of understanding
between CapU and AMPD Technologies,
Greenstone Initiatives and Hynes
Developments to build a Creative Tech
Community (CTC) intended to be one of
Canada’s largest on-campus collaborations
between education and industry. The CTC
is projected to house the Indigenous Digital
Accelerator, and other projects. The
collaboration is a joint effort to develop
future generations of digital storytellers in
technology-related areas such as
animation, film, games, visual effects and
emerging platforms.
The vision of the CTC is to be an oncampus centre for students, faculty and
B.C.’s leading industry professionals where
they can collaborate on specialized workintegrated learning, research and
intellectual property (IP) development. The
partners are currently exploring
technology-enabled spaces (based around
a high-performance data centre, next
generation rendering and emerging
platforms) for shared use. Building upon
CapU’s success in motion picture arts,
performing arts and design, the project will
facilitate the development of new modular
digital media programs through which
students, faculty and professionals will
work with industry to develop technology
and innovations for businesses and social
enterprises.

OTHER PLANS, GOALS
AND INITIATIVES
Capilano University is undergoing a highly
active time of change and growth. This
year’s operational planning sees CapU
updating, expanding or creating a large
suite of new plans, goals and initiatives.
The key plans and initiatives underway
are given below.

Enrolment Planning
Our 2019-20 budget incorporates an
assumption of 5% domestic course
enrolment increase and a 4% international
course enrolment decrease.
Areas that plan to contribute to the
domestic enrolment increase include:
▪ S
 chool of Legal Studies in the Faculty
of Business and Professional Studies
▪ School of Access & Academic
Preparation in Faculty of Education,
Health and Human Development
▪ School of Performing Arts and School
of Design in Faculty of Fine and
Applied Arts
▪ School of Public Administration in
Faculty of Global Community Studies

Domestic enrolment growth will result
from several initiatives:
▪ N
 ew cohorts of successful programs:
This includes Bachelor of Design,
Diploma in 3D Animation for Film and
Games, and Diploma in Acting for Stage
and Screen.
▪ New enrolments: Continued progress on
admissions review, development of
recruitment strategy and negotiating of
block transfer agreements will contribute
to new enrolments, especially in 2020-21
and beyond.
▪ Retention: Continued focus on student
success and investment in student
supports will lead to improvements in
retention.

Universities Canada membership
CapU continues to work towards
membership with Universities Canada
2019-20 with a site visit anticipated in the
Fall. This requires us to invest in Library
services, build capacity for research,
continue to innovate in teaching and
learning and develop additional relevant
and in-demand programs.

Lonsdale Shipyards
CapU will open our Lonsdale Shipyards
location for programming in 2019-20. We
aspire to offer location-relevant
programming (including Continuing Studies
and Executive Education) while increasing
our presence in the North Vancouver
community.

Calls to Truth and Reconciliation

Admissions review

We continue to strengthen First Nations
Student Services offerings by
reinvigorating the First Nations Advisory
Committee, completing the Legacy Canoe
Project and creating Cultural Competency
Programming and Cultural Connections
Programming while providing better
supports for Indigenous students.
Academic areas will continue to Indigenize
CapU’s curriculum.

Our university has considerably revamped
its admissions and registration process
following an independent review
conducted last year. Under its guidance,
CapU has revamped our admissions
procedures, leading to a streamlined
application process. Since the review, our
Registrar’s Office has been focused on
professionalizing systems and processes
through the support of technology and
with collaboration with faculty. This
unfolding process of renewal will improve
internal efficiency and accuracy, as well as
student service experience.

https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2012AVED0007-000164
https://www.canada.ca/en/western-economic-diversification/news/2019/04/government-of-canada-investments-tohelp-indigenous-entrepreneurs-thrive-in-british-columbias-growing-creative-and-technology-sectors.html
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SPOTLIGHT

Student Success

Finance, IT and supporting systems

The Centre for Student Success works to
engage and support CapU students with
the goal of greater persistence through
their studies and improved student
outcomes. Notable areas of increased
activity include first year and at-risk
student supports, career-related
programming, student employment,
wellness, student athletics, and student
leadership. We hope to consolidate all
Student Success services in the new the
Student Success Centre in 2019-20.

Finance and IT Services will conduct
projects that resolve immediate challenges
as well as build capacity for the long term.
In the short term, Finance aims to refresh
financial policies as well as work with IT to
establish asset management processes and
resolve immediate challenges to financial
systems. IT Services will partner with
business areas to resolve immediate
challenges by using business process
analysis combined with enterprise
application enhancements and additions.
For 2020-21 and beyond, IT will develop
and execute an Integrated Technology Plan
that outlines CapU’s technology roadmap
for the next 3 years.

Facilities, and student housing
Facilities and Student Housing will embark
on several projects that will improve CapU
as a place to study, work and live. For
Facilities, this includes renewing our
furniture, formalizing our preventative
and deferred maintenance program and
professionalizing our campus safety
program. For Student Housing, this means
helping students succeed by implementing
Living Learning Community programming.
With a view of the long term, there are
plans for more student housing in 2020-21
and the development of an Energy
Master Plan that will support the future
growth of CapU.

SARAH MCLACHLAN
AND BRUCE POON TIP
RECEIVE HONORARY
DEGREES FROM
CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Singer, songwriter and philanthropist Sarah McLachlan and
entrepreneur, author and international community tourism advocate
Bruce Poon Tip received honorary degrees from the University at this
year’s Convocation ceremonies on June 3, 2019.
McLachlan is an award-winning musician,
international recording-artist and Officer of
the Order of Canada. Inducted into the
Canadian Music Hall of Fame in 2017, she
has won three Grammy and 12 Juno
Awards over the course of her career.
McLachlan founded the Lilith Fair tour,
which showcased female performers and
raised more than $7 million for various
charities over its three-year run. In 2002,
she founded the Sarah McLachlan School
of Music to provide music education at no
cost to at-risk and underserved children
and youth in Vancouver, Surrey and
Edmonton. Connecting communities,
creating joy and inspiring love for music are
at the heart of her life’s work.

University relations
This year also witnessed changes to how
CapU approached advancement and
community relations, transforming its
Advancement portfolio into a new
University Relations team. This involved a
shift in the team’s mandate, from working
on development and alumni relations to
managing the universities public profile.
This shift in focuses will allow the
university to pursue all its engagement
with the public—whether alumni, sponsors,
media or community members—in a more
coordinated manner, with more positive
results for both CapU and its community.

Poon Tip is an entrepreneur, philanthropist,
author and the founder of G Adventures,
an award-winning small group adventure
travel company and social enterprise. G
Adventures operates 28 offices worldwide,
offering more than 700 tours and travel
opportunities across all seven continents.
He is also the founder of G Adventures’
not-for-profit partner, the Planeterra
Foundation, which channels support to
underserved communities around the
world. An inductee into the Social Venture
Network Hall of Fame and the British
Travel and Hospitality Hall of Fame, Poon
Tip is an unwavering advocate of the power
of travel to change lives for the better.

“We are proud to have these two remarkable Canadians join our
community of honorary degree recipients. They have distinguished
themselves not only in their careers but also for applying their abilities
and influence to make the world a better place. They represent the
values of Capilano University and bring honor to our name.”
PAUL DANGERFIELD
President of Capilano University
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President’s First Nations and Indigenous
Affairs Steering Committee, which now
stands alongside the First Nations Advisory
Committee and the Indigenize the
Academy Committee.

STRATEGIC
CONTEXT
External factors
Our evaluation of external circumstances
suggests that there is a continuing need for
Capilano University in preparing students
for a strong regional economy and also
suggests increasing challenges in meeting
students’ needs in an evolving postsecondary landscape. Particularly relevant
for our university are the following two
key factors:
1) A strong regional economy continues to
provide opportunities for CapU graduates
BC’s economy continues to be strong,
forecasting 903,000 job openings between
2018 and 2028, with 77% of these jobs
requiring at least some form of postsecondary education or training. There are
also growing employment opportunities on
the North Shore where a substantial share
of our domestic students call home. In
addition, Vancouver’s growing animation
and visual effects industry continues to
allow CapU’s graduates to successfully
seek employment post-graduation.
2) Students have choice in their postsecondary education
Innovation is accelerating in postsecondary education. This includes, though
not limited to, innovative programming,
program delivery, pedagogy, learning
resources, student support, industry and
community collaboration, use of campus
space and incorporation of technology in
learning. Increased opportunities for
innovation ultimately creates better
student experiences and differentiation
between institutions. Combined with

growing international mobility, there is
increased competition for attracting
students. Added to this, CapU faces
continuing transportation challenges to the
North Shore campus that factor into
students’ decision making for the
institution they choose.

Internal factors
A review of internal factors shows that
Capilano University maintains a high
quality of education delivery. A trend of
decline in enrolment has necessitated a
rebuilding of Capilano University’s
capabilities, starting with our senior-level
leadership and our employees. Accordingly,
we are beginning to see positive signs of
improvement that will continue to drive us
toward measurable results.
1) Capilano University offers a high quality
of education, driven by continued
commitment of faculty and staff to
CapU students
Year after year, CapU achieves its targets in
satisfaction with education, assessment
quality of instruction and assessment of
skill development metrics. CapU graduates
achieve key learning outcomes.this is
largely due to the commitment of faculty
and staff who persist in replicating CapU’s
historical strengths as a teaching and
learning focused higher education
institution. CapU’s success in providing a
quality education for students are also
reflected in the result of surveys conducted
by external bodies, such as the Canadian
University Survey Consortium. CapU will
continue to build on this strength by

committing to teaching excellence and
program innovation.
2) Capilano University continues to face
declining domestic enrolment and low, but
improving, retention rates, resulting in
below average graduation rates
Declining domestic enrolment is driven by
both external and internal factors. External
reasons include demographic shifts and the
increased choice students have about their
post-secondary education journey. Active
on our radar are: the internal reasons that
focus our attention on the need to
proactively meet student demand for
programming and student affairs support;
improving our application-to-admission-toregistration effectiveness and developing
new and relevant programs for students.
Our leadership has prioritized these
initiatives and are seeing progress in the
most sensitive metrics (e.g., retention).
We expect to see increased enrolment
sooner and graduation rates later given
the time needed for current initiatives
to take effect.
3) Capilano University continues to realize
the spirit of the Truth and Reconciliation
Commission in our efforts to Indigenize
our curriculum and community
To better serve the needs and interests of
Indigenous students, Capilano University
continues to expand its First Nations
Student Services (FNSS) unit, with an
active search to add a director to the unit.
Similarly, the University has augmented the
committees advising executive and senior
leaders with the formation of the

CapU is striving to include Indigenous
culture within the fabric of CapU life. As
part of our 50th anniversary celebrations,
the university commissioned the carving of
a 30-foot canoe by master carver Ses
siyam, assisted by carver Xats’alanexw
siyam. Members of the CapU community—
students, faculty, and staff—were invited
over several days in March, 2019 to join
Ses siyam and Xats’alanexw siyam to help
carve the canoe, with a total of 101 people
participating. In April, the carvers, elders
and leaders of the surrounding Salish
communities led the university in an
awakening and naming ceremony of such
high attendance that the stairways and
upper mezzanine of the space hosting the
ceremony were packed. The University has
also made a space for Indigenous culture in
a more formal way through a new (draft)
policy acknowledging the right of
Indigenous students to attend convocation
dressed in the ceremonial regalia of their
Nation. To help First Nations students
create cedar graduation caps for
Convocation, FNSS hosted a cedar hat
weaving workshop for graduating students.
Throughout the year, the FNSS sponsored
several workshop to teach traditional Coast
Salish skills, not only to students, but also
employees and members of the
community. The beading, drum making,
and cedar hat weaving workshops drew
59 people.
Two major capital investments signal our
commitment to serving local Indigenous
communities. This year, we rebuilt the Ts’zil
Learning Centre, replacing portable
classroom trailers with an energy-efficient
and culturally relevant building. The Centre
will grant easier access to education and
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certified industry skills training for
Indigenous learners from Lil’wat,
N’quat’qua, Skatin, and Samahmquam First
Nations, as well as Indigenous and nonIndigenous learners throughout the Mount
Currie-Whistler region. The new building
continues to be home to programming such
as the Lil’Wat Language and Culture
program, and new programming. The
Education Assistant Certificate program
began operating for the first time at the
Mount Currie campus in Spring 2019.
In addition to provincial funding, the
commitment includes $300,000 from
CapU capital resources for furnishings
and equipment.
This April witnessed the announcement
of our second major project to build the
knowledge depth and economic capacity
of regional Indigenous communities. The
Indigenous Digital Accelerator (IDA),
seeded with $1.94 million in federal
funding from Western Development
Canada, aims to achieve these goals by
building on CapU’s history in Indigenous
digital storytelling. The first wave of
development at the IDA will involve
Indigenous alumni who have had small
business success in film, animation and
digital media.
CapU intends to partner with industry
leaders, Elders and an established
Indigenous accelerator—Indigenext—to
bring experienced business and community
leaders and mentors on campus. The IDA
will address significant gaps in the
participation of Indigenous peoples in the
high technology, digital-creative and
cultural sectors including film, TV, games
and digital media. It aims to contribute to
the development of low-carbon jobs and
also grow Indigenous digital intellectual
and technology development. As the IDA
matures, it may include other sectors, such
as tourism and hospitality.

4) Capilano University continues to
increase international enrolments,
necessitating a strengthened
internationalization strategy to improve
student success
CapU continues to attract more
international students each year.
Headcount across academic years
(excluding summer term) has increased in
every year from 2015-16 to 2018-19, more
than doubling in that time. During that time
period, the contribution of international
students to major term headcount has
increased from 14% to 28%. We are
therefore adapting to our evolving student
demographics by ensuring our faculty, staff,
student services and space are welcoming
to international students and conducive to
their success.
5) Capilano University continues its
commitment to creating a caring and
supportive environment for all, including
its employees. A positive space for
students requires a positive space for
those who work with and support them.
Our commitment to creating a positive
working environment has recently been
recognized as one of BC’s top 100
employers by the editors of Canada’s Top
100 Employers project of Mediacorp
Canada. The editors cited CapU’s “…
exceptional family-friendly benefits,
ranging from maternity and parental leave
top-up payments for new parents, to
flexible working arrangements and onsite
daycare when they are ready to return to
work” as well as generous pension
contributions and generous vacation and
leave policies (https://content.eluta.ca/
top-employer-capilano-university).
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6) Capilano University is actively reducing
our capability gaps in planning and datainformed decision making
New representation in our senior
leadership in the last two years has begun
to mark a change for Capilano University.
The Integrated Planning Process of 201819 is building reliable performance metrics

University student KPIs
Capilano University served 9,497 students
in the 2018-19 fiscal year, an increase of
5% from the previous year, marking the
second consecutive increase in headcount.
This headcount corresponds to 5,693.21
FTEs for the 2018-19 fiscal year, of which
68% were domestic and 32% international
student FTEs. Domestic FTEs declined
from the previous fiscal year by 4% while

for each unit and administrative
department. Spring 2019 saw the unveiling
of a suite of online dashboards providing
unprecedented access and availability of
KPIs to University decision-makers. Such
developments help not only build greater
data literacy among management, but also
greater accountability, which in turn

domestic headcount declined by 8%,
marking the fifth consecutive fiscal year
decline in domestic FTEs and headcount.
The size of domestic declines in both FTEs
and headcount, however, has itself reduced
over the last two fiscal years.
As shown in Table 1 below, Capilano
University students enrol in programs
distributed over 12 different categories of

enhances organizational trust with various
data sources. We regard these steps as
foundational for a concerted effort towards
improvement.

The numbers of full-time students has
increased over the last two fiscal years, as
have the numbers of part-time students, as
shown in Table 2. However, the most

year over the previous, as shown in Table 3.
Overall, however, the proportion of fulltime to part-time students has been quite
constant over the last five fiscal years.

recent increase in enrolment by full-time
students has been larger than that for
part-time students, resulting in a twopercentage point increase in 2018-19 fiscal

Table 2: Headcount by full-time, part-time status, last five fiscal years

Fiscal Year

credential type, ranging from programs
with no credential, such as Engineering
Transfer, to graduate diploma programs,
such as Early Childhood Care and
Education. Over the last five years,
we have seen growth in enrolments for
diploma, post-degree and graduate
programs.

Status

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Full-time

10844

10177

10104

10694

11817

Part-time

5649

5289

5179

5232

5294

Note: Numbers for 2018-19 are as of April 16, 2019. Headcount is unique within term, but not within fiscal year.

Table 3: Headcount distribution across full-time, part-time status, last five fiscal years

Fiscal Year
Status

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Full-time

66%

66%

66%

67%

69%

Part-time

34%

34%

34%

33%

31%

Note: Numbers for 2018-19 are as of April 16, 2019. Headcount is unique within term, but not within fiscal year.

Table 1: Headcount by credential, last five fiscal years

Fiscal Year

As Table 4 shows, the relative distribution
of enrolments across semester has not
substantially changed over the last five
fiscal years, with Fall semesters being the
most popular, followed by Spring and then

6% over the previous fiscal year. This
relatively larger growth in Summer
enrolments may be driven by international
students.

Summer semesters. However, Summer
enrolments, took a particularly large
increase in the 2018-19 fiscal year,
increasing 15% over the previous summer,
while Fall and Spring terms both increased

Credential

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

None

2167

1865

1855

1948

1854

Developmental

45

57

41

33

24

Short Certificate

27

32

31

61

100

Certificate

1372

1183

1095

1107

1105

Advanced Certificate

14

12

23

18

11

Semester

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Diploma

1632

1603

1631

1666

1744

Summer

2631

2528

2457

2514

2896

Associate Degree

813

816

840

963

1307

Fall

7295

6814

6717

6852

7290

Baccalaureate Degree

2957

2866

2836

2815

2809

Spring

6567

6124

6109

6560

6925

Post-degree Certificate/Diploma

121

192

256

350

477

Graduate Certificate/Diploma

--

--

--

49

56

Total

9149

8628

8610

9010

9497

Table 4: Academic program headcount distribution across semesters, last five fiscal years

Fiscal Year

Note: Numbers for 2018-19 are as of April 16, 2019.

Note: Headcount is unique within credential type. Numbers for 2018-19 are as of April 16, 2019.
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FTEs have decreased for both standard
domestic students and those in costrecovery programs, as shown in Table 5.

However, growth in international FTEs has
been even larger, particularly for 2018-19,
which saw a 46% increase in FTEs

compared to the 2017-18 fiscal year. This
increase in international FTEs comes after a
31% increase from 2016-15 to 2017-18.

Table 5: FTEs by fee type, last five fiscal years

Fiscal Year
Fee type

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Domestic

4643.8

4265.0

4101.9

3999.8

3833.1

Domestic, cost recovery

145.5

106.6

59.3

55.3

45.4

All Domestic

4789.2

4371.6

4161.2

4055.1

3878.5

International

719.8

823.2

947.9

1243.9

1814.7

graduating with post-degree diplomas,
however, has increased both steadily and
markedly over the last four academic years.
From 2013-14 to 2017-18 academic years,
the number of post-degree diplomas has
increased by over 750%.

advanced diplomas have shown marked
declines over the last five academic years.
The number of students graduating with
diplomas or baccalaureate degrees
increased modestly in the last academic
year, after several years of largely stable
numbers. The number of students

Table 7: Graduates by credential type, last five complete academic years

Fiscal Year

Note: Domestic numbers exclude enrolments in cost-recovery programs. Numbers for 2018-19 are as of April 16, 2019.

These increases in international enrolments
have been challenging, but have offset
smaller but persistent declines in domestic
enrolments. As shown in Table 6, domestic

Over the last five academic years, the
number of graduates emerging from
Capilano University has been largely stable,
as shown in Table 7, with a moderate drop
in the last academic year from the previous.
The number of students graduating with
short certificates, certificates, and

headcount and FTEs have decreased
steadily over the last five fiscal years.

Table 6: Percent change in domestic headcount and FTE from previous year, last five fiscal years

Fiscal Year
Measure

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

FTEs

-8%

-9%

-5%

-3%

-4%

Headcount

-12%

-11%

-13%

-8%

-8%

Credential

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Short Certificate

11

17

7

18

3

Certificate

528

614

483

494

362

Diploma

519

550

502

508

564

Advanced Certificate

3

3

3

2

Advanced Diploma

166

194

179

119

78

Associate Degree

133

91

107

89

87

Baccalaureate Degree

422

459

452

450

465

Post-degree Diploma

12

34

53

101

103

Graduate Certificate

0

1

1

1

0

Total

1794

1960

1787

1783

1664

Note: Credentials are defined by the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills & Training in the document Data Definitions and Standards Elements Definitions
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/education/post-secondary-education/data-research/ddef-student-standards.pdf

Note: Numbers for 2018-19 are as of April 16, 2019.
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PERFORMANCE
PLAN
Alignment of University goals,
initiatives and objectives with
Mandate Letter
Capilano University’s 2018-19 Mandate
Letter from the Ministry outlines
expectations that the University is
expected to meet, both for the 2018-19
year, and going forward. Here we present
how CapU’s goals, initiatives or objectives
address these expectations.
Implement the education-related
TRC Calls to Action
We acknowledge our ethical responsibility
as an educational institution to work to
reverse the devastating legacy of
residential schools and colonialism in
Canada and take actions accordingly. CapU
is now in its sixth year of dedicating a full
week to Truth and Reconciliation
awareness on campus, and we recognize
that there is still work to do in order to
consolidate systemic change in our
educational system. Of particular
significance is the recently announced
President’s First Nations and Indigenous
Affairs Steering Committee that began
meeting earlier in 2018, along with our
university’s well-established Indigenization
Committee, which comprises members of
administration, faculty and First Nations
elders.
Capilano University’s Operational Plan for
2018-19 laid out eight goals to further the
changes needed to Indigenize our learning
community:

1. Community outreach and learning
facilitation. The Community Outreach and
Learning Facilitators are individuals who
live in the community or area, understand
the community dynamics (including
barriers and opportunities) and are focused
on the task of building access and retention
of Aboriginal learners. As part of the
community outreach efforts, a full-time
dedicated Indigenous recruiter was hired in
2018.
2. Systemic change. Systemic change
activities within Capilano University are
essential components of the changing
cultural fabric of the institution and directly
support Indigenous student access,
retention and success. CapU’s First Nation
Student Services (FNSS) has been closely
working with the executive to plan and
consolidate the University’s commitment
that includes increasing cultural knowledge
and awareness throughout the institution,
enhancing teaching skills for Aboriginal
learners and increasing the Indigenization
of curriculum, and informing and
influencing institutional policy and ensuring
that Truth and Reconciliation Commission
recommendations are addressed.
3. University One for Aboriginal Learners.
CapU has consulted with the Sechelt and
Squamish Nations and the First Nations
advisor to help increase Indigenous
enrolment and Indigenous student success.
The outcome is University One for
Aboriginal Learners, a new two-semester

certificate that aims to provide Indigenous
students with a meaningful curriculum and
educational context to develop key
academic skills. This cohort program
includes subjects like critical reading,
academic writing, oral communication and
quantitative reasoning ability.
4. Success strategies for Indigenous
learners. CapU will work towards a
retention-improvement program. All new
Indigenous learners will be encouraged to
participate and a key feature will be a peer
mentorship element allowing current
students to support each other throughout
their academic studies.
5. Community Education Needs
Assessment. The Community Education
Needs Assessment tool provides funding
for the ongoing development of a
consistent needs-analysis program in the
communities. This will ensure productive
and effective investment in programming
that aligns with individual interests and
community needs.
6. Inspiration Nation. In Spring 2019, CapU
hosted the second annual youth summit for
Indigenous learners, called Inspiration
Nation. The summit saw participants
explore issues of interest to Indigenous
learners and introduced them to postsecondary options and learning
experiences. This initiative shows our
commitment to transitioning students to
post-secondary education. This year saw

over 30% growth in attendees over
Inspiration Nation’s inaugural year, with 40
First Nations youths attending.
7. Indigenous language and culture
certificates. These 30-credit certificate
programs are designed to give an
introductory knowledge of the language
and culture of one of the Capilano region’s
First Nations; develop knowledge of
phonetics, language description and
analytical skills; an understanding of
composition and First Nations literature;
and storytelling ability. Currently, three
certificates are offered, focused on either
the Lil’wat Nation, Sechelt Nation or
Squamish Nation language and culture.
These programs highlight the ongoing
commitment of Capilano University to
Truth and Reconciliation and contribute to
the regeneration of threatened Indigenous
languages, enhance pride and confidence
of learners in their culture and traditions
and develop tangible skills for teaching the
language within communities.
8. Career guidance workshops. An
education and career guidance counsellor
will conduct one-on-one consultations with
individuals and provide workshops to
groups to assist with this significant service
gap in our communities. The counsellor will
work primarily from Lil’wat Nation, as the
need for this service was identified in the
education needs analysis conducted in this
community, but will also offer workshops in
Sechelt, Squamish and Tsleil-Waututh
communities.
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In addition to these initiatives, CapU also
built a major new addition to its Mt. Currie
campus, which serves the members of the
Lil’Wat Nation, as well as non-Indigenous
residents. The new Learning Centre now
hosts programs such as the Education
Assistant program, allowing that program
to be taught for the first time at the Mt.
Currie campus in Spring 2019.
In 2018-19, there were a total of 20 courses
offered that explicitly focused on First
Nations content. Just as important for the
process of Indigenization, however, is
building an understanding of Indigenous
experience and knowledge among the
non-Indigenous members of our
community. Progress has been made on
this front as well. Beginning in the spring
term of 2019, CapU FNSS staff began
collaborating with faculty and staff to
introduce the KAIRO Blanket Exercise into
classes and staff workshops. The KAIRO
Blanket Exercise has been developed by
Kairos Canada—a non-profit, social justice
organization—who describe the exercise as
a “participatory history lesson – developed
in collaboration with Indigenous Elders,
knowledge keepers and educators – that
fosters truth, understanding, respect and
reconciliation among Indigenous and
non-Indigenous peoples.” In addition to
staff workshops, FNSS facilitators
introduced the KARIO Blanket Exercise
into nine classroom sessions this spring, in
courses as ranging from history to tourism.

Support implementation
of priority initiatives
CapU has implemented priority initiatives
including Tuition-Free Adult Basic
Education (ABE) and English Language
Learning (ELL) to domestic students as well
as tuition waiver and support for former
youth in care. In 2018-19, CapU is
expanding its tech-related programming in
our Design in Visual Communication and
Motion Picture Arts programs. Notably,
CapU has obtained grant funding from the
Ministry to create an additional 50 seats in
our 2D and 3D animation programs to be
fully realized by 2020-21. As of Spring
2019, 32 of CapU’s core courses had an
experiential component, comprising
subjects as diverse as applied behavior
analysis, law, theatre and tourism. CapU’s
Student Success and Retention Task Force
has created a working group to explore
how to better implement and expand
experiential learning.
CapU has moved to protect and promote
access to post-secondary education for all,
including the most vulnerable and underrepresented students on a number of
fronts. The CapU Centre for Student
Success opened this year; the Centre
applies best practices of a traditional
learning commons while also adding other
support programs into one central location
at the heart of CapU’s campus, increasing
visibility of and access to tutors, advisor
and other supports. Our Accessibility
Services office strives to ensure that
students with disabilities enjoy the same
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rights, opportunities and respect as all
other students, ensuring that the
University does its best to provide
necessary accommodations to allow all
students to succeed.
In Spring of 2019, CapU began a series of
Positive Space workshops, aimed at giving
students and staff the tools to build an
inclusive community and gain a greater
understanding of the obstacles that their
LGBTQ2S+ peers faces. Along with these
workshops, CapU hosted an employeefocused forum aimed at starting a dialogue
on diversity and inclusion of our
LGBTQ2S+ community, along with a
professional development day exploring
how faculty can include help build support
through their teaching. CapU’s student
body has long been committed to building
support for the LGBTQ2S+ community, and
has continued its now-traditional
involvement in the Vancouver Pride
Parade, and Pride Month.
Improve student safety and overall wellbeing in the areas of mental health and the
prevention of sexual violence and
misconduct
Capilano University aims to contribute to
student mental health and overall wellbeing in 2019-20 by continuing to
implement the commitments made in the
Okanagan Charter for Health Promoting
Universities and Colleges. In addition to the
working group on student wellness created
last year, we assessed student health and
wellness via in the National College Health
Assessment survey in the Fall 2018 term.

and Misconduct since 2016-17. The
committee, composed of representatives
from across the University community, has
been developing University policy and
procedures to protect students, staff and
faculty from sexual violence and
misconduct. Student health and wellness
has also been the focus of one of the
working groups created by the Student
Success and Retention Task Force.
Participate in the EducationPlannerBC
Capilano University is actively involved in
the development and implementation of
the common application system for all
public post-secondary institutions in the
province.
Ensure that students are able to
seamlessly transition into post-secondary
education with the implementation of the
new B.C. Graduation Program
CapU has updated its recruitment
processes and has been working in 201819 to adapt program admission
requirements and course prerequisites, as
well as course content, to ensure a smooth
transition for applicants, including
highschool graduates.

Work closely with the Ministry to develop
a balanced approach to international
education, participating in the
development and implementation
of a provincial framework for
international education
In the 2018-19 academic year (excluding
summer term), Capilano University saw
international enrolments increase to 2,376,
an increase of 16% from 2017-18. In
2018-19, we developed an
internationalization initiative focusing on
faculty and staff development, and
developed an online orientation program
for international students, allowing them to
be better prepared prior to arrival.

ALIGNMENT OF
UNIVERSITY AND
MINISTRY GOALS
AND OBJECTIVES
In the tables that follow, we show how
CapU’s goals align with the Ministry of
Advanced Education Skills and Training

objectives and identify the CapU and
Ministry performance measures relevant
for each goal.

CapU Goal 1

Meet or exceed the financial targets…
including maintaining balanced or surplus
financial results
Capilano University reported a surplus for
2018-19.

Student success in ongoing education

Performance Measures
Ministry Objectives

Comply with the Tuition Limit policy
CapU will be complying with the 2% cap on
tuition and mandatory fee increases.

Access, Quality,
and Relevance

CapU Measure

System Measure

Annual Skills Gap Plans

Indigenous student spaces

National Survey of Student Engagement

Transition rate of high school students to
public post-secondary education

Canadian University Survey Consortium

Participation rate

Course outcomes report

Loan repayment as a percentage of income

Student Information survey

Student outcome measures

Welcome survey

Unemployment rate

Departure survey

Student assessment of the usefulness of
knowledge and skills in performing job

Institutional KPIs: application transition,
enrolment, and graduation rates.

-

Our university has had a Presidential
Advisory Committee on Sexual Violence
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CapU Goal 2

CapU Goal 4

Student success in chosen career

Student success in contributing as responsible citizens in a rapidly changing and diverse global community

Performance Measures
Ministry Objectives

Efficiency, Quality,
and Relevance

Performance Measures

CapU Measure

System Measure

Annual Skills Gap Plans

Ministry Objectives

CapU Measure

System Measure

Time to completion

Aboriginal student enrolment

Student spaces

National Survey of Student Engagement

First-year retention rate

International student enrolment

Credentials awarded

Canadian University Survey Consortium

Assessment of the usefulness of knowledge
and skills in performing job

Capacity KPIs (headcount, seat utilization and
waitlist length)

Sponsored research funding

Retention and persistence rates

Unemployment rate

Leadership development

Credentials awarded to Aboriginal students

Alumni survey

Student assessment of the quality of
instruction

National Survey of Student Engagement

Student outcome measures

Departure survey

Student Satisfaction with Education

Canadian University Survey Consortium

Unemployment rate

Student Information survey

Student Assessment of Skill Development

Student Information survey

Student assessment of the usefulness of
knowledge and skills in performing job

Welcome survey

-

Alumni Survey

-

Institutional KPIs: application transition,
enrolment, retention, FTEs, and seat
utilization.

-

Quality, Capacity,
Relevance

CapU Goal 3
Student success in lifelong pursuit of knowledge

Performance Measures
Ministry Objectives

Access, Quality

CapU Measure

System Measure

National Survey of Student Engagement

Indigenous student spaces

Canadian University Survey Consortium

Transition rate of high school students to
public post-secondary education

National Survey of Student Engagement

Participation rate

Alumni survey

Loan repayment as a percentage of income

Course outcomes reports

Student outcome measures

Student Information survey

-

Welcome survey

-
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SPOTLIGHT

POIGNANT
SPEAKERS,
COMPELLING
CONVERSATION

PERFORMANCE
MEASURE REPORTING
System Measures
This section reports the 2018-19
Institutional Accountability Plan and
Report framework performance measuresA
and results provided by the Ministry of
Advanced Education and Skills Training;
some results are provisional estimates
produced by CapU. Ministry assessments
are based on the following scale:

There couldn’t be a better time in
history to bring progressive,
creative thinkers to campus with
what’s going on in the world, says
Fiona Black, director of Capilano
University’s BlueShore Financial
Centre for the Performing Arts.
“We’re really craving deeper dialogue,”
Black says. “Social media is killing
meaningful and face-to-face
conversations.”
When she heard the University was
requesting proposals to fund ideas in
celebration of CapU’s 50th anniversary,
she immediately thought about presenting
a speaker series, having run a successful
one at CapU before.
Supported by the Great Ideas fund, the
latest CapU Speakers Series launched in
the fall to sold-out shows with a stellar
lineup, including among others, renowned
social commentator, Fran Lebowitz
and Pulitzer Prize-winning journalist,
Chris Hedges.

Target assessment

Description

Exceeded

110% or more of target

Achieved

100% - 109% of target

Substantially achieved

90% - 99% of target

Not achieved

Less than 90% of target

Not assessed

Survey results with less than 20 respondents or a
margin of error of 10% or greater, descriptive
measures, and measures without targets

Fran Lebowitz

“The audience gets to listen to in-depth
analysis from pretty creative, high-level
thinkers and they participate too,” says
Black. “They get to ask questions and
contribute to solutions and moving ideas
forward. I think coming together is really
important right now.”
The series wrapped up in May with
award-winning broadcaster, Ziya Tong in
conversation with Green Party Leader,
Elizabeth May. Tong’s forthcoming book,
The Reality Bubble: Blind Spots, Hidden
Truths and the Dangerous Illusions that
Shape Our World, showcases her
formidable understanding of the urgent
problems confronting our world.
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System Objective: Capacity

System Objective: Access

STUDENT SPACESB

ABORIGINAL STUDENTS SPACESD

Number of full-time equivalent (FTEs) student enrolments delivered overall, in health, and in developmental programs.

Number of full-time equivalent enrolments of Aboriginal students delivered in all program areas. 5

Performance
2017-18
Actual
Domestic student FTE

4055

Nursing and allied
health programs

139

Developmental
programs

265

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur
adipiscing elit. Nam tempus est in nulla
molestie varius sed sit amet dolor. Sed eu
vestibulum sapien. Etiam dui turpis, iaculis
et nunc vitae, sagittis tristique nibh.

2018-19
Target

Target
2018-19
Actual

Assessment

2019-20
Target

5484

Round 3

Round 3

5474

158

Round 3

Round 3

Round 3

528

Round 3

Round 3

Maecenas tristique sit amet magna sed
aliquet. Donec in massa eget risus blandit
ultricies sagittis quis lectus. Mauris et nunc
scelerisque, faucibus tellus in, dictum
purus. Mauris vulputate mi quis diam

Round 3

2020-21
Target

Performance
2021-22
Target

Round 3

Round 3

Note: Numbers for 2018-19 are as of April 16, 2019.

Round 3

Round 3

Average

1629

1541

1527

Assessment
Substantially
achieved

2019-20
Target
Round 3

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Round 3

Round 3

Maecenas tristique sit amet magna sed
aliquet. Donec in massa eget risus blandit
ultricies sagittis quis lectus. Mauris et nunc
scelerisque, faucibus tellus in, dictum
purus. Mauris vulputate mi quis diam

207

Assessment

Not achieved

2019-20
Target
Increase

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Increase

Maintain

Maecenas tristique sit amet magna sed
aliquet. Donec in massa eget risus blandit
ultricies sagittis quis lectus. Mauris et nunc
scelerisque, faucibus tellus in, dictum
purus. Mauris vulputate mi quis diam

pharetra tincidunt vitae id diam. Praesent
luctus elit ut sapien imperdiet iaculis sed eu
lacus. Nam aliquam urna in urna semper,
eget ultricies magna faucibus. Morbi.

System Objective: Quality

Survey (BGS). The survey results are widely
disseminated to academic departments and
faculties, and to senior managers. Decision
makers at CapU from the chair/manager
level upwards access online dashboard
summaries of the five-year data sets of
these surveys. These efforts help provide
staff, faculty, and senior administration

with the necessary information and insight
to make better-informed decisions that lead
to improved performance. Individual
departments and faculties examine these
results as part of their regular review
process designed to refine and improve
their programs.

STUDENT SATISFACTION WITH EDUCATION
Percentage of students who were very satisfied or satisfied with the education they received.

Performance
2017-18
Actual

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur
adipiscing elit. Nam tempus est in nulla
molestie varius sed sit amet dolor. Sed eu
vestibulum sapien. Etiam dui turpis, iaculis
et nunc vitae, sagittis tristique nibh.

2018-19
Actual

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur
adipiscing elit. Nam tempus est in nulla
molestie varius sed sit amet dolor. Sed eu
vestibulum sapien. Etiam dui turpis, iaculis
et nunc vitae, sagittis tristique nibh.

CapU makes considerable internal use of
the Ministry-generated student outcomes
surveys that drive the performance
measures of quality and relevance, both
the Diploma, Associate Degree, and
Certificate Student Outcomes Survey
(DACSO), and the Baccalaureate Graduates

Target
2018-19
Actual

Increase

Total Aboriginal FTEs

CREDENTIALS AWARDED

2018-19
Target

212

Round 3

The averageC number of credentials awarded by over the most recent three years.

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Target

5499

pharetra tincidunt vitae id diam. Praesent
luctus elit ut sapien imperdiet iaculis sed eu
lacus. Nam aliquam urna in urna semper,
eget ultricies magna faucibus. Morbi.

Performance

2017-18
Actual

Target

pharetra tincidunt vitae id diam. Praesent
luctus elit ut sapien imperdiet iaculis sed eu
lacus. Nam aliquam urna in urna semper,
eget ultricies magna faucibus. Morbi.

2018-19
Actual

Diploma, associate
degree & certificate

92.1%
+/- 1.6%

≥ 90%

91.7%
+/- 1.6%

Achieved

Baccalaureate
graduates

93.1%
+/- 2.3%

≥ 90%

96.6%
+/- 2.1%

Achieved

Overall satisfaction levels remain high
among both our baccalaureate students
and those taking shorter programs. Not
only does CapU again achieve our targets,

5

2018-19
Target

Target
Assessment

but we also nearly exceed the target among
baccalaureate students; with the margin of
error include, our baccalaureate results are
98.7%, falling 0.3 of a percentage point

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

short of the 99% threshold for exceeding
target. These results demonstrate our
focus on providing quality education that is
responsive to the needs of students.

 inistry reports a higher number of Aboriginal students at CapU as the student-information
M
system data are based on a self-identification of Aboriginal status.
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System Objective: Relevance
STUDENT ASSESSMENT OF THE QUALITY OF INSTRUCTION

STUDENT ASSESSMENT OF THE USEFULNESS OF KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS IN PERFORMING JOB

Percentage of students who rated the quality of instruction in their program positively.

Percentage of employed graduates who indicated the knowledge and skills they acquired through their education was useful in performing their job.

Performance
2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Target

Target
2018-19
Actual

Assessment

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

Performance
2021-22
Target

Target

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Target

2018-19
Actual

Assessment

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Diploma, associate
degree & certificate

97.4% +/0.9%

≥ 90%

96.7% +/1.0%

Achieved

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

Diploma, associate
degree & certificate

85.1%
+/- 3.5%

≥ 90%

83.6%
+/- 3.6%

Substantially
achieved

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

Baccalaureate
graduates

95.7% +/1.9%

≥ 90%

98.3% +/1.5%

Exceeded

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

Baccalaureate
graduates

87.3%
+/- 3.3%

≥ 90%

92.7%
+/- 3.2%

Achieved

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

≥ 90%

The assessment of the quality of
instruction by CapU’s former students is
even more positive than their overall
satisfaction for both cohorts. The
assessment of instructional quality among

BGS respondents exceeds target, and that
of the DACSO respondents is just under
97% positive. This level of positivity
regarding the core function of teachingintensive universities—teaching—further

reinforces our commitment to providing
our students with an outstanding learning
experience.

CapU met its target for the assessment of
skill relevance among former students for
BGS respondents, and substantially
achieved for DACSO respondents.
UNEMPLOYMENT RATE
Percentage of graduates who were unemployed at the time of the survey, compared with the percentage of unemployed individuals with high school

STUDENT ASSESSMENT OF SKILL DEVELOPMENT

credentials or lower.

Percentage of students who indicated their education helped them to develop various skills.

Performance
Assessment

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Target

2018-19
Actual

Diploma, associate
degree & certificate

89.0%
+/- 1.6%

≥ 85%

86.1%
+/- 1.7%

Achieved

Baccalaureate
graduates

90.2%
+/- 2.4%

≥ 85%

89.9%
+/- 2.8%

Achieved

The assessments of skill development met
target for both DACSO and BGS students.
Furthermore, the assessments of skill
development among BGS students again

approach exceeding target; with the margin
of error added, 92.7% of baccalaureate
graduates are positive about how helpful
their program at CapU was in developing a

“TBD” = To Be Determined

A 

“N/A” = “Not applicable”

Performance

Target

Please consult the 2018-19 Standards Manual for a
current description of each measure. See https://
www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/postsecondary-education/institution-resourcesadministration/accountability-framework/
standards_manual.pdf

2019-20
Target
≥ 85%

≥ 85%

2020-21
Target
≥ 85%

≥ 85%

2018-19
Target

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

≥ 85%

Diploma, associate
degree & certificate

7.0% +/2.3%

6.6%

6.5% +/2.3%

Exceeded

< unemployment rate of individuals with high school
credentials or less

≥ 85%

Baccalaureate
graduates

4.9% +/2.1%

6.6%

1.8% +/1.6%

Exceeded

< unemployment rate of individuals with high school
credentials or less

set of component skills, 0.8 of percentage
point short of the threshold for exceeding
target (93.5%) on this measure.

B

2017-18
Actual

2021-22
Target

Target
Assessment

 esults from the 2017-18 reporting period are based
R
on data from the 2017-18 fiscal year; results from the
2018-19 reporting period are based on data from the
2018-19 fiscal year.

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur
adipiscing elit. Nam tempus est in nulla
molestie varius sed sit amet dolor. Sed eu
vestibulum sapien. Etiam dui turpis, iaculis
et nunc vitae, sagittis tristique nibh.

C

 nnual performance is measured using a rolling
A
three-year average of the most recent fiscal years,
e.g., the results for the 2018-19 reporting year are a
three-year average of the 2015-16, 2016-17, and
2017-18 fiscal years.
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Maecenas tristique sit amet magna sed
aliquet. Donec in massa eget risus blandit
ultricies sagittis quis lectus. Mauris et nunc
scelerisque, faucibus tellus in, dictum
purus. Mauris vulputate mi quis diam

D

 esults from the 2017-18 reporting period are based
R
on data from the 2016-17 fiscal year; results from
the 2018-19 reporting period are based on data from
the 2017-18 fiscal year.

pharetra tincidunt vitae id diam. Praesent
luctus elit ut sapien imperdiet iaculis sed eu
lacus. Nam aliquam urna in urna semper,
eget ultricies magna faucibus. Morbi.

E

 esults from the 2017-18 reporting year are based on
R
2017 survey data; results from the 2018-19 reporting
year are based on 2018 survey data. For all survey
results, if the result plus or minus the margin of error
includes the target, the measure is assessed as
achieved. In all cases, the survey result and the
margin of error are used to determine the target
assessment. Survey results are not assessed if the
number of respondents is less than 20 or the margin
of error is greater than 10%.
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EXTERNAL
SURVEYS
Capilano University has committed itself to
adopting a data-driven and studentcentred approach to education. As part of
those commitments, we not only conduct
our own student surveys to assess
students’ satisfaction with the quality of
the education and experience they receive
at CapU, but in the last two years we have
also begun participating in surveys design
and implemented by external bodies.
Beginning in Spring 2017, we began
participating in the annual survey of
baccalaureate students run by the
Canadian University Survey Consortium
(CUSC). In Spring 2018, CapU resumed its
involvement with the National Survey of
Student Engagement (NSSE), which is run
in schools in the US, Canada and the
Caribbean; CapU had last participated in
the 2010 MSSE. Most recently, CapU
began participating in the National College
Health Assessment (NCHA), which, like the
NSSE, surveys schools across both Canada
and the United States, with a focus on
student health and wellness, including
mental health.

CUSC survey
The annual CUSC surveys of baccalaureate
students rotates its surveyed population
every year, surveying first-year students,
then middle-years students, then
graduating students, and then first-year
students again. The survey also organizes
universities into three groups, based

primarily on programming. Group 1
universities are primarily undergraduate,
and include Capilano University. Group 2
universities have substantial graduate
programming, and Group 3 universities
have at least one professional program.
These groupings allow CapU to compare its
results both to the national aggregate
results and to those of other
undergraduate schools. In the 2018 CUSC
survey of graduating students, CapU also
opted to select a small custom comparison
group of Group 1 schools comparable in
size and emphasis on teaching.
The 2018 CUSC graduating students
survey reveals four themes:
1. Compared to our comparison group
students are unusually likely to be working,
and unusually likely to have transferred
from another post-secondary institute
(PSI). Our students also report courserelated study delays at higher than normal
levels, which may be a consequence of
employment-limited schedule flexibility.
2. Our students are largely as satisfied with
their educational experience as students
across the nation and at schools in CapU’s
custom comparison group. CapU students
also attribute the development of a cluster
of skills with important labour market
implications to their CapU experience, and
do so at levels above both national and
custom-comparison-group levels.

3. Students are generally as satisfied with
student services as are students nationally
and at custom comparison group
universities overall, except for two
services: food services, and
academic advising.
4. Not only are CapU students more likely
to endorse positive statements about their
professors than are students across
Canada, but they are also more positive on
a cluster of teaching traits than students
drawn from the custom comparison group.
Faculty are another educational advantage
CapU offers potential students.

NSSE
The NSSE focuses on measures of student
engagement and experience, but also
assesses demographics and student
satisfaction across different aspects of
their education and support. The 2018
survey provided CapU with two
comparisons groups, one consisting of
small undergraduate school and the other
of BC schools. The results were
encouraging in a number of areas.
Capilano University students are overall as
satisfied with their education as are
students at both small undergrad schools
and schools in BC. CapU students rate their
experience as notably high in the diversity
of people they interact with, including
different economic backgrounds, religious
and political beliefs. Our university is

excelling at preparing students to operate
in a diverse world.
Capilano University also appears to excel at
providing reflective and integrative
learning experience compared to many of
its provincial rivals. Other strengths for
CapU are fostering collaborative learning
and a high level of student-faculty
interactions, particularly among first-year
students, with other schools catching up in
later years.
The biggest area of concern found was
with student assessments of the quality of
interactions with non-faculty staff.
Although the levels of satisfaction with
academic advisors, registrar’s staff, and
other support staff are quite high for
first-year students, ratings drop roughly a
full scale point for senior students,
suggesting that the more experience
students have with support staff, the less
satisfied they become.

NCHA
Unlike the other two major externally run
surveys, the NCHA does not provides us
with comparison groups, but it does
provide an invaluable profile of the
subjective evaluation of student health,
including their descriptions of emotional
well-being and health-related
lifestyle activities.
The 2018 survey revealed that although
the reports of physical health seem
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encouraging, clearly more can be done to
address the emotional challenges our
students face. The levels of physical and
sexual violence that occur in the lives of
our students, and the level of threat,
remind us of the need to do more to create
an environment that is not only safe for
students, but one which students can feel
safe in.
The 2018 results include the finding that a
substantial number of Capilano University
students believed their academic
performance was impacted by stress (41%),
sleep difficulties (34%), anxiety (29%) and
depression (17%). Approximately threequarters of CapU students reported feeling
overwhelming anxiety in the last 12
months. Almost 60% reported feeling so
depressed it was difficult to function during
the previous year, and almost 15% reported
seriously suicidal thoughts. Although the
reports of overwhelming anxiety were
more common among female than male
respondents, report levels of depression
and suicidal ideation were very similar
between the males and females.

the last year were relatively low, with 5% of
males and 4% of females experiencing a
physical assault in that time. However, 34%
of males and almost 15% of females
reported being the victim of verbal threats
in the same time. Reports of sexual assault
varied from 3% in the previous year, for
penetration without consent, to 11% for
unwanted sexual touching, with females
reporting higher levels of sexual assault or
threat than males.
Over 40% of Capilano University students
reported physical activity that met the
2007 exercise recommendations set by the
American College of Sports Medicine and
the American Heart Association, with 50%
of males meeting those recommendations,
while 42% of females met the
requirements. Almost 65% of students
reported a healthy weight, with a similar
gender divide appearing here as well: 74%
of males reported a healthy weight and
62% of females did the same. Just over
93% of CapU students reported eating at
least 1-2 servings of fruits and vegetables a
day, with no substantive difference across
genders.

Over 90% of both male and female CapU
students reported feeling safe on the
campus at nighttime; at night, however,
only 18% of female respondents indicated
feeling safe, as did 57% of male
respondents. However, these results were
more positive than for ratings of safety in
their community at night, for both genders.
Reports of actual violence experienced in
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FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
Audited Financial Statements for Capilano University are at
https://www.capilanou.ca/about- capu/governance/budget-plans--reports/financial-reports/

REFERENCES | 47

Page 74 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

Sch 8

NORTH VANCOU VER C AMPUS
2055 PURCELL WAY
NORTH VANCOU VER , B .C .,
T. 6 0 4 986 1911

kála x-ay SUNSHINE COA S T C AMPUS
5627 INLE T AVENUE
SECHELT, B .C .,
T. 6 0 4 8 85 9310

C A PI L A N O U.C A
Page 75 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

Sch 9.1

BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 9.1: BACHELOR OF SCIENCE, GENERAL FULL PROGRAM PROPOSAL (STAGE 2)
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Laureen Styles, Vice President Academic & Provost
PURPOSE
To seek Board of Governors approval for the Bachelor of Science, General Full Program Proposal (Stage
2).
DISCUSSION
Capilano University’s two priorities are to build capacity and increase the number of students enrolled in
courses and programs. Considering enrolment trends over the last three years, additional focus on the
university’s regional mandate and domestic enrolment through diversity of credential options is a focus.
The Faculty of Arts and Sciences has taken this on and are developing a suite of bachelor degrees in the
Arts and in the Sciences. Majors and minors will be developed to give students more options that build
on existing university strengths as well as align with future needs to contribute in various sectors and
industries. The Bachelor of Science, General will be the first Bachelor of Science (BSc) to be offered at
Capilano University. It will provide a flexible and interdisciplinary program that will be attractive to a
wide variety of students. Additional Stage 1 proposals for majors in life sciences, environmental
technology, and data science are currently in development.
At present, the only options for students interested in sciences at Capilano is one of the Associate of
Sciences degrees and then transferring to complete their BSc at another location. Capilano University
would like to create additional opportunities for students in the region to complete their degree. This
BSc General proposal is the first step in achieving that goal.
PROCESS
New degree program development is a staged process with multiple steps of academic consultation,
input and review. The first step is the Concept Paper, then Stage 1, followed by Stage 2 (full proposal).
Established university policy and procedure guide this process and includes substantive consultation,
extensive internal peer review (Faculty, Senate sub-committees, Academic Leadership Council, and
Senate), and opportunities for external review. There are two stages for Board review and approval,
based on recommendations from Senate – at Stage 1 and Stage 2. Additionally, there is Ministry review
and approvals at both stages. Once the Minister approves (after external review with Stage 2), Capilano
University can begin the implementation process of a new program.
A sustainability plan was submitted with the Stage 1 proposal, and the new degree budget proposal will
be included in the annual integrated planning process, then rolled up into the steps with the 2020-2021
budget process working on a timeline of Fall 2020 implementation.
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POLICY
According to B.106.2 Program Approval Procedures, “the Board of Governors has the final authority to
implement [or in this case approve the second stage of the program which leads to implementation] any
proposed program. The Board will make its determination based on the following criteria. That the
program:
• has completed the University approval process;
• is consistent with the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training approval process;
• is in alignment with the University’s current academic and strategic plans; and,
• will contribute to the fulfillment of the University’s mission and goals.
If the Board of Governors approves the proposed program at Stage 2, the Vice-President Academic and
Provost will submit the proposed program to the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training.
If the Stage 2 proposal is approved by the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training, the VicePresident Academic and Provost will inform the Board, Senate, Dean, and the developers of the
decision. The Dean can then coordinate implementation of the degree.
RECOMMENDATION
Senate met on June 5, 2019, reviewed this proposal, and recommended the following motion for the
Board.
THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Science, General Full Program Proposal (Stage 2),
as presented, for Minister of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training approval.
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1. Executive Summary
University Overview
Capilano University was founded in 1968 as a Community College and in 2008 became a special purpose
teaching university, which sets its policies in accordance with the University Act of British Columbia.
Currently enrolling approximately 8,300 students in for-credit courses, it serves the geographic region of
the North Shore and the Howe Sound communities of Squamish, Whistler, Mount Currie, and
Pemberton, and has a regional campus, the kálax-ay Sunshine Coast campus, in Sechelt.
The University is named after Chief Joe Capilano, an important leader of the Squamish (Sḵwx̱wú7mesh)
Nation of the Coast Salish people. Our campuses are located on the traditional and ancestral territory of
the Squamish, Tsleil-Waututh, Musqueam, Lil’wat and Sechelt (shíshálh) Nations.
Capilano’s mandate as a special purpose teaching university is to provide the North Shore, Sea-to-Sky
and Sunshine Coast regions with a comprehensive range of credentials that are relevant and
transformative for individual students, local communities, and global citizenship. It has particular
commitments to Indigenizing curriculum working with local First Nations communities, and to
developing a balanced approach to international education (Appendix A).
Proposed Credential
The credential to be offered is a Bachelor of Science General.
Location
The program will be offered at Capilano University’s North Vancouver campus. Some courses may be
offered at the regional campuses in Sechelt and Squamish.
Faculty and School
Faculty of Arts and Sciences, School of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM)
Anticipated Program Start Date
The program is expected to start in fall 2020.
Anticipated Completion
Students will be able to complete the program in four years or eight semesters of full-time study. Parttime options are also available.
Summary of Program
Aims, Goals, and Objectives
The objective of the Bachelor of Science General is to provide a novel credential option for students,
with the goal of producing creative and critical thinking graduates, both employment-ready and
prepared to enter several post-graduate professional programs. Through a combination of novel course
offerings, and the incorporation of high impact practices throughout the program, we aim to graduate
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versatile, well-rounded scientists who will possess the skills needed to enter a wide variety of
professions and have the capacity to grow and change to excel in the professions of tomorrow.
This proposed degree will serve as the first step to offering a range of baccalaureate degree programs at
Capilano University, including proposed Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) majors in life science, data science,
and clean technology (currently under development). Together, these majors will allow the university to
offer degrees that span important future-oriented STEM fields.
The proposed B.Sc. General is an interdisciplinary program. Its curriculum spans the fields of biomedical
science, environmental science and computing science. The program emphasizes practical applications
that are closely aligned with careers in some of the fastest-growing sectors of the emerging high-techoriented economy in BC and internationally. Within the degree, students will be able to choose
concentrations in any of three areas: biomedical, computational, or environmental sciences.
Contribution of the Program to the Mandate and Strategic Plan of Capilano University
As a special purpose teaching university, the mandate of Capilano University is set by the BC
Government through the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills & Training, and the BC University Act.
The University is mandated to provide programming, including baccalaureate degrees, that serves the
needs of our designated service areas. The University is specifically mandated to expand “programming
aligned with high demand occupations and priority sectors (such as trades, technology, and health)”
(Appendix A). Through an integrated operational planning process, Capilano University has identified
two top strategic priorities: strengthen capacity, and more students on campus (Appendix B). In the
School of STEM these priorities are being implemented through the development of the B.Sc. General,
and associated majors.
Curriculum Design and Learning Outcomes
The curriculum leads from foundational courses in laboratory and computational sciences, through
upper-level concentrations, and culminates in a team-based research project and an individual capstone
project. It is designed to provide students with maximum flexibility in course selection and
programmatic focus, and to allow for both concentrated study in an area of interest and the
development of interdisciplinary knowledge.
Work experience or a work placement term are not required for degree completion.
By the end of the program, students will be able to:
1. execute the scientific method (i.e. generate hypotheses, predict outcomes, collect data, analyze and
interpret data to confirm or modify predictions);
2. apply scientific and computing techniques and methods from multiple academic disciplines to ‘realworld’ problems;
3. communicate technical material in a variety of formats and to diverse audiences;
4. apply scientific thinking to critically analyze and interpret information on local and global issues;
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5.
6.
7.
8.

analyze and synthesize course material to produce original work;
apply a breadth and depth of knowledge from multiple academic disciplines;
work independently and cooperatively; apply leadership skills; and
identify and apply ethical principles in research and practice

Potential Employment and Opportunities for Further Study for Program Graduates
The B.Sc. General is designed to be applied, practical and experiential, preparing students for a wide
variety of careers in STEM fields, both upon graduation and/or after completion of a second-entry
professional program. Depending on their choice of courses, graduates will be qualified for entry into
almost any field requiring a B.Sc. These include some of the most rapidly growing sectors of the
provincial economy, such as clean technology, life and health sciences, and data science. Graduates will
be qualified to work as laboratory and field technicians in these growing industries. Students who take
courses in the Biomedical Sciences Concentration will be well-prepared for admission to second-entry
professional programs in medicine, pharmacy, nursing, and other health-related fields. Graduates may
also use their knowledge and communication abilities in professional roles, such as, policy consultants,
science writers, project managers and, teachers.
Delivery Methods
The program will employ a variety of delivery methods. Most courses will be delivered as in-person
interactive lectures, or a combination of lectures with hands-on experiential labs. Some of these courses
may also be offered online or in mixed-mode formats. A required first-year seminar course will employ
guest speakers and field trips to introduce students to the range of career options available to program
graduates. The fourth-year research project is designed as a simulated work experience, where students
work in multidisciplinary teams to design solutions to real-world problems.
Program Strengths
The B.Sc. General is designed to provide students with a strong foundation in a breadth of sciences and
an emphasis on applied problem solving. The goal is to train graduates who will be creative critical
thinkers, prepared for employment following graduation and/or a variety of post-graduate professional
programs.
The program has several strengths that contribute to these goals. Beginning in the first-year, the
program will introduce students to interdisciplinary thinking in STEM. For example, students in first-year
computing, physics, chemistry, and biology labs will be given common questions to address from
different disciplinary perspectives. We can leverage our strengths as a small collaborative unit to seek
convergence among disciplines. At the upper-levels, the program features practical, multidisciplinary
concentrations in biomedical science, computational science, and environmental science. Each
concentration includes courses from at least two disciplines, and is related to a potential career pathway
for program graduates.
A variety of high impact practices will be embedded in the program. These have been shown to improve
student persistence and success in educational programs (Appendix C). The B.Sc. General incorporates
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several of these practices throughout the program, including a first-year science seminar, simulated
work experience, ePortfolios, and a capstone project.
As a small, teaching-focused university, Capilano holds student success as its highest priority. Students
have the opportunity to work directly and closely with faculty who have made it their careers to foster
student success. The University is committed to maintaining small class sizes (maximum 35 students in
most cases with laboratory classes being even smaller). Students at all levels have the opportunity to
work with their instructors and to receive individualized feedback and mentoring.
Level of Support and Recognition from other Post-Secondary Institutions and Professional Bodies
Consultations with other BC universities offering a General Science degree showed strong support for
this proposal. Details of consultations are discussed in Section 9.
Plans for Admission and Transfer within the BC Post-Secondary Education System
All existing 100 and 200 level courses in the program are articulated through the BCCAT transfer system.
As new courses are developed, we will seek articulation for them, as appropriate. Students with
sufficient prerequisite courses will be able to transfer into the program from other institutions.
Related Programs in BC and Rationale for Duplication
Bachelor of Science degrees in general science are offered at SFU, TRU, UBC-O, and UBC-V. All of these
require students to specialize, to varying extents, in two or more scientific disciplines. UNBC offers a
B.Sc.-Integrated, which includes a selection of multidisciplinary concentrations. UFV offers the option of
earning a B.Sc. with a double minor. Capilano University’s B.Sc. General is similar to these programs in
that students complete a concentration in a particular area of study.
There are several reasons to offer a B.Sc. General at Capilano University. Our mandate is to provide
access to education within our catchment area. The program would also be an appropriate choice for
learners beyond our catchment who would prefer to study at a small, teaching-intensive university. We
aim to provide access to STEM education to students from a wide variety of backgrounds and with a
wide range of aspirations. The curriculum features a unique selection of courses, with an emphasis on
applications of science to real-world problems, and is therefore distinct from other programs available in
the province.
Contact Information
Dr. Pouyan Mahboubi, Dean
Faculty of Arts and Sciences
Capilano University
North Vancouver, BC V7J 3H5
604.990.7983 pouyanmahboubi@capilanou.ca

2. Degree Level Standard
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Depth and Breadth of Knowledge
The B.Sc. General is designed to educate students in the basic conceptual approaches and
methodologies of several sciences in a multidisciplinary and applied framework. The program combines
depth and breadth in several sciences, while allowing students to design personalized programs of
study. Lower-level courses in natural sciences, mathematics, programming, and communication provide
a solid foundation for multidisciplinary upper-level concentrations. A variety of high-impact practices
provide coherence and a common set of student experiences. In addition, the University has recently
adopted a general education curriculum that is a required component of all degree programs. Called Cap
Core (Appendix D), this curriculum includes some of the high-impact practices discussed below, and
ensures students receive breadth and exposure to disciplines and ways of knowing outside of their field
of specialization.
Knowledge of Methodologies and Research
Research methodologies and advanced problem-solving skills are taught from the beginning of the
program. All students will take foundational laboratory science courses, where they will be introduced
to the design and analysis of experiments in a structured setting. Courses in computer science and
mathematics at this level will strengthen emerging capabilities in logical analysis. Most of our lowerlevel courses include a laboratory component, so student will have opportunities, starting from their
first-year in the program, to progressively learn additional and more sophisticated methods and
techniques. Third-year laboratory courses will prepare students for their final research projects. In the
final year all students will take SCI 400 Research Project. This experiential learning course will be
designed as a simulated work experience in which students, working in multidisciplinary teams, will
design and carry out a research project from initial proposal to final public presentation of their results.
Application of Knowledge
Applied research is a prominent theme in the B.Sc. General, starting in first-year university science
courses, through the upper-level courses taken as part of their multidisciplinary concentrations, and
culminating in the experiential research project and capstone courses. The upper-level concentrations in
particular are specifically geared to prepare students for careers that involve the application of scientific
knowledge and methods. Each concentration focuses on a specific area of application and includes
laboratory courses where students will learn specific techniques. Environmental science includes
courses from biology, chemistry, and physics that focus on assessment, remediation, and prevention of
environmental damage. Biomedical science includes courses from biology and chemistry that focus on
human health. Finally, the computational science concentration includes courses from computing
science and statistics that have been developed for our proposed Data Science major, as well as courses
in applied mathematics. In their fourth-year research project, students will work in multidisciplinary
teams in a simulated work experience setting. They will apply what they have learned in the program to
analyze and design solutions to real-world problems.
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Communication Skills
Communication skills are cultivated throughout the program. All B.Sc. students will take ENGL 100
University Writing Strategies within the first 30 credits of the program, plus an additional 3 credits of
English or Communications. Written assignments, including lab reports and class presentations are used
in many science classes to foster students’ growing communication abilities. Communication is a critical
component of the Research Project and the Capstone courses. In the research project course students
will have multiple opportunities to present their ideas to the class, beginning with a project proposal
and culminating in a final report, which may take the form of a public seminar.
Awareness of Limits of Knowledge
Program learning outcomes target the development of higher-order capabilities, which are facilitated by
the high impact practices incorporated throughout the program. Self-awareness, including awareness of
the limits of knowledge, are important components of these high level skills. Awareness of the limits of
knowledge encompasses both the metacognitive ability to understand the limits of one’s own
understanding, and also an appreciation of the boundaries of what is known within one’s discipline.
Both of these are expected to develop incrementally as students progress from foundational courses to
their senior research and capstone projects.
Professional Capacity/Autonomy
A key goal of the program is to prepare graduates with the capacity to work both independently and
collaboratively. Teamwork and leadership are explicit components of the upper-level experiential
courses required of all students.
3. Credential Recognition and Nomenclature
The B.Sc. General is a recognized credential in BC. The program structure is similar to other programs in
that students will specialize in one or more areas within the context of a broad and flexible credential.
The program has features that will facilitate credential recognition. Some of these features establish the
program as a recognizable science degree, others provide unique value-added experiences for our
students. Specific course requirements are largely confined to the first-year of the program. Required
first-year courses give students a foundation in lab sciences, mathematics, computation, and English
literacy. The program has specified minimum required credit counts for science courses in Years 2-4. The
upper-levels of the program feature multidisciplinary concentrations, a research project, and a portfoliobased capstone course.
The highly flexible nature of the program allows students to design personalized programs of study.
Additionally, most of the upper-level courses are non-traditional in focus. Rather, they emphasize
particular thematic areas and interdisciplinary and applied aspects of science.

FULL PROGRAM PROPOSAL

Page 85 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

7

Sch 9.1

Bachelor of Science General
4. Curriculum and Program Content
Program Structure
The B.Sc. General program will require a minimum of 120 credit hours, including 60 credit hours of
science, 30 of which a minimum must be at the 300 or 400 level. Students in the B.Sc. General program
must satisfy all Capilano University baccalaureate degree, Bachelor of Science, and general education
requirements, as established in Senate Policy S2015-05 Credential and Course Criteria, and the Bachelor
of Science Degree Framework (Appendix E).
Lower-level profile: The first two years of the program are intended to provide a solid foundation upon
which students will build. Students will be introduced to the diversity of STEM fields in their first-year
seminar. We are also designing exercises, to be performed in first-year laboratory and computing
science classes, in which students will tackle a variety of real-world problems from multiple
perspectives.
Since students will be concentrating in different areas in the upper division, core requirements are
intentionally minimal, and include at least 30 credits of first- and second-year science. In practice,
almost all students will take more than the minimum number of science credits. The second year
provides a critical bridge to the upper-level concentrations, and we plan to provide suggested pathways
and personal advising to help students select the courses that best serve their individual needs and
interests.
Upper-level profile: The science concentration requirement is the core of the program. All students will
complete at least one concentration from biomedical, computational, or environmental science. They
will then have the option of completing a second concentration, or selecting additional courses from
across the sciences to build a personalized program of study. Students will be encouraged to complete
two concentration combinations if that addresses their personal interests and goals. There is an
emphasis on experiential learning and applied skills in each concentration.
Breadth and electives: In addition to their core science requirements, students in the B.Sc. General
program will have ample opportunities to explore other disciplines. Breadth is included in the Cap Core
general education curriculum, in which B.Sc. students will take at least 3 credits in each of the areas
designated as Culture & Creative Expression, and Self & Society. Many of the courses in these categories
include learning outcomes that pertain to the culture and history of Indigenous peoples, and are part of
Capilano University’s ongoing efforts to Indigenize the curriculum.
Curriculum map: Program learning outcomes (PLOs) emphasize scientific reasoning, evidence-based
decision-making, communication, and ethical awareness. All of the PLOs are first encountered at an
introductory level in first and second-year science courses. Third and fourth-year courses across the
STEM disciplines serve to reinforce and elaborate upon PLOs related to students’ abilities to synthesize
information from multiple disciplines, apply that information in real-world contexts, and communicate
to a variety of audiences. A curriculum map detailing how upper-level courses are aligned with program
learning outcomes is provided in Appendix F.
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Bachelor of Science General Program Profile
In order to graduate, students must complete a minimum of 120.00 credits, maintain a minimum CGPA of 2.00 and meet
Cap Core, Capilano University residency, and Bachelor of Science General program requirements.

Lower Level Science Requirements

Course
Credits

Required:
SCI 100 Explorations in Science

Required
Credits
31.00

1.00

Computing, Mathematics and Statistics Requirement
Required:
COMP 115 Learn to Code
MATH 108 Calculus I for Business, Social Sciences, and Life Science, or
MATH 116 Calculus I – The Mathematics of Change
An additional 3 credits of MATH or STAT from the following list: MATH 109 Calculus II
for Business, Social Sciences, and Life Sciences, MATH 124 Discrete Mathematics I,
MATH 126 Calculus II, MATH 152 Linear Algebra and Differential Equations, STAT 101
Introduction to Statistics, STAT 205 Introduction to Probability and Statistics
First-Year Laboratory Science Requirement
Required:
One pair of Biology, Chemistry, or Physics course from the following list:
Biology:
BIOL 106/107 Introductory Biology I/II, or BIOL 110 General Biology I; and
BIOL 111 General Biology II
Chemistry:
CHEM 110 Bonding and Structure; and
CHEM 111 Chemical Dynamics and Energetics
Physics:
PHYS 110 General Physics I and PHYS 111 General Physics II, or
PHYS 112 Introductory Physics for the Life Sciences I and PHYS 113 Introductory Physics for
the Life Sciences II, or
PHYS 114 Fundamental Physics I and PHYS 115 Fundamental Physics II
Second Year Science Requirement
Required:
Minimum of 12 credits of 200-level designated Science courses from the Faculty of Arts
and Sciences
Must include at least 6 credits in each of two Science disciplines

Upper-level Science Requirements

Required Credits
10.00

8.00

12.00

Course
Credits

Required:
One Science Concentration (see below)
Four additional 300 or 400-level designated Science courses

Required
Credits
30.00

12.00
12.00
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SCI 400 Research Project
CAPS 499 Degree Portfolio

3.00
3.00

Science Concentrations

A Science Concentration is a minimum of 12 credits of approved courses in a designated area.
Each concentration must include at least one Laboratory Science course, or a course with a computer lab.

Concentration in Biomedical Science
Required:
Any four approved Biomedical Science courses
Examples:
BIOL 300 Molecular Genetics
BIOL 312 Human Physiology I
BIOL 313 Human Physiology II
BIOL 314 Advanced Cell Biology
BIOL 403 Microbiology and Immunology
CHEM 315 Biochemistry II: Metabolism and Bioenergetics
CHEM 411 Medicinal Chemistry: Drug Design and Drug Action
Concentration in Computational Science
Required:
Any four approved Computational Science courses
Examples:
COMP 301 Computing Technologies in a Digital Culture
COMP 320 Database Technologies and Applications
COMP 330 Data Wrangling: Scripting for Automated Data Processing
MATH 330 Mathematical Modelling
MATH 336 Applied Graph Theory and Optimization
MATH 400 Introduction to Machine Learning
STAT 305 Introduction to Data Science
STAT 310 Design and Analysis of Experiments
Concentration in Environmental Science
Required:
Any four approved Environmental Science courses
Examples:
BIOL 308 Conservation Biology
BIOL 408 Ecosystem Restoration
CHEM 304 Environmental Chemistry
CHEM 311 Applications of Spectroscopy
CHEM 404 Green Chemistry
PHYS 300 Environmental Thermodynamics
PHYS 310 Environmental Physics Lab

Additional Requirements

12.00
4.00
3.00
3.00
3.00
3.00
3.00
3.00
12.00
3.00
4.00
4.00
3.00
3.00
3.00
3.00
3.00

12.00
3.00
4.00
3.00
4.00
4.00
3.00
4.00

Course
Credits

English Requirement
Required:
ENGL 100 University Writing Strategies

Required
Credits
Required Credits
6.00
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An additional 3 credits of English, or CMNS 250 Introduction to Technical Writing
Arts Requirement
Required:

Required Credits
6.00

6.00 credits of Humanities or Social Science courses
May not include courses used to satisfy the English requirement
Electives
Required:

Required Credits
47.00

Additional courses required to reach 120 total credits
Must include at least 15.00 credits of 300-level or higher coursework
Must include at least 12.00 credits outside of degree program requirements

Calendar Descriptions
Calendar descriptions for all required and prerequisite courses are listed below. Almost all of the 300
and 400 level courses are new, as indicated. Full course outlines are provided in Appendix G.
BIOL 106 Introductory Biology I
Co-requisite: BIOL 107
This course is intended for students planning to continue in biology or related disciplines, but who lack
the prerequisites for BIOL 110. Topics are the same as in BIOL 110, with additional coverage of basic
chemistry and cell biology.
BIOL 107 Introductory Biology II
Co-requisite: BIOL 106
This course is intended for students planning to continue in biology or related disciplines, but who lack
the prerequisites for BIOL 110. Topics are the same as in BIOL 110, with additional coverage of basic
chemistry and cell biology.
BIOL 110 General Biology I
This course provides a foundation in the basic concepts of Biology and is the standard course for
students who plan to take further courses in Biology. Major topics include experimental methods and
hypothesis testing in the biological sciences and the value of science, the chemistry of life, cell structure,
function and metabolism, cellular reproduction, and the chromosomal and molecular basis of
inheritance.
BIOL 111 General Biology II
The objective of this course is to complete the survey of biological concepts begun in Biology 106 & 107
and Biology 110. Biodiversity of living forms and their evolutionary relationships, classification schemes,
an introduction to the structure, function and evolution of representative systems in plants and animals,
evolution of populations, speciation and extinction, ecology and biogeography are the subject areas
emphasized. These topics, along with those previously covered in the prerequisite courses, will provide
the background needed for students who plan to major in Biology or related disciplines
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BIOL 200 Genetics I
Prerequisites: BIOL 111 or BIOL 113 with a minimum C- grade; and CHEM 111
This course is an introduction to the principles and mechanisms of heredity. Emphasis will be placed on
an analytical approach to transmission genetics, genetics of humans, introductory molecular genetics,
quantitative genetics, and population genetics.
BIOL 203 Introduction to Microbiology
Prerequisites: BIOL 111 or BIOL 113
This course will introduce students to basic principles of microbiology with applications to human
health. The main focus of the course is on the biology of bacteria. Major topics include cell structure and
function, metabolism, genetics, and involvement in human pathogenesis. Some aspects of virology and
the human immune response will also be covered. Laboratory exercises will introduce students to
standard microbiological lab techniques.
BIOL 208 Ecology
Prerequisites: BIOL 106, 107 and 111 or BIOL 110 and 111 with a minimum C- grade
This course is a comprehensive introduction to modern ecology. Interactions between organisms and
the environment will be studied at the individual, population, community, ecosystem, and global levels.
Laboratory exercises will introduce students to aspects of experimental design and data analysis, and
will include several field trips to explore a variety of local ecosystems.
BIOL 214 Cell Biology
Prerequisites: BIOL 111 or BIOL 113 with a minimum C- grade and CHEM 200 as a prerequisite or corequisite
This course is an integrated study of the structure and function of cells and their components.
Ultrastructure of cell organelles as determined by electron microscopy will be related to the molecular
functions of cells. Emphasis will also be placed on the techniques used to study cells, the evolutionary
origin of cells and their components, and on comparisons between specialized cell structure and
function. The laboratory exercises will use modern methods of microscopy and separation techniques in
a detailed study of cell structures and their functions.
BIOL 215 Biochemistry
Prerequisites: CHEM 201 as a prerequisite or co-requisite and BIOL 214
This course examines the fundamental principles and basic facts of biochemistry starting with protein
structure and enzyme functions. Cell energetics, biosyntheses and mechanisms which control cell
metabolism will also be considered. The laboratory will use the current techniques of biochemistry to
conduct experimental analyses of the molecular functions of cells and tissues.
BIOL 300 Molecular Genetics (new)
Prerequisite: BIOL 200 (C-)
This course features a detailed examination of the structure, mutability, and expression of the genetic
material. Major topics include DNA replication, recombination, repair, and organization. Prokaryotic,
eukaryotic, and viral gene expression as well as recombinant DNA methods will also be covered.
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Students will be introduced to searching and evaluating primary literature and will practice oral and
written presentation skills. Laboratory exercises will focus on standard techniques for isolating and
characterizing DNA sequences.
BIOL 308 Conservation Biology (new)
Prerequisite: BIOL 208 (C-)
In this course students will examine the theory, practice, and tools of conserving biodiversity. Students
will explore the genetic, organismal, and ecological diversity of life on Earth and how it has changed
through time. They will evaluate the main causes of biodiversity loss, and the tools used to prevent it.
Students will complete a problem-based learning project with an emphasis on local, regional or national
conservation efforts.
BIOL 312 Human Physiology I (new)
Prerequisites: BIOL 214 (C-), and BIOL 215 (C-) or CHEM 215 (C-)
This course is a detailed examination of specific organ systems in the human body, including the
digestive, nervous, endocrine, muscular and skeletal systems. The course focuses on integration of
physiological mechanisms at the molecular, cellular and systems level.
BIOL 313 Human Physiology II (new)
Prerequisites: BIOL 214 (C-), and BIOL 215 (C-) or CHEM 215 (C-)
This course is a detailed examination of specific organ systems in the human body, including the
lymphatic, cardiovascular, respiratory, urinary and reproductive systems. The course focuses on
integration of physiological mechanisms at the molecular, cellular and systems level.
BIOL 314 Advanced Cell Biology (new)
Prerequisites: BIOL 214 (C-), and BIOL 215 (C-) or CHEM 215 (C-)
This course is an integrated study of the biochemical and molecular aspects of cell function and
communication, with an emphasis on signal transduction pathways integrating cellular physiological
processes such as the cell cycle, cancer, immune function and neuronal communication.
BIOL 403 Microbiology and Immunology (new)
Prerequisites: BIOL 203 (C-) or BIOL 214 (C-), and BIOL 215 (C-) or CHEM 215 (C -)
This course is an advanced study of medical microbiology and immunology. It focuses on molecular
mechanisms of microbial pathogenesis, and the human immune response.
BIOL 408 Ecosystem Restoration (new)
Prerequisites: BIOL 208 (C-)
In this course students will explore the science and practice of restoring the structure and function of
degraded ecosystems. Lectures will focus on applications of fundamental ecological principles in the
context of restoration, coupled with case studies. In the lab component students will design and
implement a campus or community-based restoration project.
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CAPS 499 Degree Portfolio (new)
Prerequisites: 90 credits of 100-level or higher coursework, including at least one Cap Core Experiential
course.
This capstone course is a culminating undergraduate experience that invites students to reflect upon,
integrate, and synthesize the knowledge, skills, and values acquired during their academic studies and to
prepare for graduation and beyond. Students will create learning or showcase portfolios for a purpose
and audience of their own choosing. During this process, students will select, revise and prepare one
scholarly essay, research project or creative project completed as part of their coursework for
publication on their digital portfolio.
CHEM 101 Fundamentals of Chemistry
Prerequisites: Chemistry 11 or CHEM 030 or CHEM 130 or BCHM 044; and Foundations of Math 11 or
Pre-calculus 11 or Pre-calculus 12 or BMTH 054 or MATH 097 or MATH 105 as a pre- or corequisite or
Math Placement Test (Precalculus MPT)
This course introduces students to the fundamental principles of chemistry including the concepts of
nomenclature, stoichiometry, states of matter, chemical bonding, thermochemistry, equilibria, and
nuclear science.
CHEM 110 Bonding and Structure
Prerequisites: Chemistry 12 or CHEM 101 or BCHM 054 with a minimum C+ grade; Math 12 or Precalculus 12
A course for students who plan careers in science. A brief review of stoichiometry, nomenclature and
the gaseous state; atomic structure; periodic trends; chemical bonding and molecular structure; an
introduction to organic chemistry and intermolecular forces.
CHEM 111 Chemical Dynamics and Energetics
Prerequisites: CHEM 110 with a minimum C- grade and MATH 105 or 108 or 116 as a prerequisite or corequisite
A course for students who plan a career in science. Kinetics, mechanism, substitution and elimination
reactions in organic chemistry; equilibrium; acids, bases, salts and buffers; thermodynamics; solubility;
redox equations and electrochemistry.
CHEM 200 Organic Chemistry I
Prerequisites: CHEM 111 with a minimum C- grade
A study of nomenclature, structure, and spectroscopy of alkanes, alkenes, alkynes, alcohols, ethers and
alkyl halides. Also a study of infrared spectroscopy and nuclear magnetic resonance.
CHEM 201 Organic Chemistry II
Prerequisites: CHEM 200 with a minimum C- grade
Aromatic chemistry, aldehydes, ketones, acids and their derivatives, amines, nitro, azo, diazo and
related compounds, heterocyclics, carbohydrates, protein chemistry, polymers, and natural products.
CHEM 204 Introduction to Physical Chemistry
Prerequisites: CHEM 111 (C-) as a prerequisite; MATH 116 or MATH 108 as a prerequisite or corequisite.
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This course provides an introduction to chemical kinetics, thermodynamics and spectroscopy with an
emphasis on applications in the life sciences.
CHEM 206 Introduction to Analytical Chemistry
Prerequisites: CHEM 111 with a minimum C- grade
The basic principles and techniques of analytical chemistry, including neutralization, complex-formation
and gravimetric reactions. Various types of chromatography will be introduced along with an
introduction to visible and ultraviolet spectroscopy, atomic absorption spectroscopy and
electrochemical methods of analysis.
CHEM 211 Organic Chemistry for the Life Sciences (new)
Prerequisite: CHEM 111 (C-)
This course focuses on the structure, bonding and chemical reactivity of common organic functional
groups with an emphasis on the reactions and chemical properties of biologically important molecules.
CHEM 215 Biochemistry I: Macromolecular Structure and Function (new)
Prerequisites: BIOL 214 (C-), and CHEM 211 (C-) or CHEM 201 (C-)
Biochemistry is the study of the molecules and chemical reactions responsible for the phenomenon of life.
This course introduces students to structure-function relationships in fundamental biological
macromolecules. Topics include amino acid chemistry, protein structure and regulation, carbohydrates,
lipids and membranes, nucleic acids, DNA replication and repair, and gene expression.
CHEM 304 Environmental Chemistry (new)
Prerequisites: CHEM 201 (C-), or CHEM 211 (C-) and CHEM 204 (C-)
This course provides a broad overview of the chemical basis of important environmental issues including
ozone depletion, the enhanced greenhouse effect, heavy metal poisoning and water pollution.
Environmental impact of past and current industrial processes as well as green chemistry solutions will
be discussed.
CHEM 311 Applications of Spectroscopy (new)
Prerequisites: CHEM 201 (C-), or CHEM 211 (C-) and CHEM 204 (C-)
This course focuses on the application of spectroscopic techniques to the identification of organic and
inorganic compounds. Topics include ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy, infrared spectroscopy, mass
spectrometry and nuclear magnetic resonance. The application of these important techniques to
environmental chemistry and biomedical science will be discussed. In the laboratory, students will have
the opportunity to synthesize, purify and characterize compounds using the methods listed above.
CHEM 315 Biochemistry II: Metabolism and Bioenergetics (new)
Prerequisites: CHEM 211 (C-) and CHEM 204 (C-), or CHEM 201 (C-); and BIOL 215 (C-) or CHEM 215 (C-)
This course introduces students to metabolism: the collection of chemical processes by which cells
derive energy from their surroundings and use this energy to make the building blocks of life. The major
metabolic pathways involved in the synthesis and breakdown of important biological molecules are
explored, along with the mechanisms of regulating these pathways in the body. Links between errors in
metabolism and human disease are also discussed.
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CHEM 404 Green Chemistry (new)
Prerequisites: CHEM 201 (C-), or CHEM 211 (C-) and CHEM 204 (C-)
Green chemistry is the design of chemical products and processes that eliminate the use or generation
of hazardous substances. This course will introduce students to the philosophy of green chemistry and
the impact of sustainable technologies on the environment and society. Students will learn the
philosophy of green chemistry. The laboratory will focus on sustainable chemistry practices and green
alternatives to conventional experimental methods.
CHEM 411 Medicinal Chemistry: Drug Design and Drug Action (new)
Prerequisites: CHEM 211 (C-) and CHEM 204 (C-), or CHEM 201 (C-); and BIOL 215 (C-) or CHEM 215 (C-)
In this course, we will examine the chemistry behind the small molecules that affect human health.
Topics include the principles of drug design, pharmacology and pharmacokinetics, drug delivery,
approval and regulation of new drugs, bioactive natural compounds (including antibiotics and vitamins),
and the use of chemical agents in disease detection and diagnosis.
COMP 101 Computers and their Application
Prerequisites: Applications of Math 11 or Foundations of Math 11 or Principles of Math 11 or Precalculus 11 or BMTH 044 or BMTH 048 or Math Placement Test (MPT)
An introduction to the basic concepts underlying computer hardware, software, operating systems,
networks, applications, and coding, for students with little or no previous experience. Students also
explore some of the social and ethical implications arising from the pervasive use of digital information
technologies. The goals of this course are to gain a broad understanding of the science of computing, to
develop practical skills applied to the use of the Internet and common computer applications, and to
become actively engaged with both the promise and challenges of digital technology.
COMP 115 Learn to Code
Prerequisites: Applications of Math 11 or Foundations of Math 11 or Principles of Math 11 or Precalculus 11 or BMTH 044 or BMTH 048 or Math Placement Test (Precalculus MPT) or COMP 101 with a
minimum B- grade
An introduction to the principles and practices of writing quality code, for students with little or no prior
coding experience. Students learn to apply a suite of fundamental principles and strategies for thinking
clearly about problems, managing complexity, and designing creative, structured solutions. Students
learn to develop the data structures and algorithms to express their solutions, to evaluate and test their
designs, and to code them in a modern, high-level programming language, such as Python.
COMP 215 Introduction to Computational Science (new)
Prerequisites: COMP 115 (+), and MATH 116 (C-) or MATH 108 and MATH 109 (C-)
Computational Science is considered by many the “third pillar” of scientific enquiry, alongside theory
and physical experimentation. It combines computer simulation, scientific visualization, mathematical
modeling, computer programming, data structures and algorithms to offer insights into a wide range of
problems. Students are introduced to the principles, concepts, approaches, technologies, and practices
of computational science. Students learn practical simulation and computational experimentation skills.
The course focuses on the application of these techniques in a wide range of domains, including
economics, biology, and the physical and social sciences; and includes an introduction to complexity
science, systems thinking, and dynamic systems.
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COMP 301 Computing Technologies in a Digital Culture
Prerequisites: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework including COMP 101 or COMP 115
This course provides an exposé of current and emerging digital technologies and their impacts on
individuals and society. Students learn some of the underlying principles and inner workings of digital
technology. They link this understanding to the ramifications of digital technology on a range of
economic, legal, environmental, and ethical issues, such as privacy and freedom of expression, security
and crime, the nature of work and money, pollution and resource use, and intellectual property rights.
Students learn to think critically about technologies, and to argue effectively about their potential
impacts.
COMP 320 Database Technologies and Applications
Prerequisites: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and COMP 215
Students are introduced to the principles, concepts, approaches, technologies, and practices of data
modelling and database design using relational, non-relational, and filesystem-based data management
systems. Students learn practical query languages and to develop programs that interact with various
data management systems. The course focusses on the practical application of these technologies and
techniques in a range of domains, including science, business, and computing; and includes an
introduction to big data, data governance, and data security.
COMP 330 Data Wrangling: Scripting for Automated Data Processing
Prerequisites: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and COMP 115
Students are introduced to the principles, concepts, approaches, technologies, and practices of
automated data acquisition, cleaning, transformation, merging, matching, storage, and analysis.
Students learn to apply scripting languages to pattern matching, data pipelines, and other data
wrangling techniques. The course focusses on practical uses for these technologies and techniques in a
range of domains, including science, business, and computing; and includes an introduction to operating
systems, command line shells, filesystems, and file formats.
MATH 105 Precalculus Mathematics – Modelling Our World
Prerequisites: Math Placement Test (MPT); or Pre-calculus 11 with a minimum A grade; or Pre-calculus
12 with a minimum C+ grade; or MATH 097 or MATH 096 with a minimum C- grade; or BMTH 044 with a
minimum B grade
This course is intended for students who anticipate taking calculus or who require a Pre-calculus 12
equivalent course. This is a functions course with a focus on mathematical modelling and practical
applications. Topics include: graphs, properties of functions, inverse functions, polynomial, rational,
trigonometry, logarithms and exponential functions.
MATH 108 Calculus I for Business, Social Sciences and Life Sciences
Prerequisites: Math Placement Test (MPT); or Pre-calculus 12 with a minimum B grade; or MATH 105
with a minimum C- grade; or BMTH 054 with a minimum C+ grade
This course is an introduction to the mathematics of change and explores concepts of differential
calculus with an emphasis on applications to business, social sciences and life sciences using a
technology-based modeling approach. Topics include limits, continuity, the derivative, rules of
differentiation, implicit differentiation and applications of differentiation.
MATH 109 Calculus II for Business, Social Sciences and Life Sciences
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Prerequisites: MATH 108 or 116 with a minimum C- grade
With an emphasis on applications to business, social sciences and life sciences, this course explores
topics in single variable integral calculus, multivariable calculus and differential equations. Topics include
the definite integral and applications, integration techniques, multivariable functions, partial derivatives,
extrema, Lagrange multipliers, some techniques for solving differential equations.
MATH 116 Calculus I - The Mathematics of Change
Prerequisites: Math Placement Test (MPT); or Pre-calculus 12 with a minimum A grade; or Pre-calculus
12 and Calculus 12 with a minimum B grade in each; or MATH 105 with a minimum C- grade; or BMTH
054 with a minimum B grade
This is a course in Differential Calculus which covers the topics of limits, continuity, the derivative, rules
of differentiation, implicit differentiation, parametric curves, related rates, curve sketching,
optimization, linear approximations, transcendental functions, indeterminate forms and antidifferentiation. Throughout the course a strong emphasis is placed on the geometric interpretation of
the concepts of calculus.
MATH 124 Discrete Mathematics I
Prerequisites: MATH 116 with a minimum C- grade; or MATH 105 with a minimum B grade; or Principles
of Math 12 or Pre-calculus 12 with a minimum B grade; or BMTH 054 with a minimum A grade; or Math
Placement Test (MPT)
A survey of fundamental topics in discrete mathematics including: mathematical proofs using direct
arguments, indirect arguments, and induction; the algebra of sets; combinatorics; functions and
relations; and graph theory. This course stresses the special role of discrete mathematics in Computing
Science.
MATH 126 Calculus II
Prerequisites: MATH 116 with a minimum C- grade
A study of the anti-derivative, the integral, techniques of integration, applications of the integral,
differential equations, sequences, infinite series and Taylor's Theorem. Continued emphasis on the
geometric interpretation of the concepts of calculus.
MATH 152 Linear Algebra and Differential Equations
Prerequisites: MATH 126 is a prerequisite or a co-requisite
An introduction to lines and planes, systems of linear equations and matrices, vector spaces and linear
transformations, determinants, eigenvalues and eigenvectors, diagonalization. The theory will be
applied to first order linear differential equations, first order linear systems and engineering topics.
MATH 200 Linear Algebra
Prerequisite: MATH 126
An introduction to lines and planes, systems of linear equations and matrices, vector spaces and linear
transformations, determinants, eigenvalues and eigenvectors, orthogonality and diagonalization.
Theorems and proofs are an important component of the course.
MATH 230 Calculus III
Prerequisites: MATH 126 with a minimum C- grade
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Analytical geometry of three dimensions; partial differentiation, applications; double and triple
integrals; transformations to various coordinate systems.
MATH 330 Mathematical Modelling (new)
Prerequisites: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework including MATH 109 or MATH 126 and MATH
152 or MATH 200
Students will study the formation, analysis, and interpretation of mathematical models drawn from the
physical, biological, and social sciences. They will study continuous and discrete, deterministic and
stochastic models and will use techniques such as differential and difference equations, optimization,
simple stochastic processes, and numerical methods.
MATH 336 Applied Graph Theory and Optimization (new)
Prerequisites: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework including MATH 124Students will examine and
develop discrete models and linear programs as they relate to problems found in the physical, biological
and social sciences. This includes shortest paths, matchings, graph colouring and network flows.
Students will apply the simplex method and duality theory to find optimal solutions to the associated
linear programs.
MATH 400 Introduction to Machine Learning (new)
Prerequisites: STAT 305, and MATH 116 or MATH 108
This course introduces a variety of supervised and unsupervised machine learning algorithms. Students
will study methods such as regression and classification, decision trees, naïve Bayes, Principal
Component Analysis, support vector machines, neural networks, and unsupervised learning methods. A
brief introduction to Deep Learning will also be included. Students will gain hands-on experience
applying machine learning techniques to real-world data from multiple disciplines such as social
sciences, life sciences, physical sciences, economics, education, and engineering.
PHYS 110 General Physics I
Prerequisites: Physics 11 or BPHY 044; and MATH 108 or MATH 116 as a pre- or co-requisite A survey of
mechanics covering vectors, statics, kinematics, dynamics, energy, momentum, rotation, gravitation,
vibrations, and thermal physics.
PHYS 111 General Physics II
Prerequisites: PHYS 110 with a minimum C- grade, and MATH 109 or MATH 126 as a pre- or co-requisite
This course involves the study of electricity and magnetism, waves, physical optics, sound, and atomic
and nuclear physics.
PHYS 112 Introductory Physics for the Life Sciences I
Prerequisites: Physics 12 or BPHY 053/054 or PHYS 104; and Pre-calculus 12 or BMTH 054 or MATH 105
The complexity of life can be described, at its underlying level, with physics. In this introductory course
kinematics, forces, static equilibrium, energy and momentum conservation laws, fluid properties and
mechanics, properties of soft matter, and thermal physics will be investigated for organisms of all sizes.
PHYS 113 Introductory Physics for the Life Sciences II
Prerequisites: Physics 12 or BPHY 053/054 or PHYS 104; and Pre-calculus 12 or BMTH 054 or MATH 105
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The complexity of life can be described, at its underlying level, with physics. In this introductory course
the use of: waves, superposition, acoustics, light, refraction, optics, lenses, vision, diffraction, quantum
properties of light and interaction with molecules, absorption of radiation, electric fields, and electric
circuits in the investigation of organisms of all sizes will be presented.
PHYS 114 Fundamental Physics I
Prerequisites: Physics 12 (B) or BPHY 054 (B) or PHYS 104 (C-); and MATH 116 as a pre- or corequisite
A survey of mechanics covering vectors, kinematics, dynamics, energy, momentum, rotation,
gravitation, vibrations, waves and special relativity. This course, together with PHYS 115, is particularly
suitable for students going into the physical sciences or engineering.
PHYS 115 Fundamental Physics II
Prerequisites: PHYS 114 with a minimum C- grade and Math 126 is a prerequisite or co-requisite
Electricity and magnetism, AC circuits, physical optics, and quantum physics.
PHYS 203 Fluid Mechanics I – The Physics of Flow
Prerequisites: PHYS 114 and MATH 126
This course deals with a broad range of applications of the theory and principles of fluid mechanics.
Emphasis is on hydrostatics, aerodynamics, flows with heat and mass transfer, flows in the micro-scale
and flows in the natural environment. The effects of thermodynamics and heat transfer will also be
presented and included in the examples covered.
PHYS 210 Physics Laboratory I
Prerequisite: PHYS 218 is a prerequisite or co-requisite
A weekly three-hour lab in mathematical methods, thermodynamics, electrical measurements and
mechanics.
PHYS 211 Physics Laboratory II
Prerequisites: PHYS 111 or 115 with a minimum C- grade; MATH 230
Co-requisite: PHYS 201
A weekly three-hour lab in electricity and magnetism, electronics and mechanics.
PHYS 218 Computational Physics
Prerequisites: PHYS 111 or 115 with a minimum C- grade, and PHYS 210, MATH 200, 230 as prerequisites
or co-requisites
Use of computer software to solve numerical problems in physics. Applications include drag forces, the
driven, damped oscillator, simulations of chaotic systems, random variables, techniques for handling
digital data and signal processing.
PHYS 300 Environmental Thermodynamics (new)
Prerequisites: MATH 230 and PHYS 203
This course will introduce the properties of energy in its various forms as well as other thermodynamic
properties of systems from both macroscopic and microscopic viewpoints. Course topics include
thermal equilibrium, equivalence of heat and work, laws of thermodynamics, thermodynamic potentials,
entropy, phase changes, adiabatic lapse rate, heat engines, Carnot cycles, efficiency, equations of state,
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van der Waals fluids, fundamentals of statistical mechanics, equipartition, ensemble averaging,
Boltzmann statistics, interacting systems, and chemical thermodynamics.
PHYS 310 Environmental Physics Lab (new)
Prerequisites: One of PHYS 210, 211; OR STAT 205 AND one of CHEM 200, CHEM 201, CHEM 206, CHEM
211, BIOL 203, BIOL 208, BIOL 214, BIOL 215
Students will independently pursue a number of open-ended experiments, relevant to Clean Technology
and Environmental Science, to investigate a phenomenon as far as desired or as time permits. The
methods and procedures of experimental physics are emphasized. Students will perform four
experiments from a list of prepared experiments and independently develop one new experiment of
their own conception.
SCI 100 Explorations in Science (new)
This course uses guest speakers, videos and field trips to provide students with an orientation to a
career as an applied scientist with a focus on life sciences, clean technology and data science.
SCI 400 Research Project (new)
Prerequisite: 12 credits of 300-level or higher coursework in science
Working in multidisciplinary teams, students complete a scientific research project on a topic they select
from a set of approved available options. Weekly seminar meetings address each stage of the research
process and involve faculty lead discussions, student presentations and opportunities for teams to
receive peer feedback and guidance from faculty advisors.
STAT 101 Introduction to Statistics
Prerequisites: Math Placement Test (MPT); or MATH 097; or MATH 091 or BMTH 043 with a minimum C+
grade; or MATH 096 or BMTH 044 with a minimum C- grade; or MATH 123 or BMTH 048 or Pre-calculus
11 or Principles of Math 11 or Foundations of Math 11 or Applications of Math 11 with a minimum C
grade
An introduction to the language of statistics and some statistical methods, including random variables
and their distribution; random sampling, normal distribution, estimation of parameters and testing
hypotheses.
STAT 205 Introduction to Probability and Statistics
Prerequisites: MATH 126 with a minimum C- grade
A calculus-based study of probability, discrete and continuous random variables, mathematical
expectation, moment generating functions, Central Limit Theorem, sampling from normal populations,
confidence intervals, hypothesis testing.
STAT 305 Introduction to Data Science (new)
Prerequisites: COMP 215 and one of STAT 101, LBST 201, BADM 210, PSYC 213 or TOUR 350
This course introduces modern tools and techniques used for manipulation, analysis and visualization of
data using software. Students will study regression models to make predictions and analyze the
relationship between variables. Students will gain hands-on experience visualizing, analyzing, and
interpreting data from multiple disciplines such as social sciences, life sciences, physical sciences,
economics, education, and engineering.
.
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STAT 310 Design and Analysis of Experiments (new)
Prerequisites: STAT 101, LBST 201, BADM 210, PSYC 213 or TOUR 350.
This course gives a practical introduction to experimental designs. Students will design single-factor and
factorial experiments. Students will analyze the effect of each factor as well as the interaction effect
among factors. Commonly used statistical tests such as t-tests and ANOVAs will be used for analyzing
the data. Students will gain hands-on experience applying statistical techniques to real-world data from
multiple disciplines such as social sciences, life sciences, physical sciences, economics, education, and
engineering.

5. Learning Methodologies and Program Delivery
The B.Sc. General incorporates a variety of learning methodologies and delivery in a carefully structured
program. The majority of instruction will consist of face-to-face lectures and experiential laboratory and
field-based classes. Our science programs are lab-intensive, and have labs associated with most 100 and
200-level science courses. Upper-level labs will be offered in several key courses that will prepare
students with the technical knowledge and skill they will need for their fourth-year research project.
Experiential learning is a required component of all baccalaureate degree programs at Capilano
University, through the Cap Core general education curriculum, which requires at least 3 credits in the
degree program to be designated Experiential. For the B.Sc. General, all students will take SCI 400
Research Project. Designed as a simulated work experience, students will work in multidisciplinary
teams to solve realistic problems or design novel projects. In addition to giving students an opportunity
to apply the science they have learned in other courses, the research project course will emphasize
teamwork, leadership, and communication skills. It will be closely integrated with a capstone course, in
which each student will write an individual senior thesis, based on the research project, and integrating
the work they have done over the entire program.
6. Admission and Transfer/Residency
Program Admission Requirements
• BC Secondary School graduation (Grade 12) or equivalent.
• A minimum GPA of 2.0 (60%) calculated on English 12 or English 12 First Peoples and two
academic Grade 12 courses.
• Capilano University English Language Requirement for students whose primary language is not
English: Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL): paper=560, internet=83, or English
Language Assessment (ELA)=145, or International English Language Testing System (Academic
IELTS)=6.5 overall, and no one score less than 6, or Canadian Academic English Language
Assessment (CAEL)=70, or Pearson Test of English (PTE Academic)=56 or Capilano University EAP
100 and 101 with a minimum B+ grade in each course.
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•
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Pre-calculus 11 with a minimum A grade; or Pre-calculus 12 with a minimum C+ grade; or Math
Placement Test (Pre-calculus MPT); or MATH 097 or MATH 096 with a minimum C- grade; or
BMTH 044 with a minimum B grade.
Chemistry 11; or CHEM 030; or CHEM 130; or BCHM 044.
One course from one of the following disciplines, with a minimum grade of C+:
Biology: Anatomy and Physiology 12; or BIOL 104; or BIOL 106 and BIOL 107; or BBIO 054
Chemistry: Chemistry 12; or CHEM 101; or BCHEM 054
Physics: Physics 12; or PHYS 104; or BPHYS 054

Transfer, Prior Learning Assessment, and Residency
Students who transfer to Capilano University may apply a maximum of 60 transfer credits toward the
degree, and must meet the residency requirement of 50% of the 120 credits taken at Capilano
University. Transfer students must meet all Capilano University graduation requirements. Students may
also apply for an assessment of prior learning. See Appendix E for relevant policies (S2013-01 Transfer
Credit, S2017-04 Graduation).
7. Faculty
As a multidisciplinary program the B.Sc. General will involve faculty and staff from all departments in the
School of STEM. The School includes 6 departments (Biology, Chemistry, Computing and Data Science,
Engineering, Mathematics and Statistics, and Physics) and 41 faculty (instructors and laboratory
supervisors), 28 of whom have PhDs. See Appendix H for faculty CVs.
We anticipate approximately 200-250 students enrolling in the program, based on current enrolment in
School of STEM programs, and surveys of current students. We expect most students who currently
enrol in Associate of Science and Sciences General programs to enrol in the B.Sc. General once it
becomes available.
The B.Sc. General will require the development and implementation of a selection of upper-level
courses from all departments. To meet expected demand we plan to hire the equivalent of three fulltime faculty. Policies regarding faculty credentials (S2006-02 Educational Qualifications for Instructors),
workloads (Article 6 CFA Collective Agreement), evaluation (Section 11.5 CFA Collective Agreement), and
academic freedom (S2003-01 Academic Freedom) can be found in Appendix E.
8. Program Resources
The target implementation date is September 2020. Existing library, classroom, laboratory, and
computing resources are sufficient for the first several years of program implementation.
The School of STEM currently offers first and second-year laboratory courses in applied science
(engineering), biology, chemistry, and physics. Our laboratory facilities are well-equipped for running
labs in subjects ranging from optics and electronics, through organic and analytical chemistry, to
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molecular and microbiology. The applied science lab has three 3-D printers, and equipment for building
projects such as a drill press and laser cutter. The physics lab has oscilloscopes and equipment for
performing experiments in mechanics, optics, and electronics. Our chemistry and biology labs have a gas
chromatograph, atomic absorption, infrared and UV-visible spectrophotometers, PCR machines and
equipment for performing gel electrophoresis. Our biology facilities also include equipment for cell
culture and microbiological experiments, including a biosafety cabinet.
Implementation of the B.Sc. General will require some enhancement of library holdings and
subscriptions. The resources identified in the Library Impact Assessment (Appendix I) will bring Capilano
University into alignment with comparable institutions in the province. The program will require
resources that span a wide range of STEM disciplines. The same resources will be used for the proposed
majors.
9. Program Consultation
Support for and interest in the program were assessed through consultation with other BC universities,
potential employers of program graduates, and current Capilano University students. Details are
provided in Appendix J.
A summary of this proposal was sent to representatives of five BC universities, twenty-three businesses
in the lower mainland, and one non-profit organization (GenomeBC). The business representatives were
also invited to complete an on-line survey. Responses were generally very positive. Responses will be
included in Appendix J as they are received.
In spring 2019 we conducted an online survey of students in a selection of courses in biology, chemistry,
computing science, mathematics, and physics courses. Of the 68 students who completed the survey,
the respondents indicated strong interest in and support for a B.Sc. General degree. When asked if they
would have chosen this degree, had it been available at the time they enrolled at Capilano University, 28
students (41%) said they would have chosen it as their first choice, 32 students (47%) said they would
have chosen it as their second choice, and only 8 students (12%) said they would not have chosen it.
10. Program Review and Assessment
Capilano University’s commitment to ongoing quality improvements is demonstrated in both our
Program Review Policy B.106 and Procedure B.106-01 (Appendix E), which requires that all academic
programs be reviewed every five years. The Vice-President, Academic and Provost is responsible for
maintaining a list of programs scheduled for review. Program review provides ongoing improvement
through in-depth self-reflection, formative and summative feedback, and internal and external peer
review. Program reviews consist of the composition of the Self-Study Report; an external review of the
program including a scheduled site visit and formal report with findings and recommendations; an
action plan to implement the recommendations; an institutional response; and approval of the Program
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Review Package presented to the Senate Academic Planning and Program Review Committee, outlined
in Appendix E - Senate Policy S2011-01 Senate Academic Planning and Review Committee.
To fulfill both internal and external accrediting or professional association standards for quality
improvement, all academic programs measure student achievement of program learning outcomes as
part of an annual program assessment process. The process involves articulating what knowledge and
skills students are expected to achieve upon graduating from a program, measuring student learning
against defined benchmarks and using the results to inform action plans to improve curriculum and
pedagogy. Programs submit assessment plans/reports to their dean each year for review and feedback.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 9.2: BACHELOR OF HUMAN KINETICS FULL PROGRAM PROPOSAL (STAGE 2)
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Dr. Laureen Styles, Vice President Academic & Provost
PURPOSE
To seek Board of Governors approval for the Bachelor of Human Kinetics Full Program Proposal (Stage
2).
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION
Capilano University’s two priorities are to build capacity and increase the number of students enrolled in
courses and programs. Considering enrolment trends over the last three years, continuing to focus on
enhancing domestic student enrolment is particularly warranted. The Faculty of Global and Community
Studies is proposing a Bachelor of Human Kinetics (BHK). This program builds upon our successful two
year diploma program and offers students an opportunity to complete their degree at the university, as
well as another option for students from other institutions to transfer to the university for the degree.
The extent of the integration of experiential learning and Inter-professional learning, as well as the
consistently small class sizes, are distinguishing elements of the BHK. The primary focus of the degree is
to provide the health and social benefit of reducing the prevalence of chronic health conditions.
Secondarily, the program provides the academic and practical competences for graduates to contribute
to the economic benefits of decreased health-care costs and complement the health human resources
of the province through graduate who are skilled health professionals.
PROCESS
New degree program development is a staged process with multiple steps of academic consultation,
input and review. The first step is the Concept Paper, then Stage 1 (basic outline and labour market
analysis), followed by Stage 2 (full proposal). Established university policy and procedure guide this
process and includes substantive consultation, extensive internal peer review (Faculty, Senate subcommittees, Academic Leadership Council, and Senate), and opportunities for external review. There
are two stages for Board review and approval, based on recommendations from Senate – at Stage 1 and
Stage 2. Additionally, there is Ministry review and approvals at both stages. Once the Minister approves
(after external review with Stage 2), Capilano University can begin the implementation process of a new
program. A sustainability plan was submitted with the Stage 1 proposal, and the new degree budget
proposal will be included in the annual integrated planning process, then rolled up into the steps with
the 2020-2021 budget process.
POLICY
According to B.106.2 Program Approval Procedures, “the Board of Governors has the final authority to
implement any proposed program. The Board will make its determination based on the following
criteria. That the program:
• has completed the University approval process;
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•
•
•

is consistent with the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training approval process;
is in alignment with the University’s current academic and strategic plans; and,
will contribute to the fulfillment of the University’s mission and goals.”

If the Board of Governors approves the proposed program at Stage 2, the Vice-President Academic and
Provost will submit the proposed program to the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training
who has the authority to approve new degrees.
With Stage 2 proposal approval by the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training, the VicePresident Academic and Provost will inform the Board, Senate, Dean, and the developers of the
decision. The Dean can then coordinate implementation of the degree, aligned with the annual
integrated planning process.
RECOMMENDATION
At the June 5, 2019 meeting of Senate, this Stage 2 proposal was reviewed and Senate recommended
the following motion:
THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Human Kinetics Full Program Proposal (Stage 2),
as presented, for Minister of Advanced Education, Skills, and Training approval.
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1. Executive Summary
Overview of Capilano’s History, Mission, and Goals
Capilano University was founded in 1968 as a community college and in 2008 became a special purpose
teaching university, which sets its policies in accordance with the University Act of British Columbia.
Currently enrolling approximately 8,300 students in for-credit courses, it serves the geographic region of
the North Shore and the Howe Sound communities of Squamish, Whistler, Mount Currie, and Pemberton,
and has a regional campus, the kálax-ay Sunshine Coast campus, in Sechelt.
The University is named after Chief Joe Capilano, an important leader of the Squamish (Sḵwx̱wú7mesh)
Nation of the Coast Salish people. Our campuses are located on the traditional and ancestral territory of the
Squamish, Tsleil-Waututh, Musqueam, Lil’wat and Sechelt (shíshálh) Nations.
Capilano’s mandate as a special purpose teaching university is to provide the North Shore, Sea-to-Sky and
Sunshine Coast regions with a comprehensive range of credentials that are relevant and transformative for
individual students, local communities, and global citizenship. It has particular commitments to Indigenous
education, working with local First Nations communities, and developing a balanced approach to
international education (Mark, Melanie, 2019).
Its status as a special purpose teaching institution mandates that it have strong commitment to the quality
of teaching, to student success, and to the student experience, which figure largely in the development of
new credentials. The University’s academic goals are stated in the Strategic Plan (see Appendix 1) and the
Institutional Learning Outcomes can be found in Appendix 2.

Proposed Credential
Bachelor of Human Kinetics with a Concentration in Exercise Science
Bachelor of Human Kinetics with a Concentration in Health Promotion

Location
These will be offered primarily at the North Vancouver campus

Faculty/School
Faculty of Global and Community Studies, School of Human Kinetics.

Anticipated Program Start Date
September 2021.

Anticipated Completion
To be completed in 8 semesters full-time but also accommodating part-time study.
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Summary of program
Program Objectives: The aim of the Bachelor of Human Kinetics (BHK) is to graduate students who will
work to decrease the societal burden of chronic disease by promoting and supporting healthy lifestyles.
Students will specialize in one of two concentrations: exercise science or health promotion. Exercise science
graduates will develop knowledge and skills necessary to work in health and fitness,
coaching, therapy, and in clinical settings. Students in health promotion will develop specialized knowledge
and skills that focus on health policy, behaviour change principles, and the social determinants of health in
community settings. A foundational element of the program is to create a learning environment that
provides experiential and interprofessional learning 1 in classroom, laboratory, and field study
environments.
Alignment with Capilano University Mandate and Strategic Plan: The BHK advances Capilano University’s
mandate as a special purpose teaching university that provides a range of academic programs, including
baccalaureate degrees. Serving the North Shore, Sea-to-Sky Corridor, and the Sunshine Coast, the
University’s goal is to provide a high-quality education that prioritizes student success. BHK graduates will
be job ready professionals who possess the competencies required to be successful in the workplace and as
citizens in the broader community.
Student Learning Outcomes and Curriculum Design: Creation of the BHK student learning outcomes and
associated curriculum were driven by findings from consultations. The outcomes address two key themes:
expertise and career. Outcomes in the expertise theme are purposefully designed to ensure the acquisition
of field-specific knowledge leading to development of required competencies (PLO 2,3,4,5). Outcomes in
the career theme ensure that students are job ready once they graduate (PLO 1, 6 and 7). Field experience
is required for degree completion. The purpose of the field experience is to provide a learning opportunity
that helps students crystalize their vocational goals and prepares them for entry into the work force.
A critical review of the curriculum was undertaken to identify alignment with student learning outcomes
(e.g., introduced, reinforced, or mastered). This process helped to ensure content integration, identify gaps
and redundancies in the curriculum, and link learning outcomes across all educational levels. See Appendix
3 for the curriculum map. Upon graduation, BHK graduates will be able to:
1. Communicate effectively as professionals working in the field of human kinetics across a variety of
populations, cultures, and environments;
2. Critically evaluate and interpret rapidly changing health information;
3. Apply acquired knowledge and practical experience to foster healthy public policy and the health of
individuals and communities;
4. Assess, design, and implement programs to facilitate healthy living;
5. Utilize technological innovations in the field of human kinetics;
6. Demonstrate industry-specific ethics, best practices, professional behaviour, and cultural safety;
and
7. Acquire and refine job-ready knowledge, skills, and attitudes through experiential,
interprofessional, and self-directed learning.
1

IPL definition- “learning occurs when students from two or more professions learn about, from and with each other to enable effective
collaboration and improve health outcomes" (World Health Organization, 2010).
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Employment Prospects for Graduates and Opportunities for Further Study: The health and social
assistance industry is one of four industries with the greatest number of projected openings in BC over the
next decade, largely due to the increasing burden of chronic disease and the aging BC population (BC
Ministry of Jobs, Tourism & Skills Training and Ministry Responsible for Labour, 2017). BHK graduates will
be employable for various in-demand roles in health fields, including health policy researchers or officers;
professional occupations in therapy and assessment; recreation, sports, and fitness service directors; and
program instructors. Across these occupations, over 18,000 job openings are expected between 2019 and
2025 in British Columbia alone (BC Labour Market Outlook, 2018). Many graduates of the BHK will pursue
graduate studies at other institutions for advanced studies in health-related fields such as medicine,
physiotherapy, chirotherapy and public health.
Delivery Methods: Teaching will be provided in person and by distance. Proposed courses include
seminars, lectures, laboratories, and field studies. Experiential learning and interprofessional learning are
woven throughout all four years of study. In their final two years, students expand their learning through 3credit courses in field studies.
Program Strengths: Requirements for experiential and interprofessional learning are distinguishing
elements of the degree. Beginning in the second year, students are exposed to a variety of health
professions and career preparation skills. With further refinement of these capabilities, students embark on
field studies that give them the opportunity to experience firsthand some of the careers they are interested
in pursuing.
In addition, the degree directly reflects the provincial government’s preventive health strategies, which
advocate for “prevention and early treatment for all health issues” (BC NDP, 2017, p1). Currently, the BC
Ministry of Health is overseeing implementation of the Active People, Active Places: BC Physical Activity
Strategy, which is designed to guide coordinated policies, practices, and programs in physical activity that
will improve the health and well-being of British Columbians (BC Ministry of Health, 2015). Regionally,
Vancouver Coastal Health identifies chronic disease as one of the region’s priority health challenges and is
implementing preventive strategies (active living programs and initiatives) that take a population health
approach to healthy behaviour change. The most recent BC Public Health Officer Annual Report, Taking the
Pulse of the Population: An Update on the Health of British Columbians, calls for targeted health prevention
and promotion programs to reverse the trends of increasing chronic disease (Office of Provincial Health
Officer, 2019). In addition, the Public Health Agency of Canada, recently released A common vision for
increasing physical activity and reducing sedentary living in Canada: Let’s Get Moving, a policy document
focused on increasing physical activity and reducing sedentary living (Public Health Agency of Canada,
2018).
Recognition and Support from other Post-Secondary Institutions, regulatory bodies and transferability:
Support for the degree is strong among representatives from other post-secondary institutions who have
identified the experiential learning and interprofessional learning elements of the BHK as addressing a
significant gap in human kinetics education.
The BHK curriculum is carefully designed to facilitate transferability of course credentials with other
institutions. Analysis of the BC Transfer Guide shows a high degree of transferability of BHK courses. In
addition, the national regulatory body that oversees human kinetics, kinesiology, and physical education
degrees is the Canadian Council of University Physical Education and Kinesiology Administrators (CCUPEKA).
All requirements set forth by this agency are met in the BHK degree.
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Related Programs:
There are other human kinetics and kinesiology programs in the province and while there is some overlap
between the BHK at Capilano University and other BHK related degrees in the province (UBC Okanagan,
Camosun College, University of the Fraser Valley) consultation findings indicate that the overlap is not
concerning because of the high demand for the degree, and because the degrees each have unique
elements.

Contact Information
Brad Martin, Dean (acting)
Faculty of Global and Community Studies
E: bradmartin@capilanou.ca
T: 604.990.7982
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2. Degree Level Standard
Depth and Breadth of Knowledge
The BHK is a four-year degree (120 credits) that can be taken on a full or part-time basis. The curriculum
enables students to gain comprehensive knowledge in key concepts, principles, and domains related to the
field of human kinetics. In lower level courses (60 credits), students are required to take 42 credits that are
specific to human kinetics. These courses provide foundational content in life, physical, and social sciences
and help build a holistic understanding of key health concepts.
In upper level courses (60 credits), there is greater variability. In the third year, students select their area of
concentration in either exercise science or health promotion. Course work in the concentration allows
students to delve deeper into their area of interest. In the upper level, all students must take 30 credits of
required courses and 30 credits of electives which must include at least 12 credits of non-human kinetics
credits. Course work at the upper level builds on the foundational knowledge developed at the lower level
and allows for more independent work; students accept increasing responsibility for their own learning.
Students also learn how to review, evaluate and interpret information and engage in independent research
in a supervised context at the upper level.
The experiential learning component of the BHK provides additional depth. Beginning in the second year,
students are exposed to a variety of health professions and career preparation skills. With further
refinement of these capabilities, students embark on field studies courses that give them the opportunity
to experience firsthand some of the careers they are interested in.
The aim of the BHK is not only to help students build discipline-specific knowledge, but to ensure students
develop a broad range of skills that allow them to solve problems, make decisions using creative and critical
thinking, and work in collaborative environments. To meet this aim, students must take courses that satisfy
criteria for the University’s Cap Core requirement. Cap Core is a 30-credit interdisciplinary and integrated
program of general education that facilitates student learning the areas of science and technology, creative
and cultural expression, self and society and professional practice, while also ensuring the development of
foundational skills in literacy and numeracy.
Prior to graduation, all students complete a capstone course in which they synthesize the knowledge and
skills they acquired across their years of study into a final project and/or presentation that demonstrates
the practical application of their acquired knowledge.

Knowledge, Methodologies, and Research
Opportunities to develop research skills are provided throughout the BHK curriculum through specific
courses in health research methods and data analysis. In addition, the BHK curriculum allows for significant
opportunity to solve problems using established techniques in the field of human kinetics in areas such as
clinical assessment, community health, and movement analysis. Through this work, students are required
to assess situations and devise approaches that address health needs at an individual and community level.

Application of Knowledge
Throughout the degree students will have opportunities to synthesize theoretical and discipline-specific
knowledge to solve problems and create solutions that prevent and decrease the prevalence of chronic
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health conditions. Students evaluate human movement science and health information and use a range of
practical applications to solve problems in the core areas of exercise prescription, leadership, human
movement, and individual and community health. Experiential course work links classroom learning with
practical application. The capstone project requires students to integrate knowledge, skills, and values
developed during their academic career to demonstrate their learning.

Communication Skills
The ability to communicate relevant information to a wide range of audiences is vital for BHK graduates.
Students develop and refine their skills related to written and oral communication, problem solving, and
evaluating and constructing knowledge in multiple ways, both within and outside the classroom (the latter
through experiential learning and field placements). Curriculum mapping indicates that the majority of
courses in the BHK curriculum address the program learning outcomes related to communication (PLO #1
and #7). Students also develop an understanding of the complex role of communication through two
communications courses: CMNS 220 Advanced Business Writing and Editing, and CMNS 355 Intercultural
Communications.

Awareness of Limits of Knowledge
Throughout the four-year curriculum, students are encouraged to acknowledge the ambiguity that exists in
the realm of knowledge and how this might influence the ways in which they interpret and utilize existing
health knowledge or newly acquired information. This level of awareness is particularly important in the
field of human kinetics as health information is rapidly changing and data can also be ambiguous due to
variability in definition and measurement of certain health concepts.

Professional Capacity Autonomy
The BHK creates job-ready professionals who possess the skills required to work in the field. The curriculum
provides numerous opportunities for students to prepare themselves professionally (e.g., ethics in health
promotion, career seminar series, career and professional preparation, field studies, and capstone). In
these environments, students learn to work alone and with others while being accountable for their own
actions. BHK graduates may pursue further education in fields such as medicine, physiotherapy, other
clinical professional designations, or public health.
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3. Credential Recognition and Nomenclature
Human kinetics is a degree credential that has been recognized in the Lower Mainland since the mid-1990s
and is well recognized across BC, within Canada, and internationally. The name ‘Bachelor of Human
Kinetics’ was chosen for several reasons. The term ‘human kinetics’ captures the discipline of human
movement and the interdisciplinary nature of the factors that influence human movement and health
which are reflected in the student learning outcomes and curriculum. In addition, consultations indicated
that ‘human kinetics’ is a term widely recognized in the field and human kinetics graduates are valued for
the role they play in enabling people to increase control over and improve their health.
The BHK curriculum is carefully designed to facilitate transferability of courses with other post-secondary
institutions. Analysis of the BC Transfer Guide shows a high degree of transferability of BHK courses (see
Appendix 4 for BHK Degree Course Transferability Table).
Currently, the School of Human Kinetics has a transfer agreement with the University of British Columbia
and Camosun College. The annual British Columbia Physical Education and Kinesiology Administrators –
BCCAT articulation committee meeting provides an opportunity to discuss potential collaboration with
other institutions. Capilano University human kinetics students have an established record of successfully
transferring into other post-secondary institutions with whom Capilano University has no formal transfer
agreements (e.g., University of Toronto, University of Alberta, University of Lethbridge).
The national regulatory body that oversees human kinetics, kinesiology, and physical education degrees is
the Canadian Council of University Physical Education and Kinesiology Administrators (CCUPEKA). All
requirements established by this body are met in the BHK degree. See Appendix 5 for CCUPEKA
requirements.
Certifications strengthen employability and demonstrate the professional expertise of graduates. BHK
graduates have an opportunity to achieve certifications directly through their course work (e.g. National
Coaching Certification Program Fundamental Movement Skills, Concussion Awareness), and once they
complete additional course work and/or exams (e.g. Certified Personal Trainer, Certified Strength and
Conditioning Specialist). Certifications add to the extensive applied and practical experience students gain
throughout the degree. For a listing of certifications available to BHK students see Appendix 6.
Regarding the policy and procedures for notifying students of credential recognition and/or transfer, see
Appendix 7 for Policy S2013-01 Transfer Credit Policy.

4. Curriculum/Program Content
Program Structure and Overview
The four-year BHK is designed to graduate career-ready students with professional expertise in the field of
human kinetics. Throughout the four years, students are required to take 72 human kinetics specific credits
and 48 HKIN or non HKIN credits for a total of 120 credits. A critical review of the curriculum was
undertaken to identify alignment with student learning outcomes (e.g., introduced, reinforced, or
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mastered). This process helped to ensure content integration, identify gaps and redundancies in the
curriculum, and link learning outcomes across all educational levels (see Appendix 3).
In the lower level of study students are introduced to foundational content and key concepts in the field of
human kinetics (42 credits human kinetics course work required). The majority of these human kinetics
courses already exist at the university. Upper level course work builds on this foundational knowledge and
provides for greater depth and breadth of knowledge. The majority of the upper level human kinetics
courses are new to the university.
In the third year, students must declare their specialized concentration – either exercise science or health
promotion. Students in the exercise science concentration will generally work in more clinical settings and
consequently have more upper-level anatomical, physiological, biomechanical, and exercise management
courses. Students in the health promotion concentration will typically work in public or private facilities
whose mandate is to encourage and facilitate healthy lifestyles. Their specialized knowledge and skills focus
on health policy, behaviour change principles, lifestyle medicine, and social determinants of health.

Field Studies
Field studies provide an opportunity to put the learning outcomes into practice. Starting in second year,
students are exposed to a variety of health professions and career preparation skills. By the third year,
students develop greater clarity about the career they would like to enter upon graduation and are ready
for their mandatory field studies (with the option of a second). The mandatory field studies course provides
field experience, which helps students to crystalize their vocational goals. Students will not be paid for their
field studies. The School of Human Kinetics has a wide-ranging network and has fostered strong, local
industry contacts that support this process. Field study supervisors, faculty and students will participate in
evaluation of the students participating in field studies. Students are required to engage in weekly selfreflective journaling, weekly submission of timesheets, goal setting (short and long-term goals), and
submission of midterm and final reports. Supervisors participate in evaluations by responding to
questionnaires and interviews administered by faculty. The Career Development Centre at Capilano
University will support development of the field studies experience.

Table 1: BHK Program Profile2
Note: Students starting in their baccalaureate degree on or after Fall 2018 and graduating on or after June 2022
must meet Cap Core graduation requirements in addition to their program requirements.
Course
Required
Credits
Credits
YEAR ONE – LOWER LEVEL REQUIREMENTS
30
English Requirements
3
ENGL 100
University Writing Strategies
3
HKIN Requirements
18
HKIN 103
Active Health
3
Introduction to Leadership in Health and
HKIN 125
3
Physical Activity (NEW)
HKIN 151
Biomechanics I
3
HKIN 161
Leisure and Sport in Society
3
HKIN 190
Anatomy and Physiology I
3
HKIN 191
Anatomy and Physiology II
3
2

See Appendix 8 for course outlines
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Electives: Choose 3 credits from the HKIN prefix at 100- or 200-level and choose 6 non HKIN
credits at the 100- or 200-level
YEAR TWO– LOWER LEVEL REQUIREMENTS
English Requirements
CMNS 220
Advanced Business Writing and Editing
3
HKIN Requirements
HKIN 230
Human Motor Behaviour
3
HKIN 231
Mental Theories in Sport and Exercise
3
HKIN 261
Health, Policy and Society
3
HKIN 284
Human Growth and Development
3
HKIN 275
Exercise Physiology
3
Human Kinetics Career Seminar Series
HKIN 296
3
(NEW)
Electives: Choose 3 credits from the HKIN prefix at 100- or 200-level and choose 6 non HKIN
credits at 100 level or higher
YEAR THREE AND FOUR - UPPER LEVEL REQUIREMENTS
HKIN Requirements
Research Methods in Human Kinetics
HKIN 301
3
(NEW)
Quantitative Research Methods in Human
HKIN 302
3
Kinetics (NEW)
HKIN 329
Ethics in Human Kinetics (NEW)
3
Career and Professional Preparation
HKIN 396
3
(NEW)
HKIN 397
BHK Field Studies I (NEW)
3
HKIN 499
BHK Capstone (NEW)
3
Note: Students have the option to pursue one of two concentrations each requiring 12 credits
Health Promotion Requirements
CMNS 355
Intercultural Communication (NEW)
3
Leadership in Health and Physical Activity
HKIN 325
3
(NEW)
HKIN 331
Health Behaviour Change (NEW)
3
Health Promotion Planning and Evaluation
HKIN 335
3
(NEW)
or
Exercise Science Requirements
HKIN 317
Lab Techniques in Exercise Science (NEW)
3
HKIN 320
Physiology of Healthy Aging (NEW)
3
HKIN 375
Advanced Exercise Physiology (NEW)
3
Advanced Musculoskeletal Anatomy
HKIN 390
3
(NEW)
Elective: Choose 30 credits which may include HKIN. At least 15 credits must be 300-level or
higher and at least 12 credits must be outside of HKIN.
TOTAL PROGRAM CREDITS
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BHK Calendar Descriptions
(Complete course outlines are available in Appendix 8)
HKIN-103: Active Health
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) 3 hours 15 weeks
This course highlights the role of physical activity and wellness factors in the maintenance of an overall
healthy lifestyle. Specific health behaviours associated with chronic disease will be identified along with
their health outcomes. The health benefits associated with physical activity and healthy lifestyle choices will
be encouraged and behaviour change models considered. Students will apply basic physical fitness
principles, theories, exercise methods and techniques associated with positive health outcomes. Students
will assess, design, and implement personal physical activity and wellness programs using a behavior
change model.
HKIN-112: Health and Human Nutrition
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks
This course is an introduction to fundamental principles related to health and human nutrition. It is
intended to help students understand the foundations of digestion and the functions of nutrients.
Nutritional planning and assessment in the context of national dietary recommendations, and
consequences of deficient or excessive intake of nutrients will also be studied. Through this course,
students will gain an understanding of how food selection can play a role in enhancing or maintaining
health. Students will also develop the ability to discriminate between reliable and unreliable information
about food and nutrition.
HKIN-125: Introduction to Leadership in Health and Physical Activity (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks
This course focuses on understanding self and personal leadership. It covers a broad range of leadership
topics from understanding self and group behavior, to teamwork, organizational design, ethics and change.
HKIN-151: Biomechanics I
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks
This course introduces students to the qualitative and quantitative analysis of human movement. Using
basic principles of physics and math, students will learn to apply kinematic and kinetic analyses to
understand motion. The course also utilizes musculoskeletal anatomy and physiology to describe and
explain movement.
HKIN-161: Leisure and Sport in Society
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks
This course provides an introductory analysis of political, economic and social issues in leisure and sport.
Students will examine present day problems, myths and stereotypes in leisure and sport.
HKIN-162: Contemporary Health Issues (revised – was HKIN-252)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks
This course will provide an examination of lifestyle behaviours in the context of contemporary health
issues. Current health, wellness and behavior change models and frameworks will be reviewed and applied
3

Numbers in brackets refer to #1-hours in classroom, #2-hours in laboratory, #3-hours ‘other’.
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to personal health planning. Topics include: stress management, psychosocial health, physical activity and
healthy eating, chronic disease, alcohol and drug use, personal relationships, infectious diseases, aging and
the environment.
HKIN-190: Anatomy and Physiology I
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks
This course will explore the structure and function of the skeletal, muscular and nervous systems of the
human body. Special emphasis is given to the musculoskeletal system during the laboratory periods and
through the analysis of common movements.
HKIN-191: Anatomy and Physiology II
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 190
This course will examine the anatomy and physiology of the nervous, digestive, urinary, circulatory,
respiratory and endocrine systems of the human body. Some emphasis will be given to the physiological
changes to these systems during exercise.
HKIN-206: Applications of Functional Anatomy (new)
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 190
This course will continue to build on the student’s knowledge gathered in HKIN 190 regarding the make-up
of the human body while investigating the interconnectedness of the muscles, fascia, bones and joints
involved in human movement with regards to exercise performance.
CMNS 220: Advanced Business Writing and Editing
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: ENGL 100
This course focuses on researching, organizing, writing and editing extensive business documents: reports,
proposals, memoranda, and media releases. Emphasis is on clear style and logical organization.
HKIN-225: Aging and Health (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks
The purpose of this course is to enable students to develop a critical understanding of the bio-psychosocial,
economic, and political forces that shape how the health issues of older adults are perceived in Canada. In
particular, how does aging impact the health of older adults? What social factors influence ‘healthy aging’?
What are the central issues/concerns associated with aging and health?
HKIN-230: Human Motor Behavior I
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: English 100
This course examines the processes underlying human movement and the factors influencing acquisition,
performance and movement control during the learning of motor skills. Applications related to motor skill
acquisition and learning are considered as implemented in health, fitness, sport and education settings.
HKIN-231: Mental Theories in Sport and Exercise
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks
The purpose of this course is to review and apply the psychological theories and research related to sport
and exercise behavior. Students design programs implementing skills and strategies for psychological
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interventions. Students observe strategies used for enhancing sport performance, personal growth and
exercise prescription in sport, health, education and fitness environments.
HKIN-241: Care and Prevention of Sports Injuries
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 190 or KIN 142
This course introduces students to the recognition and treatment of common sports injuries. Building on
their knowledge of musculoskeletal anatomy, students will learn how to assess, rehabilitate, and tape or
brace sports injuries to enhance the recovery process and speed healing.
HKIN-261: Health, Policy and Society
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 161
This course is designed as an introduction to the sociology of health and illness. Students will analyze health
policy and the social determinants of health in society using social models and theories as a framework for
understanding. Current health issues and their social influences will be discussed in relation to the overall
population health of Canadians. Students will examine the historical and current context of the Canadian
medical system.
HKIN-275: Exercise Physiology
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 191
This course will explore the acute and chronic effects of exercise on body systems; specifically,
cardiovascular, respiratory and muscular responses to physical activity will be examined.
HKIN-284: Human Growth and Development
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 230
This course is an introduction to human growth and motor development through the lifespan. Students will
gain an understanding of how the human body progresses from prenatal development to old age. The goal
of the course is to give students the foundations to understanding the factors that influence physical,
motor, social and cognitive growth and development. Students will also develop their research and critical
inquiry skills by investigating current issues related to human development.
HKIN-296: Human Kinetics Career Seminar Series (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 21 credits of 100- or 200- level HKIN
This course provides Human Kinetics students the opportunity to hear from, and interact with, current
professionals in the performance, health and wellness industry while refining their presentation and public
speaking skills. Students will be in contact with people from some of the various career paths they may
be interested in pursuing, fostering professional inquiry and opening the door for networking and future
course selection.
HKIN-301: Research Methods in Human Kinetics (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework
This course will introduce students to research methods in Human Kinetics and their practical applications.
Topics covered include: the fundamentals of research design, critical analyses of the literature and
strategies for developing research proposals.
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HKIN-302: Quantitative Research Methods in Human Kinetics (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 301
This course will build upon the knowledge gathered in HKIN 301, and will introduce students to the basic
statistics and methods used in the field of Human Kinetics to quantitatively analyze and interpret data.
HKIN-306: Principles of Strength and Conditioning (revised – was HKIN-205)
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and HKIN
206
This course investigates the theories and applied principles of physical training and conditioning as they
relate to flexibility improvement, muscular strength, endurance and power development. The principles
and training variables of weight and plyometric training will be examined and detailed comparisons of
various weight training programs will be performed.
HKIN-312: Food as Medicine to Prevent and Treat Disease (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework
This course will explore the origins and safety of the food supply, it will progress to discuss the role that
nutrition has in the prevention and treatment of common degenerative diseases. Special emphasis will be
directed toward preventing these chronic conditions and establishing lifelong healthy eating habits.
HKIN-317: Lab Techniques in Exercise Science (new)
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework
This course will introduce students to various techniques, equipment, testing and application of exercise
science in a laboratory setting. Students will learn the background information to the methods in lecture
and then apply what they have learned to the collection of data and present their findings in researchbased laboratory reports.
HKIN-320: Physiology of Healthy Aging (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and HKIN
191
This course is an introduction to the study of aging. The goal of the course is to give students the
foundations to understanding the physical and mental states associated with aging. Through this course,
students will gain an understanding of how the process of aging may impact the quality of life in senescence
and identify factors that may impact interactions with aged individuals.
HKIN-325: Leadership in Health and Physical Activity (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework
This course presents a number of concepts, skills and issues related to effective leadership in health and
physical activity settings including: self-leadership, decision-making, group dynamics, supervision and
teamwork skills. Topics such as leadership perspectives and styles, personal management and building a
culture for success will be covered.
HKIN-329: Ethics in Human Kinetics (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework
This course will explore ethics in sport and professional practice. Ethics specific to Canadian law concerning
consent, record keeping, trust and confidentiality, standards of care and professionalism, beneficence,
negligence and non-maleficence will be considered. Distribution of health care resources and responsibility
of health outcomes will also be examined.
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HKIN-331 Health Behaviour Change (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and PSYC 100
or HKIN 231 or ABA 200
This course is designed to inspire people to adopt new health behaviors. This course specifically focuses on
the central element for change. Students will learn about theories and the complementary behavior change
techniques that have been developed to help change people’s unhealthy behaviors and encourage healthy
choices. Students will critically evaluate the scientific literature and design and implement behavior change
programs developing the practical skills necessary to guide people toward change.
HKIN-335: Health Promotion Planning and Evaluation (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework
This course will provide students with practical and theoretical skills needed to plan, implement and
evaluate health promotion programs in a variety of settings. Physical activity programs will be emphasized.
HKIN-351: Advanced Biomechanics (new)
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and HKIN
151
This course will build on the movement assessment skills introduced in HKIN 151 and further refine
qualitative analysis. Students will analyze human movement to improve performance of a skill or reduce
the risk of injury during movement. This course encourages higher levels of critical thinking such as
synthesis and evaluation, while blending techniques and information from the disciplines of Exercise Rehab,
Exercise Psychology, Exercise Physiology and Motor Control and Learning.
CMNS 355: Intercultural Communication
3.00 Credits (3,0,1) hours 15 weeks
This course examines communication in intercultural contexts, and explores how communication is affected
by divergent value systems, differing levels of technological adaptation, and unequal power configurations.
We will focus on how style and word choice affect the ways that audiences in different cultures respond to
arguments, and the rhetorical strategies for collaborative problem-solving to bridge cultural differences.
HKIN-364: Global Health and Society (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework
This course will illustrate the relationship between socio-economics and health issues within a global
context. The burden of major global health diseases, particularly in the areas of nutrition, communicable,
non-communicable, environmental health and humanitarian crises will be examined. Global health issues
across the lifespan will also be addressed as will foundational topics such as ethics, principles and goals for
global health, health determinants, measurements and trends in health, education, poverty and the
economy.
HKIN-369: Instructional Design for Health and Physical Activity (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework
This course introduces the principles and theories of instructional design within a health and physical
activity context. Through a variety of activities students learn how to assess the instructional environment,
develop an instructional plan, apply specific instructional strategies and evaluate the effectiveness of
instruction.
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HKIN-375: Advanced Exercise Physiology (new)
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and HKIN
275
This course builds on the student’s knowledge of exercise physiology, and promotes theoretical and
practical investigation of advanced exercise physiology in neural, energy, cardiovascular and pulmonary
systems. In addition, students will also have the opportunity to explore physiological changes of exercise in
high altitude, microgravity, thermal stress and diving.
HKIN-390: Advanced Musculoskeletal Anatomy (new)
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and HKIN
191 or BIOL 113
This course will provide students with detailed knowledge of the musculoskeletal system using a
combination of lecture and lab experiences. Emphasis will be placed on axial and appendicular anatomy,
but neural and vascular structures that supply these regions will also be studied. Special emphasis will be
given to the identification and palpation of superficial anatomy when there is clinical or athletic relevance.
HKIN-396: Career and Professional Preparation (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and HKIN
296
This course gives students the opportunity to begin preparation for transition into fieldwork and the job
market. This course focuses on essential facets of career preparation, including interview skills and resume
writing, while introducing students to various protocols, standards and ethics they may encounter in their
chosen career paths.
HKIN-397: BHK Field Studies I (new)
3.00 Credits (2,0,2.67) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 396
This course will provide students with a practical and professional experience in a hands on learning
environment. Students will be able to explore career interests in kinesiology, health sciences, coaching,
health promotion, fitness and health in special populations, etc., while identifying and cultivating skills
associated to the tasks presented in their placements. This course aims to increase student awareness of
organizations operating in their field while enhancing marketability and employability of the student
through networking and professional development.
HKIN-405: Exercise Management in Symptomatic Populations (new)
3.00 Credits (2,2,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 306
This course builds on the student’s knowledge of development of health and wellness program
implementation. The course discusses how theoretical and applied aspects of exercise testing and exercise
prescription must be modified due to the restrictions and/or limitations created by a specific health state.
HKIN-495: Neuro-Motor Movement Control and Rehabilitation (new)
3.00 Credits (4,0,0) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: 45 credits of 100-level or higher coursework and HKIN
284
This course is designed for students who are interested in the neurological and musculoskeletal control of
movement. Students will explore the origins of movement disorders associated with the motor and sensory
system, and injuries related to the brain and spinal cord. This course introduces a range of interventional
strategies and rehabilitation techniques that can be used to restore movement control in a rehabilitation
setting.
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HKIN-497: BHK Field Studies II (new)
3.00 Credits (2,0,2.67) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 397

This course provides students an opportunity to expand their practical and professional experience
in a hands on learning environment. Students will be able to explore career interests in
kinesiology, health sciences, coaching, health promotion, fitness and health in special populations,
etc., while identifying and cultivating skills associated to the tasks presented in their placements.
This course aims to increase student awareness of organizations operating in their field while
enhancing marketability and employability of the student through networking and professional
development.

HKIN-499: BHK Capstone (new)
3.00 Credits (0,0,4) hours 15 weeks | Prerequisite: HKIN 397

This course focuses on providing a summary/reflection of experiences gained during the BHK
Degree. Students will be supervised by a School of Human Kinetics faculty member as they
develop and carry out their activities in the chosen field.
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5. Learning Methodologies/Program Delivery
Student Centred, Experiential, and Interprofessional Learning
Curriculum delivery for the BHK is multi-dimensional. First, the curriculum is based on a student-centred
approach to learning in which the instructor facilitates the student learning experience rather than dictating
how the student will learn.
Second, experiential learning is a cornerstone of the degree and is used in a variety of ways throughout the
curriculum, including the creation of highly engaging and hands-on learning experiences in the classroom,
laboratories, weight rooms, gymnasiums, clinics, local trails, the ocean, and more. This facilitates a deeper
student understanding and appreciation for the field of human kinetics. Indeed, most of the courses in the
BHK curriculum incorporate some type of experiential learning. Students are also required to take a
mandatory field studies course in third year.
Finally, students are introduced to interprofessional learning (IPL) throughout the four-year curriculum. The
learning domains for IPL 4 as specified by the World Health Organization (2010) are as follows: teamwork,
roles and responsibilities, communication, learning and critical reflection, relationship with and recognizing
needs of the patients, and ethical practice. These domains were highlighted by our external consultations
as essential for success in the workplace. Therefore, IPL is an important and critical learning model for our
students that will differentiate them from other graduates.
In preparation for IPL, students are required to take the HKIN 296 Human Kinetics and Health Career
Seminar Series course, which includes a field work phase during which industry professionals present their
pathways to success and explain to students how a background in human kinetics shapes their current
professional practice and the roles and responsibilities associated with their professions. Additionally, a
health professional panel will be established so that students understand how health professions overlap
and collaborate together. This panel will meet with students at the beginning and during the Human
Kinetics and Health Career Seminar Series course. As well, students who have completed their field studies
will have the opportunity to speak to the HKIN 296 students as an industry professional.

Distance Education
Currently one course in the School of Human Kinetics is offered through distance learning (see Appendix 7
for Policy 2013-04 Senate Instructional Technologies Advisory Committee Mandate and Structure).
Additional courses will be offered through distance learning once the degree is implemented.

Lectures, Laboratories, and Tutorials
Lectures employing a range of teaching methods and incorporating experiential learning will be a
prominent feature of the degree program. In addition, laboratories are incorporated into a number of
courses, particularly in the exercise science concentration. Most laboratory classes are taught in the human
kinetics laboratory at Capilano University.

4

IPL definition: “learning occurs when students from two or more professions learn about, from and with each other to enable effective
collaboration and improve health outcomes" (World Health Organization, 2010).
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Community Health Promotion
Once the BHK is successfully established, community health promotion initiatives, such as healthy living
awareness campaigns, will be initiated in local settings (internally at Capilano University and externally) in
collaboration with local community groups and organizations. This provides not only invaluable experiential
learning opportunities for students, but enables the School of Human Kinetics to work collaboratively with
others (academics and community partners) to create innovative health promotion activities and initiatives.

6. Admission and Transfer/Residency
Program Admission Requirements
Students entering the BHK must meet the following criteria:
•

BC secondary school graduation (Grade 12) or equivalent.

•

A minimum grade point average of 2.0 (60%) calculated on English 12 or English 12 First
Peoples and two academic Grade 12 courses; and a minimum C in Math 11 (Principles of Math
or Foundations of Math) or pass in Pre-calculus 11; and a pass in Biology 12.

•

Capilano English Language Requirement for students whose primary language is not English:
Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL): paper=560, internet=83, or English Language
Assessment (ELA)=145, or International English Language Testing System (Academic IELTS)=6.5
overall, and no one score less than 6, or Canadian Academic English Language Assessment
(CAEL)=70. Test of English (PTE Academic) = 56 or Capilano University EAP 100 and 101 with a
minimum B+ grade in each course.

Two reference names and a letter of interest giving reasons why the applicant is interested in
the study of human kinetics and a brief description of career goals.
For Capilano University’s principles and regulations for admission of applicants to credit programs see
Appendix 7 (S2019-01-Admissions).
•

Transfer Students
Students transferring to Capilano University may be eligible for a maximum of 60 transfer credits toward
the BHK. Most program courses have been designed to be readily transferable within the BCCAT system.
For details see Appendix 7 (S2013-01 Transfer credit) for the university’s policies and practices on assigning
transfer credit.

Residency Requirements
Students in the program have a residency requirement of 50% of the 120-degree credits. See Appendix 7
(S2017-04 Graduation) for the university policy on residency.
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7. Faculty
Faculty and Staff Required Projections
Instructional Projections
Currently, the Human Kinetics Diploma (2018/2019) has 5.0 FTE faculty positions. The number of
instructional faculty required for the degree will be 8.52 FTE. These additional sections can be taught by
current part-time faculty members as well as newly hired faculty members (see Appendix 9 for Faculty
Curriculum Vitae). In addition, there will be a requirement for 1.75 FTE non-instructional faculty positions
(currently .37 non-instructional FTE). This includes coordinator, convenor and field placement positions.
The required administrative staffing position to support the degree is 2.5 FTE. Currently the Human Kinetics
Diploma is approved for 1.0 FTE administrative position.
As per the Capilano University’s hiring policy, the minimum academic qualifications for faculty hiring will be
a master’s degree in human kinetics or related field with post-secondary teaching experience. A PhD in a
relevant discipline is preferred for teaching the upper-level courses.
For policies on the academic credentials of faculty (Policy S2006-02 Educational Qualifications for
Instructors), see Appendix 7.
For Policies regarding academic freedom (Policy S2003-01 Academic Freedom); performance evaluations
(Section 11.5 CFA Collective Agreement); teaching loads and professional development (Article 6 CFA
Collective Agreement), see Appendix 7.

Enrolment Plan
The projected enrolment in the BHK will be approximately 80 new students per year, beginning each fall
semester (see Table 2 below). Based on current history, attrition is expected to be 15 to 20 per cent
between each year. Transfer students are also anticipated to join the program, particularly in the second
and third year.

Table 2: BHK Projected Student Enrolment
Academic Year
Cohort Year

2020/2021

2021/22*

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

1st Year

80

80

80

80

80

2nd Year

64

64

64

64

64

51

51

51

51

41

41

41

3rd Year
4th Year
Transfer Students
Total Students

0

5

10

10

10

144

200

246

246

246

*Implementation of degree
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8. Program Resources
Capilano University and the School of Human Kinetics has the majority of resources required to implement
the BHK and the program can be launched with little direct cost.
•

The Library Impact Assessment identified additional funding required to support the degree
which will be absorbed through the existing operational budget (see Appendix 10 Resources
(Library Impact Assessment)).

•

The School of Human Kinetics currently has a dedicated classroom.

•

There is one dedicated laboratory space for human kinetics. However, with implementation of
the degree, the space will need to be expanded to incorporate the increased number of
students, laboratory-based courses, and new equipment. Discussions are currently underway
with internal stakeholders regarding expansion within the existing infrastructure at the
University.

•

Currently, the School of Human Kinetics shares gymnasium and weight room space with the
Centre for Sport and Wellness. However, implementation of the degree will place greater stress
on these facilities and additional discussions will be required to ensure needs of all
stakeholders can be met.

•

Additional resources, largely analysis and lab equipment, will be required to implement the
degree.

Implementation
The School of Human Kinetics will implement the BHK at Capilano University in the Fall of 2021. The
anticipated start date provides sufficient time to recruit 80 students into the degree and the School of
Human Kinetics will work closely with the registrars office on student recruitment.

9. Program Consultation
Consultation with a broad range of stakeholders was conducted in 2017 (n=91). The participant list and
findings from these consultations can be found in the BHK Stage 1 document. To ensure findings were still
relevant, additional consultations were conducted in 2019 (n=36). Consultation participants included: 1)
external stakeholders 2) BHK Degree Development Committee, and 3) representatives of related Capilano
University departments.
1) External Stakeholders: Consultations were undertaken with external stakeholders who participated in
the 2017 consultation to ensure findings were still relevant (n=16) and new consultees (n=12). Those
consulted represented employer groups, government, professional associations, certification bodies,
academic and post-secondary institutions, BC Council on Admissions and Transfer (BCCAT) articulation
committee, and health and post-secondary organizations outside of BC.

Questions focused on:
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•
•
•
•
•

Relevance of 2017 findings
Required skills and competencies required of BHK graduates
Job opportunities and opportunities for field placements
Alignment between learning outcomes and needs in the field
Support for the BHK

The findings from the 2019 consultations mirrored the findings from the 2017 consultations which
advocated for experiential learning opportunities, including field experience; broad health focus; and
interprofessional learning opportunities. Opportunities for professional certifications, education in business
and marketing, and awareness of and education in intercultural communication were also highlighted.
Respondents remained very supportive of a BHK at Capilano University.
Those consulted also agreed that there is a spectrum of careers available for BHK graduates. Graduates
from the health promotion concentration will work in professions that focus on active living and lifestyle
management at an individual and community level, particularly in populations that experience
disproportionate rates of preventable diseases and adverse health conditions. Exercise science graduates
will pursue employment in clinical, rehabilitative, sports performance, fitness, and wellness settings.
A list of external stakeholders consulted and discussion questions can be found in Appendix 11.
2) BHK Degree Development Committee: A BHK Degree Development Committee, comprised of employer
groups, post-secondary institutions, and students was formed and met in person once. Some committee
members were also consulted individually throughout the degree development phase (n=7).
Questions used to frame discussions for both groups focused on:
•

Credential (i.e., recognition of credential and contribution of credential to professional
advancement);

•

Curriculum (i.e., alignment between student learning outcomes and the current state of
necessary knowledge in the field, alignment of curriculum with student learning outcomes, and
competencies required of BHK graduates);

•

Overlap with existing post-secondary programs (i.e., is there overlap); and

•

Field placements (i.e., opportunities for field placements in the field).

There was agreement among committee members that while there is overlap between the BHK at Capilano
University and other BHK related degrees in the province (UBC Okanagan, Camosun College, University of
the Fraser Valley) the overlap is not concerning because of the high demand for the degree, and because
the degrees each have unique elements.
Committee members provided suggestions for course curriculum and commented on alignment between
curriculum and student learning outcomes. The importance of intercultural communication was highlighted
by many committee members, as was Indigenization of the curriculum. Both are woven throughout HKIN
course content. Overall, committee members believed there was alignment between curriculum and
student learning outcomes.
There was also discussion about whether or not the name of the BHK credential is recognizable and there
were differing opinions (some suggesting it is and others suggesting it is not). This discussion is also
ongoing in the field with little conclusion. In the end, the name ‘human kinetics’ was chosen because it
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captures the discipline of human movement and the interdisciplinary nature of the factors that influence
human movement and health (i.e. social determinants of health).
Finally, committee members were in strong support of the work-integrated learning component of the
curriculum, but commented on the challenges associated with field placements and cautioned about
ensuring adequate resources to support this component of the program (i.e. a field placement coordinator).
Provisions have been made for a full-time field coordinator to oversee the field placements. In addition, the
Career Development Centre at Capilano University will support development of the field placement
experience.
A list of BHK Development Committee members and discussion questions can be found in Appendix 11.
3) Internal Capilano University Departments: In 2017, 6 representatives from Capilano University
departments were consulted. Seven additional representatives from Capilano University departments were
consulted in 2019 in order to gather input about the BHK and, in some instances, discuss curriculum
development. In particular, discussion with these stakeholders centred on overlap of efforts, opportunities
for collaboration in course offerings, and other joint ventures. Overall, there was strong support among this
group for the BHK, and numerous opportunities for collaboration were highlighted.
A list of consultees can be found in Appendix 10.

10. Program Review and Assessment
Capilano University’s commitment to ongoing quality improvements is demonstrated in both our Policy
B.106 Program and Course Review and Approval and Procedure B.106-01 Program Review (see Appendix 7),
which requires a review of all academic programs every five years, in accord with Degree Quality
Assessment Board’s Quality Assurance Process Audit and our Northwest Commission on Colleges and
Universities (NWCCU) accreditation status. The Vice-President Academic and Provost is responsible for
maintaining a list of programs scheduled for review. Program review provides ongoing improvement
through in-depth self-reflection, formative and summative feedback, and internal and external peer
review. Program reviews consist of the composition of the Self-Study Report; an external review of the
program including a scheduled site visit and formal report with findings and recommendations; an action
plan to implement the recommendations; an institutional response; and approval of the Program Review
Package presented to the Senate Academic Planning and Program Review Committee, outlined in Appendix
7 - Policy S2011-01 Senate Academic Planning and Review Committee.
To fulfill both internal and external accrediting or professional association standards for quality
improvement, all academic programs measure student achievement of program learning outcomes as part
of an annual program assessment process. The process involves articulating what knowledge and skills
students are expected to achieve upon graduating from a program, measuring student learning against
defined benchmarks and using the results to inform action plans to improve curriculum and pedagogy.
Programs submit assessment plans/reports to their dean each year for review and feedback.

CAPILANO UNIVERSITY Full Program Proposal: Bachelor of Human Kinetics
Page 129 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

23

Sch 9.2

Bachelor of Human Kinetics
May 28, 2019

References
BC Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training & Ministry Responsible for Labour (2017). Labour Market
Outlook 2025 Edition. Victoria, BC: BC Government. Retrieved from:
https://www.welcomebc.ca/getmedia/84455037-46db-4189-a219-4d8b4eca0841/report_2025-bclabour-market-outlook.pdf.aspx
BC Labour Market Outlook (2018). Retrieved from https://www.workbc.ca/getmedia/1dce90f9-f2f9-4ecab9e5-c19de9598f32/BC_Labour_Market_Outlook_2018_English.pdf.aspx
British Columbia Ministry of Health (2015). Active People, Active Places: British Columbia Physical Activity
Strategy. Retrieved from: https://www.health.gov.bc.ca/library/publications/year/2015/activepeople-active-places-web-2015.pdf
BC NDP (2017). Working for You: Our Commitment to Build a Better BC. 2017 BC NDP Platform. Retrieved
from: https://action.bcndp.ca/page/-/bcndp/docs/BC-NDP-Platform-2017.pdf
Mark, Melanie. BC Ministry of Health Mandate Letter. Message from Melanie Mark to Soon Kim. February
28, 2019. Letter
Office of the Provincial Health Officer (2019). Taking the Pulse of the Population: An Update on the Health
of British Columbians. Public Health Officer Annual Report. Retrieved from:
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/health/about-bc-s-health-care-system/office-of-the-provincialhealth-officer/reports-publications/annual-reports/pho-annual-report-2019.pdf
Public Health Agency of Canada (2018). A common vision for increasing physical activity and reducing
sedentary living in Canada: Let’s Get Moving. ISBN: 9780660088594.
World Health Organization (2010). Framework for Action on Interprofessional Education & Collaborative
Practice. WHO/HRH/HPN/10.3. Retrieved from:
http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/70185/1/WHO_HRH_HPN_10.3_eng.pdf?ua=1

CAPILANO UNIVERSITY Full Program Proposal: Bachelor of Human Kinetics
Page 130 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

24

Sch 9.3

BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 9.3 : Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English; Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English
(Honours); Minor in English; Minor in Creative Writing; Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English,
Creative Writing Concentration Full Program Proposal (Stage 2)
PURPOSE:
Approval
Information
Discussion
MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Dr. Laureen Styles, Vice President Academic & Provost
PURPOSE
To seek Board of Governors approval for the Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English Full Program
Proposal (Stage 2).
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION
Capilano University’s two priorities are to build capacity and increase the number of students enrolled in
courses and programs. The Faculty of Arts & Sciences is proposing a Bachelor of Arts with a Major in
English, Honours in English, a Minor in English, a Minor in Creative Writing and a Concentration in
Creative Writing. This program is intended to create a range of English program options within the BA
framework. The Major targets students with diverse backgrounds and interests who seek careers in, for
example, teaching, writing and editing for both print and web publications, management, advertising,
and academia, or who wish a versatile foundation degree. It also prepares students for graduate
opportunities (Masters and above) in a wide range of professional fields. In this climate, the Major is a
potential pathbreaker with its dual emphasis on foundational skills in critical thinking, research, and
literary analysis, as well as on innovative and applied techniques for both responding to and shaping the
world with words.
PROCESS
New degree program development is a staged process with multiple steps of academic consultation,
input and review. The first step is the Concept Paper, then Stage 1 (basic outline and labour market
analysis), followed by Stage 2 (full proposal). Established university policy and procedure guide this
process and includes substantive consultation, extensive internal peer review (Faculty, Senate subcommittees, Academic Leadership Council, and Senate), and opportunities for external review. There
are two stages for Board review and approval, based on recommendations from Senate – at Stage 1 and
Stage 2. Additionally, there is Ministry review and approvals at both stages. Once the Minister approves
(after external review with Stage 2), Capilano University can begin the implementation process of a new
program. A sustainability plan was submitted with the Stage 1 proposal, and the new degree budget
proposal will be included in the annual integrated planning process, then rolled up into the steps with
the 2020-2021 budget process or 2021-2022 based on final approval dates and when actual
implementation is realistic.
POLICY
According to B.106.2 Program Approval Procedures, “the Board of Governors has the final authority to
implement any proposed program. The Board will make its determination based on the following
criteria. That the program:
Page 131 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

Sch 9.3

•
•
•
•

has completed the University approval process;
is consistent with the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training approval process;
is in alignment with the University’s current academic and strategic plans; and,
will contribute to the fulfillment of the University’s mission and goals.”

If the Board of Governors approves the proposed program at Stage 2, the Vice-President Academic and
Provost will submit the proposed program to the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training
once Stage 1 approval has been granted, recognizing that the Minister has final approval of the
proposed degree.
With Stage 2 proposal approval by the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training, the VicePresident Academic and Provost will inform the Board, Senate, Dean, and the developers of the
decision. The Dean can then coordinate implementation of the degree, aligned with the annual
integrated planning process.
RECOMMENDATION
Based on the Senate meeting of June 5, 2019, the following motion was approved and recommended
for consideration:
THAT the Board of Governors approve the Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English Full Program Proposal
(Stage 2) for the following credentials as presented for Minister of Advanced Education, Skills, and
Training approval.
•
•
•
•
•

Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English;
Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English (Honours);
Minor in English;
Minor in Creative Writing;
Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English, Creative Writing Concentration
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1. Executive Summary
Overview of Capilano University’s History, Mission, and Goals

Capilano University was founded in 1968 as a Community College and in 2008 became a special purpose
teaching university, which sets its policies in accordance with the University Act of British Columbia.
Currently enrolling approximately 8,300 students in for-credit courses, it serves the geographic region of
the North Shore and the Howe Sound communities of Squamish, Whistler, Mount Currie, and
Pemberton, and has a regional campus, the kálax-ay Sunshine Coast campus, in Sechelt.
The University is named after Chief Joe Capilano, an important leader of the Squamish (Sḵwx̱wú7mesh)
Nation of the Coast Salish people. Our campuses are located on the traditional and ancestral territory of
the Squamish, Tsleil-Waututh, Musqueam, Lil’wat and Sechelt (shíshálh) Nations.
The University’s mandate as a special purpose teaching university is to provide the North Shore,
Sunshine Coast, and Sea-to-Sky regions with a comprehensive range of credentials that are relevant and
transformative for individual students, local communities, and global citizenship. It has particular
commitments to Indigenizing curriculum working with local First Nations communities, and to
developing a balanced approach to international education (Ministry mandate letter, 2018).
Its status as a special purpose teaching university mandates that it have a strong commitment to the
quality of teaching, to student success, and to the student experience, which figure largely in the
development of new credentials. The University’s academic goals are stated in the Strategic Plan (see
Appendix 1).

Proposed Credential and Location

The University’s Faculty of Arts and Sciences is proposing the following credentials:
•
•
•
•
•

Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English
Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English (Honours)
Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English, Creative Writing Concentration
Minor in English
Minor in Creative Writing

This program is intended to create a range of English program options within the BA framework (see
Appendix 2 for the University’s Bachelor of Arts Degree Framework & Appendix 3 for Policy S2015-05
Credential and Course Criteria). These will be offered primarily at the North Vancouver campus but with
the capacity for accessible offerings for students at the University’s regional campuses.

Faculty/School

Faculty of Arts and Sciences, School of Humanities
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Anticipated Program Start Date
Fall 2020

Anticipated Completion

To be completed in 8 semesters full-time but also accommodating part-time study.

Summary of Program

Program objectives: The Major program will educate students in the fundamental areas of English
literature and literary scholarship from its canonical English “centre” to its vibrant global and local
reaches. Students will develop skills in literary history, genre analysis, cultural studies, creative writing,
and other critical practices in a curriculum that is both traditional and forward-looking.
Alignment with the University’s mandate and strategic plan: The proposed English Major advances the
University’s mandate as a special purpose teaching university serving the North Shore, Sea-to-Sky
Corridor, and Sunshine Coast. The only public post-secondary institution serving this growing region, its
mandate includes providing a range of academic programs including baccalaureate degrees. It also
advances the institutional goal to offer a high-quality educational experience that prioritizes student
success. The degree will purposefully advance the institutional goals relating to student education,
career development, responsible citizenship, and the lifelong pursuit of knowledge.
Learning outcomes and curriculum design: The Major program design is intentionally structured
around a core set of student outcomes which also guide the curricula for the Creative Writing
Concentration and both Minors. The program learning outcomes place particular emphasis on three key
themes. The first (articulated in PLO 1 and 2) is an explicit attention to reading. While the skills involved
in reading are often assumed by literature programs, we believe it is necessary to foreground the
conceptual and ethical dimensions of reading, given the extent to which contemporary social,
professional, and political relationships are mediated through text. The second theme (articulated in
PLO 3 and 5) is writing. Our program places a high value on writing versatility, not only within Creative
Writing (an area that has always valued writing within multiple genres), but also in the English Major,
where we see the traditional academic essay as one of a variety of forms with the potential to develop
our student’s critical and intellectual skills. The third area (PLO 7) is self-awareness about the specific
intellectual skills a student acquires in the program. Our goal here is not simply to teach students to
read and write well, but to consider how these skills equip them to pursue a wide variety of personal,
professional, and academic pathways. The outcomes are as follows:
By the end of the program, students will be able to:
1. read literary texts and other cultural objects with care and sustained attention;
2. identify and interpret the historical and cultural forces at work in the production of local and global
literatures;
3. write for a range of audiences with sensitivity to discursive and cultural contexts;
4. undertake rigorous research that integrates various methodologies and perspectives;
5. produce original written, performed, digital, multimodal, and collaborative projects;
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6. analyze and model the power of language to provoke, foster curiosity, and contribute to the
formation and maintenance of communities and other social groupings; and
7. articulate the value of critical, creative, and collaborative skills for future educational and
professional pursuits.
While work experience is not a requirement for the degree, the program offers an elective practicum
course where work experience will count toward the degree. This elective option allows students to
accelerate the development of writing or research skills, deepen their knowledge of art and cultural
organizations, and contribute meaningfully to the vitality of these organizations in the community.
Employment prospects for graduates: The degree prepares students for postgraduate opportunities in
a wide range of professional fields such as law, education, addressing the increase in demand for
essential skills traditionally associated with study in the humanities. Both the 2016 edition of Developing
Canada’s future workforce: A survey of large private-sector employers and the British Columbia Labour
Market Outlook: 2018 Edition, for example, register urgent calls for “soft skills” such as “collaboration
and teamwork, communication skills, problem-solving skills and people and relationship-building skills.”1
Top skills and competencies are “active listening,” “speaking,” “critical thinking,” “reading
comprehension,” as well as “judgment and decision making.”2 The Major program will appeal to
students with diverse backgrounds and interests who seek careers in teaching, writing and editing for
both print and web publications, management, administration, advertising, and academia, or who wish
a versatile foundation degree.
Delivery methods: The proposed degree combines traditional classroom lecture, a seminar stream to
facilitate focus on poised exchange, and experiential courses that allow students to develop skills
outside the classroom and critically reflect on the value of their education. While the majority of
instruction will be conducted face-to-face, some online and mixed-mode options will provide flexibility
for students unable to attend campus full-time. See Section 5 for details on learning methodologies.
Program strengths: The Major program is a potential pathbreaker with its dual emphasis on
foundational skills in critical thinking, research, and literary analysis coupled with an emphasis on
innovative and applied techniques for responding to and helping shape the world with language. 3
Experiential components also characterize the curriculum and delivery model, including practicums,
tutoring positions, literary publications and series, symposia, field schools, and a capstone project
Developing Canada’s future workforce: a survey of large private-sector employers. Business Council of
Canada (Mar. 2016), 4. http://thebusinesscouncil.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/DevelopingCanadas-Future-Workforce.pdf
2
British Columbia (2018). British Columbia Labour Market Outlook, 2018 Edition, 28.
3
For the importance of making critical skills explicit, see Edge, Jessica, Elizabeth Martin, and Matthew
McKean (2018). Getting to Work: Career Skills Development for Social Sciences and Humanities
Graduates. Ottawa: The Conference Board of Canada, pp. 5, 68.
1
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dedicated to the collaborative production of a student anthology of both critical and creative work. The
program’s focus on locally- and globally-relevant social and historical content means students can bring
significant cultural resources to bear on an increasingly knowledge-based and international economy.
Support within the BC post-secondary system: Consultations with Simon Fraser University (SFU), the
University of British Columbia (UBC), Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU), and Vancouver Island
University (VIU) show very strong support for the degree, both in regard to the degree’s
comprehensiveness and in terms of its relevance and practical value for today’s students. See section 9
for details on consultations with other post-secondary institutions.
Related programs: The English Major is a central humanities discipline at most universities. While our
program preserves important traditional elements seen in larger programs elsewhere, its small size has
allowed us to intentionally design it around high-impact educational practices and a curriculum that is
flexible and contemporary, thus allowing it to stand apart from other English programming locally and
further afield.

Contact information
Dr. Pouyan Mahboubi, Dean
Faculty of Arts and Sciences
Capilano University
North Vancouver, BC, V7J 3H5
604.990.7983 | pouyanmahboubi@capilanou.ca
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2. Degree Level Standard
Depth and Breadth of Knowledge
This English Major is part of a 120-credit Bachelor of Arts degree providing graduates with a
comprehensive knowledge of the field of literary studies and an understanding of the human
imagination as a valuable cultural resource. Graduates will possess both a foundation for engaging with
contemporary literary culture and social issues, as well as the capacity for independent ethical,
intellectual, and creative work in a range of professions and postgraduate training. The program
curriculum equips graduates with transferable critical and collaborative practices and skills, especially
writing skills. See Appendix 2 for the University’s Bachelor of Arts Degree Framework.

Knowledge of Methodologies and Research

Students in this English Major develop a mastery of a range of methodologies for reading and analyzing
literary art and its cultural significance. This is a well-developed subfield in literature studies and
includes an investigation of interpretation and understanding itself, as well as examining the critical
lenses through which literature may be culturally understood, including aesthetic, political, or
psychological. Students also develop research skills in literary criticism by engaging with other literary
scholarship or production. Term projects in most upper courses will typically involve the intentional
application of one or more critical methodologies, such as in ENGL 359 – Studies in Indigenous
Literatures, or ENGL 344 - Literature and the Environment where the subject matter involves theories or
methods of inquiry that may originate outside the field of literary studies.
For example, the Major program broadens the range of research methods to include land-based writing
and narrative inquiry, such as within ENGL 367 - Land School, or via participation in a local communitybased practicum project where a student researcher and/or creative writer encounters and collaborates
with methodologies and perspectives of an organization or profession. Students may also merge
creative and critical inquiry though an innovative Creative Writing Minor which foregrounds researchbased practices.

Application of Knowledge & Awareness of Limits of Knowledge
Central to the student’s progress through the Major program is an increasingly disciplined attention to
the particulars of representation and, from this work, moving to synthesis and analysis where students
draw on scholarship from both within and beyond the discipline. This process is especially explicit in the
three Words in the World seminars, which require students be accountable for their reading and
research guided by protocols for listening to and collaborating with other students, whose perspectives
might challenge, enlarge, or distill their own. In this respect, the seminar stream develops a keen
awareness of the limits of knowledge. Historical awareness, another important dimension of knowledgemaking and its limitations, is developed in the literary history courses. Finally, creative writing offerings
give students potential to develop agency by applying knowledge gained from their study of literary and
non-literary texts to the creation of new work.
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Communication Skills
This program affirms the proximity of its creative writing and literature streams by ensuring all
graduates of the Major and Minors are competent in a range of written and oral forms and for a range
of audiences and purposes. Program courses cover various forms and dimensions of the writing process,
from enriched opportunities for invention (land-based writing and workshopping manuscripts), to
increased flexibility with essay forms (in ENGL 300 - Writing, Rhetoric, Style, or via ePortfolio work) to
editing, presenting on student panels and in colloquia events, and for-credit training in peer-tutoring
contexts.

3. Credential Recognition and Nomenclature
The proposed degree title is a Bachelor of Arts with a Major in English, a recognizable credential in terms
of nomenclature. The program curriculum has been designed to facilitate recognition, both by other
post-secondary institutions and by a range of employers. Graduate programs will find the degree
program includes all the elements of a traditional, comprehensive English degree with electives
positioned for their contemporary relevance and cultural importance. Core curricula in the Major, the
two Minors, and in the Concentration is enhanced through delivery in a seminar format. The strength of
the program has been confirmed by both UBC and SFU, which are likely destinations for students
wishing to continue in graduate studies. The strength of our program learning outcomes was noted by
SFU at stage one of development. For the policy and procedures for notifying students of credential
recognition and/or transfer, see Appendix 3 for Policy S2013-01 Transfer Credit.
With the program’s intentionally designed experiential elements and its emphasis on intellectual and
interpersonal skills, graduates will have a notably strong credential in terms of being work-capable for a
range of professions and industries.

FULL PROGRAM PROPOSAL

Page 140 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

8

Sch 9.3

Bachelor of Arts, Major in English

4. Curriculum/Program Content
Upper-Level Course Profile
The following shows the listing organization and the curricular role of all upper-level courses in the
program:
ENGL 300 Writing, Rhetoric, Style
ENGL 352 Special Topics in British Literature, 1000-1660 2
ENGL 353 Special Topics in British Literature, 1660-1830 2
ENGL 354 Special Topics in British Literature, 1830-1970 2
ENGL 356 Special Topics in American Literature, 1620-1865 2
ENGL 357 Special Topics in American Literature, 1865-1970 2
ENGL 305 Special Topics in Canadian Literature
ENGL 358 Special Topics in Contemporary Literature
ENGL 359 Studies in Indigenous Literatures
ENGL 320 Global Literatures
ENGL 323 Special Topics in Genre
ENGL 329 Literature and Performance
ENGL 338 Literature and Media
ENGL 344 Literature and the Environment
ENGL 363 Words in the World I: Genre and Form 1
ENGL 365 Words in the World II: Cultures, Networks, and Traditions 1
ENGL 367 Land School 4
ENGL 369 Foundations in Writing Pedagogy 4
ENGL 392 Creative Writing: Creative Travel Writing

ENGL 393 Creative Writing: Advanced Practices 3
ENGL 394 Creative Writing: Performance 3
ENGL 395 Creative Writing: Special Topics 3
ENGL 400 Major Authors
ENGL 420 Special Topics in Literary Theory
ENGL 435 Electronic Literature
ENGL 463 Words in the World III: Critical and Creative
Formations 1,4
ENGL 464 Capstone Project 5
ENGL 465 Words in the World Practicum 4
ENGL 466 Directed Reading
ENGL 467 Honours Thesis 5
ENGL 491 Creative Writing: Directed Studies 3
Notes/key:
1. Required core seminar courses
2. Satisfies literary history requirement
3. Required courses for Creative Writing Concentration
and Creative Writing Minor
4.
Experiential courses
5. Required capstone courses

Core Seminar and Capstone Courses
The three Words in the World seminar courses and the culminating capstone course are the defining
feature of the degree curriculum. Limited to 20 students, the seminar series provides a common
curricular core and cohort experience in central literary-critical subfields of English Literature. As well,
they all emphasize a set of ethical values around reading, dialogue, and critical practices, including
writing. These skills prepare students for the independent and collaborative work required in the
capstone course:
3rd year (one each term):
ENGL 363
Words in the World I:
Genre and Form
Investigates key genres of
English literatures and the
processes of their formation.

ENGL 365
Words in the World II:
Cultures, Networks, and
Traditions
Investigates literary and
cultural traditions and their
local and global contexts.

4th year (one each term):
ENGL 463
Words in the World III:
Critical and Creative
Formations
Investigates histories and
modes of critical inquiry and
their relations to creative
and cultural practices.

ENGL 464
Capstone Project

Requires students to
a) develop and refine a
creative or critical work of
their own and
b) collaboratively produce
an anthology publication.

FULL PROGRAM PROPOSAL

Page 141 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

9

Sch 9.3

Bachelor of Arts, Major in English

Program Requirements

Students must complete the Bachelor of Arts Degree Framework requirements and Cap Core
requirements (see Appendix 4) in addition to those of the specific English credentials. Requirements for
majors, honours, concentrations, and minors are in accordance with Policy S2015-05 Credential and
Course Criteria (see Appendix 3).
Bachelor of Arts Degree Framework
English Requirement:
6.00
Must include 3 credits of ENGL 100 (completed within the first 30 credits) and 3 additional credits
of ENGL courses
Arts Credit Requirement:
65.00
The Arts Credit Requirement is fulfilled through the completion of 65 credits of 100-level or higher
coursework from within the Faculty of Arts & Science that have been designated as Arts,
Humanities, or Social Science; or the corresponding transfer credits. Must include 24 credits
consisting of a minimum of 3 credits in at least four disciplines outside of the major program area,
one of which must be at the 300-level or higher. The 24-credit breadth requirement is waived for
majors requiring courses in multiple disciplines.
Language Requirement: Other than English
3.00
All BA students will demonstrate competency in a language other than English equivalent to B.C. high
school grade 11. Students meet competency by one of the following:
•
•
•
•

Successful completion of any Grade 11 course with a minimum B grade in an approved language
other than English while in secondary school; or
Successful completion of any secondary immersion program or secondary school at an
institution at which the primary language of instruction is not English; or
Successful completion of a post-secondary credential awarded by an institution at
which the primary language of instruction is not English; or
Successful completion of 3.00 credits of a post-secondary level course in a language other than
English.

Quantitative/Analytical Requirement:
3.00
Minimum of 3 credits in a Quantitative/Analytical course approved by the Senate Curriculum
Committee.
Science Requirement:
3 credits of a Laboratory science and a minimum of 3 credits in Science

6.00

Upper-Level Requirement:
Minimum of 45.00 of the total credits with courses numbered 300 or higher.

45.00
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Major in English Program Requirements
Lower Level:
100-level requirements:
3.00
3 credits of 100-level literature courses such as one of the following:
ENGL 103 Introduction to Literature (3)
ENGL 107, Indigenous Literature and Film (3)
ENGL 109 Literature and Contemporary Culture (3)
Note: Composition courses (ENGL 100, 112) and Creative Writing Courses (ENGL 190, 191) do not
satisfy this requirement.
200-level requirements:
ENGL 200 Literature in English from Beowulf to Paradise Lost (3)
ENGL 201 Literature in English after Paradise Lost (3)
ENGL 260 Writing Communities (3)

9.00

Total lower level Major program requirements:

12.00

Upper-Level:
Words in the World Seminar requirements:
ENGL 363 Words in the World I: Genre and Form (3)
ENGL 365 Words in the World II: Cultures, Networks, and Traditions (3)
ENGL 463 Words in the World III: Critical and Creative Formations (3)

9.00

Literary History requirements:
6 credits of upper-level literary history courses from the following list:
ENGL 352 Special Topics in British Literature, 1000-1660 (3)
ENGL 353 Special Topics in British Literature, 1660-1830 (3)
ENGL 354 Special Topics in British Literature, 1830-1970 (3)
ENGL 356 Special Topics in American Literature, 1620-1865 (3)
ENGL 357 Special Topics in American Literature, 1865-1970 (3)

6.00

English elective requirements:
12 credits of courses from the following list:
ENGL 300 Writing, Rhetoric, Style (3)
ENGL 305 Special Topics in Canadian Literature (3)
ENGL 358 Special Topics in Contemporary Literature (3)
ENGL 359 Studies in Indigenous Literatures (3)
ENGL 320 Global Literatures (3)
ENGL 323 Special Topics in Genre (3)
ENGL 329 Literature and Performance (3)
ENGL 338 Literature and Media (3)
ENGL 344 Literature and the Environment (3)
ENGL 352 Special Topics in British Literature, 1000-1660 (3)
ENGL 353 Special Topics in British Literature, 1660-1830 (3)
ENGL 354 Special Topics in British Literature, 1830-1970 (3)

12.00
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ENGL 356 Special Topics in American Literature, 1620-1865 (3)
ENGL 357 Special Topics in American Literature, 1865-1970 (3)
ENGL 367 Land School (3)
ENGL 369 Foundations in Writing Pedagogy (3)
ENGL 392 Creative Writing: Creative Travel Writing (3)
ENGL 393 Creative Writing: Advanced Practices (3)
ENGL 394 Creative Writing: Performance (3)
ENGL 395 Creative Writing: Special Topics (3)
ENGL 400 Major Authors (3)
ENGL 420 Special Topics in Literary Theory (3)
ENGL 435 Electronic Literature (3)
ENGL 465 Words in the World Practicum (3)
ENGL 466 Directed Reading (3)
ENGL 491 Creative Writing: Directed Studies (3)
Note: a single course cannot satisfy both the literary history and elective requirements
Capstone requirement:
ENGL 464 Capstone Project (3)

3.00

Total upper-level Major in English program requirements:

30.00

***
Major in English (Honours) Program Requirements
Lower Level (12 credits):
Students take the same 12 credits of lower-level courses required for the English Major program (see
above)
Upper-Level:
Words in the World Seminar requirements:
ENGL 363 Words in the World I: Genre and Form (3)
ENGL 365 Words in the World II: Cultures, Networks, and Traditions (3)
ENGL 463 Words in the World III: Critical and Creative Formations (3)

9.00

Literary History requirements:
9 credits from the following, 3 of which must be from ENGL 352, 353, or 354:
ENGL 352 Special Topics in British Literature, 1000-1660 (3)
ENGL 353 Special Topics in British Literature, 1660-1830 (3)
ENGL 354 Special Topics in British Literature, 1830-1970 (3)
ENGL 356 Special Topics in American Literature, 1620-1865 (3)
ENGL 357 Special Topics in American Literature, 1865-1970 (3)

9.00

English elective requirements:
15 credits taken from any 300- or 400-level ENGL courses

15.00

Thesis requirement:
ENGL 467 Honours Thesis (6)

6.00
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***
Major in English, Creative Writing Concentration Program Requirements
Lower level (21 credits):
All lower level requirements for the English Major (see above)

12.00

100-level Creative Writing requirements:
3 credits from the following:
ENGL 190 Introduction to Creative Writing (3)
ENGL 191 Creative Writing: Contemporary Practices (3)

3.00

200-level Creative Writing requirements:
6 credits from the following:
ENGL 290 Creative Writing: Letter and Line (3)
ENGL 291 Creative Writing: Narrative Fictions (3)
ENGL 292 Creative Writing: Children’s Literature (3)
ENGL 293 Creative Writing: Creative Nonfiction (3)
ENGL 295 Special Topics in Creative Writing (3)
ENGL 296 Creative Writing: Writing for the Stage (3)

6.00

Upper-level:
All upper-level requirements for the English Major (see above)

30.00

Concentration students must take all of the following Creative Writing courses, which
may also be taken to satisfy upper-level elective requirements for the Major.
Upper-level Creative Writing requirements:
ENGL 393 Creative Writing: Advanced Practices (3)
ENGL 394 Creative Writing: Performance (3)
ENGL 395 Creative Writing Special Topics (3)
ENGL 491 Creative Writing: Directed Studies (3)

12.00

***

Minor in English, Program Requirements
Lower Level (12 credits):
100-level requirements:
3 credits from the following:
ENGL 103 Introduction to Literature (3)
ENGL 107 Indigenous Literature and Film (3)
ENGL 109 Literature and Contemporary Culture (3)

27.00

200-level requirements:
9 credits from the following groups of courses:
3 credits from the following:
ENGL 200 Literature in English from Beowulf to Paradise Lost (3)
ENGL 201 Literature in English after Paradise Lost (3)

9.00

3.00

3 credits from the following:
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ENGL 203 Canadian Literature (3)
ENGL 207 Literary Theory and Criticism (3)
ENGL 213 World Literature in English (3)
3 credits from the following:
ENGL 260 Writing Communities (3)
Upper-level (15 credits) :
Words in the World Seminar requirements:
6 credits from the following:
ENGL 363 Words in the World I: Genre and Form (3)
ENGL 365 Words in the World II: Cultures, Networks, and Traditions (3)
ENGL 463 Words in the World III: Critical and Creative Formations (3)

6.00

Literary History requirements:
3 credits from the following:
ENGL 352 Special Topics in British Literature, 1000-1660 (3)
ENGL 353 Special Topics in British Literature, 1660-1830 (3)
ENGL 354 Special Topics in British Literature, 1830-1970 (3)
ENGL 356 Special Topics in American Literature, 1620-1865 (3)
ENGL 357 Special Topics in American Literature, 1865-1970 (3)

3.00

English elective requirements:
6 additional credits from any 300- or 400-level ENGL courses

6.00

***
Minor in Creative Writing, Program Requirements
Lower Level (12 credits):
100-level Creative Writing requirements:
3 credits from the following:
ENGL 190 Introduction to Creative Writing (3)
ENGL 191 Creative Writing: Contemporary Practices (3)

27.00
3.00

200-level Creative Writing requirements:
6 credits from the following:
ENGL 290 Creative Writing: Letter and Line (3)
ENGL 291 Creative Writing: Narrative Fictions (3)
ENGL 292 Creative Writing: Children’s Literature (3)
ENGL 293 Creative Writing: Creative Nonfiction (3)
ENGL 295 Special Topics in Creative Writing (3)
ENGL 296 Creative Writing: Writing for the Stage (3)

6.00

Writing Communities requirement:
ENGL 260 Writing Communities (3)

3.00

Upper-level (15 credits):
Words in the World Seminar requirements:

3.00
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3 credits, taken from the following:
ENGL 363 Words in the World I: Genre and Form (3)
ENGL 365 Words in the World II: Cultures, Networks, and Traditions (3)
ENGL 463 Words in the World III: Critical and Creative Formations (3)
Upper-level Creative Writing requirements:
All of the following:
ENGL 393 Creative Writing: Advanced Practices (3)
ENGL 394 Creative Writing: Performance (3)
ENGL 395 Creative Writing Special Topics (3)
ENGL 491 Creative Writing: Directed Studies (3)

12.00

Calendar Descriptions
ENGL 100
University Writing Strategies
This university writing course introduces students to foundational strategies for critical reading,
analytical thinking, and clear writing. Through the exploration of topical questions in local and global
contemporary culture, the course teaches core skills for active reading and discussion and provides
students with opportunities to write in a range of forms and genres from blog posts to critical analysis to
research projects. Revision and detailed individual feedback are fundamental components of the course.
Modules on research literacy are taught in collaboration with the university library. Modules on editing,
revision, and digital literacy are taught in collaboration with the Capilano University Writing Centre.
ENGL 103
Introduction to Literature
This course introduces students to a rich variety of literature in both traditional and new genres,
including novels, plays, poems, screenplays, memoirs, and graphic novels. See the Department of English
website for the focus of the course in a specific term.
ENGL 107
Indigenous Literature and Film
This course focuses on Indigenous poetry, plays, screenplays, films, novels, and memoirs across national
boundaries. The course may also include work by non-Indigenous writers on Indigenous subjects. See
the Department of English website for the focus of the course in a specific term.
ENGL 109
Literature and Contemporary Culture
This course explores contemporary issues as represented in literature, film and music. The specific issue
investigated differs between sections, instructors and years. See the Department of English website for
the focus of the course in a specific term.
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ENGL 190
Introduction to Creative Writing
In this introductory Creative Writing workshop, students sharpen their writing craft by writing and
workshopping in multiple genres while also studying contemporary practice. All sections of ENGL 190
involve creation of writing through prompts and exercises, editorial feedback through a variety of
means, and the curation of a substantial written portfolio.
ENGL 191
Creative Writing: Contemporary Practices
In this course, students develop their writing craft by writing and workshopping in multiple genres while
studying contemporary practice. All sections of ENGL 191 involve creation of writing through prompts
and exercises, editorial feedback through a variety of means, the curation of a substantial electronic
portfolio with an artist statement, and a focus on writing “the series,” or long project. This project will
provide students with the skills needed to research and write a coherent and comprehensive serial or
longer-form work, which will form a significant portion of the curated ePortfolio.
ENGL 200
Literature in English from Beowulf to Paradise Lost
This course surveys significant works in early English literary history, from the medieval period to the
mid-17th century (1660), covering a variety of literary forms, such as epic, Celtic narratives, Arthurian
romances, mystical writings and autobiography, lyrics, sonnets, and Elizabethan and Jacobean drama.
ENGL 201
Literature in English after Paradise Lost
This course surveys significant works in English literary history from the Restoration (1660) to the
modernist period (early 20th century). Tracing the rise of print culture, this course investigates different
literary forms, including plays, novels, short stories, poetry, as well as less conventional modes such as
diaries, journals, magazine articles, and letters.
ENGL 260
Writing Communities
This course introduces students to the intellectual practices and institutional networks that sustain the
work of writing. Bridging the divide between creative and academic literary production, the course
explores a range of histories and methods to illuminate their social contexts. Investigating key
institutions of literary culture and scholarship (e.g. coteries, schools, readings, conferences, journals,
archives), students will familiarize themselves with the interpersonal processes that support literary
research and will collaborate on final creative-scholarly projects.

FULL PROGRAM PROPOSAL

Page 148 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

16

Sch 9.3

Bachelor of Arts, Major in English
ENGL 290
Creative Writing: Letter and Line
This is an intensive workshop in the writing of poetry, concentrating on an understanding of form, an
awareness of voice, and an individual poetics. Students will have the opportunity to try a variety of
forms: the short lyric, the serial poem, narrative verse, prose poetry.
ENGL 291
Creative Writing: Narrative Fictions
This is an intensive workshop in the writing of fiction, concentrating on narrative techniques in student
writing and in a variety of published works of contemporary fiction. Students will have the opportunity
to develop an awareness of voice, rhythm, dialogue, diction, character, and point-of-view.
ENGL 292
Creative Writing: Children’s Literature
This is an intensive workshop in writing literature for children of various ages. Students will work on
such forms as text for picture books, nonsense rhymes, and chapters of young adult novels in verse.
ENGL 293
Creative Writing: Creative Nonfiction
This is an intensive workshop in the writing of creative nonfiction, concentrating on contemporary forms
such as magazine articles, personal essays, travel writing, blogging, etc., as well as professional aspects
of writing, such as "the pitch", book proposals, and the editing process.
ENGL 295
Special Topics in Creative Writing
The focus of this Creative Writing course is determined by the individual instructor in consultation with
the department. See the Department of English website for the focus of the course in a specific term.
ENGL 296
Creative Writing: Writing for the Stage
This is an intensive workshop in the writing of short plays, concentrating on effective playwriting skills
with an established playwright and a director. Students will develop and draft their works multiple
times, ultimately seeing these works performed before a public audience at the end of the course.
ENGL 300
Writing, Rhetoric, Style
Building on writing, research, and revision skills introduced in ENGL 100, this course will deepen the
writer’s knowledge of rhetorical choices and awareness of current essay genres. Students will learn to
effectively take the investigative project through all stages of composition—from inception and handling
of research to revision and stylistic editing—and will gain confidence in writing in a variety of modes.
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ENGL 305
Special Topics in Canadian Literature
This course studies selected works of Canadian literature important for their artistic, cultural, or
historical content and contexts. Depending on the term, iterations of the course may focus on a specific
moment in Canadian literary culture, or may look at the history of Canadian literature as a whole.
Sample course titles: Canadian Modernism, Postcolonial Canadian Literature, Canadian Literary Urban
Fiction.
ENGL 320
Global Literatures
This course examines world literature from a comparative/global framework, or it focuses on a specific
geographical/national region from a transnational perspective. This course might also explore the
politics, art, and theory of translation from historical and/or contemporary perspectives.
ENGL 323
Special Topics in Genre
This course focuses on the emergence and persistence of a specific literary or non-literary genre, such as
the gothic novel, lyric poetry, modernist elegy, tragic drama, detective story, travel narrative, or
memoir/autobiography. The course is intended to develop a deep critical awareness of the formal
techniques and social contexts of a given genre’s representation of experience.
ENGL 329
Literature and Performance
This course examines literary performances, plays, and practices, as well as the performative dimensions
of other types of expression. Students will be introduced to, and will use, a range of theoretical
perspectives and methods to analyze a variety of performance texts and contexts. This might include
studying theatre, film, dance, gesture and physicality, gender, the Internet and online performances,
and everyday site-specific performances.
ENGL 338
Literature and Media
This course explores literary art and criticism within the framework of media studies. Students will
consider the diverse forms and technologies that have shaped written and oral literature, and will
situate literary texts within our increasingly diverse landscape of media forms.
ENGL 344
Literature and the Environment
This course explores literature in the context of recent environmental and ecological thought.
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ENGL 352
Special Topics in British Literature, 1000-1660 (new)
This course will explore a specific topic in British literary history, concentrating on a single period within
the time frame 1000-1660. Depending on the term, specific iterations of the course might focus on the
Medieval, Tudor, Jacobean, or Civil-War period, or on portions/combinations thereof. Sample course
titles: Early Enlightenment and the Birth of Science Fiction; Early Modern Political Theatre; The
Postcolonial Middle Ages; The Metaphysical Poets; Chaucer and his World.
ENGL 353
Special Topics in British Literature, 1660-1830 (new)
This course will explore a specific topic in British literary history, concentrating on a defined period or
development between 1660 and 1830. Iterations of the course might focus on a specific moment within
this time frame, or might consider the long eighteenth century as a whole. Sample course titles:
Performing Restoration; The Birth of Taste; Reading Scotland in 1745; Race and the Rise of the Novel;
Romanticism and the City; 18th Century Characters.
ENGL 354
Special Topics in British Literature, 1830-1970 (new)
This course will explore a specific topic in British literary history, concentrating on a defined period,
movement, or development between 1830 and the 1970s. The specific focus of the course will vary
depending on the term and the instructor. Sample course titles: 19th Century Poetry and Photography;
Postcolonial London; Irish Modernism; Victorian Literature and Colonial Education; The Domestic Front:
Women Writers and the World Wars.
ENGL 356
Special Topics in American Literature, 1620-1865 (new)
This course will explore a specific topic in US literary history, concentrating on a specific period,
movement, or development between the early colonial period and the American Civil War. Each
iteration of the course will concentrate on a distinct period, such as the colonial era, Revolutionary era,
antebellum era, or some portion/combination thereof. Sample course titles: The American Slave
Narrative; The American Constitution as a Work of Art; Melville and Modernity; American Literature
before the “United States”; Resisting “Removal”: American Literature and the Trail of Tears.
ENGL 357
Special Topics in American Literature, 1865-1970 (new)
This course will explore a specific topic in US literary history, concentrating on a single period,
movement, or development between the Reconstruction Era and the 1970s. Sample course titles:
American Naturalism; The Harlem Renaissance; US Literature of the Cold War; American Lyric from
Dickinson to Dylan; Hollywood and Literary Culture.
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ENGL 358
Special Topics in Contemporary Literature (new)
This course studies distinctive features of contemporary culture through works of literature written
from roughly 1970 to the present day.
ENGL 359
Studies in Indigenous Literatures (new)
This course takes up specific questions and issues in the field of historical and/or contemporary
Indigenous literatures. Reading lists may include Indigenous literatures from around the world, and may
focus on a single author, a literary movement, or a theoretical perspective.
ENGL 363
Words in the World I: Genre and Form (new)
This course investigates key genres of English literature and the processes of their formation and
transformation. In a seminar setting foregrounding accountable reading, shared inquiry, and
collaborative critical dialogue, students will study a wide range of prose, poetry, and performance
texts—from the classical to the modern to the contemporary—exploring the ways in which the formal
conventions of genres and subgenres have been shaped and reshaped by the particular contexts in
which they emerge.
ENGL 365
Words in the World II: Cultures, Networks, and Traditions (new)
This course investigates literary and cultural traditions and counter traditions with a focus on their local,
global, and postcolonial contexts. In a seminar setting foregrounding accountable reading, shared
inquiry, and collaborative critical dialogue, students will study how a wide range of writers, artists, and
other thinkers have imagined, articulated, critiqued, and in some cases revised such concepts as
personhood, citizenship, justice, and community through varied uses of narrative, storytelling, and other
modes of representation.
ENGL 367
Land School (new)
This course offers experiential study of the literature, history, and culture of a Land School location, with
a focus on introducing students to Indigenous ways of knowing. The Land School may be organized
around critical approach, historical period, decolonizing practices, or geographical and cultural area. The
course has three parts: classroom time, a one- to two-week immersive Land School experience that
encourages students to consider place as a form of learning, and opportunities for reflection.
ENGL 369
Foundations in Writing Pedagogy (new)
This course is designed for students in any discipline who wish to learn about some of the philosophies
and practices involved in the teaching of writing and revision. With a special focus on preparing students
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for roles in peer-tutoring contexts, the course offers a hands-on, experiential approach to a range of
writing and revision pedagogies that will not only equip students for future positions as writing tutors
but also help them sharpen their own writing skills.
ENGL 392 (new)
Creative Writing: Creative Travel Writing
Travel writing is one of the most popular genres of contemporary literary non-fiction. This course will
give students an opportunity to develop substantial, publishable works of travel writing under the
guidance of a current practitioner. It will be of interest to all who love travel and adventure and have
imagined documenting their experiences and sharing them with a wide audience.
ENGL 393
Creative Writing: Advanced Practices (new)
This course presupposes that students have current portfolios. It addresses advanced practices,
methods, and techniques used by writers working in a variety of literary genres. Topics may include
conceptualizing large projects, research methods in the literary genres, global restructuring of
manuscripts, examining the writing process, and experimenting with new procedures. In addition to
lectures and workshops, local guest writers will visit the class to discuss these aspects of their practice.
ENGL 394
Creative Writing: Performance (new)
Students will adapt material (such as short stories, poems, and essays) from other writing classes, as
well as from other sources, for text-based performance genres such as the screenplay, the radio drama,
poets theatre, “movie telling,” and/or the podcast. Collaboration will be encouraged.
ENGL 395
Creative Writing: Special Topics
The focus of this Creative Writing course is determined by the individual instructor in consultation with
the department. Examples might include New Media, Writing and the Body, Transmissions, or Writing
from the Land.
ENGL 400
Major Authors
This course offers an in-depth study of a single author.
ENGL 420
Special Topics in Literary Theory
This course is a focused in-depth study of a selected topic in literary-critical theory.
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ENGL 435
Electronic Literature
This course examines electronic literature (literature created exclusively on and for digital devices, such
as computers, tablets, and mobile phones). Students will consider the genre as a form possessing
computer-driven aesthetics—such as speed, animation, and multimodal semiotics—that produce
different literary effects and reading practices.
ENGL 463
Words in the World III: Critical and Creative Formations (new)
This course investigates histories and modes of criticism and the relation between theory and other
creative and cultural formations. In a seminar setting foregrounding accountable reading, shared
inquiry, and collaborative critical dialogue, students will survey a wide range of critical and literary
theories, analyze the social and institutional contexts of their emergence, situate them in relation to
each other, and evaluate their impact on both scholarly and creative practices in the 20th and 21st
centuries.
ENGL 464
Capstone Project (new)
In this course, students will refine a creative or critical work of their own making as well as
collaboratively produce a professional-quality anthology publication for both print and web formats.
Beginning with a brief history and assessment of the anthology form itself, the course will guide
students through every stage of the production process, inviting them to try a variety of tasks and
allowing them to specialize in the publishing-related role of their choice.
ENGL 465
Words in the World Practicum (new)
This is a work-experience course that connects students with a host organization in a relevant field or
industry. The Practicum is conducted under the mentorship of a Capilano faculty member and a
supervisor from the host organization. Students gain valuable experience applying their skills in
research, writing, critical thinking, and imaginative problem-solving in a unique real-world setting,
discovering how their training and knowledge can be used in various business, education, research, or
cultural contexts.
ENGL 466
Directed Reading (new)
Students will work with an English faculty member and be guided in the development of a researchbased project. Specific course details will be arranged between individual students and faculty
members. Registration is by permission of the instructor and the English Department Coordinator.
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ENGL 467 Honours Thesis (new)
In this course students in the English honours program undertake a research project culminating in a
graduating honours thesis. The course is delivered over two terms, the first devoted to reading and
research for the project, the second to the drafting and completion of the written thesis.
ENGL 491
Creative Writing: Directed Studies
Students will work with an instructor to guide them with a topic-based analytical/creative project,
approved by the student’s advisor. Specific course details will be arranged between individual students
and faculty members. Registration is by permission of the instructor and the Creative Writing Convenor.

Program Courses Mapped to Program Learning Outcomes
Levels of Proficiency & Program Learning Outcome Distribution: Mapping curriculum to levels of
proficiency is the University’s best practice, an accreditation requirement, and a foundation for regular
program assessments. Curriculum design for this program has sought to ensure levels of mastery for all
program learning outcomes. See Appendix 5 for detailed curriculum mapping for levels of proficiency.

5. Learning Methodologies/Program Delivery
The University’s English Major is designed to guide students through a scaffolded curriculum that
progressively develops students’ skills and knowledge base, while also remaining flexible enough for
students to tailor their learning to their individual goals and interests. All our courses integrate a variety
of delivery methods, from the traditional (lectures, group discussions, presentations) to the innovative
(digital projects, ePortfolios, field trips, and web publishing). The learning methodologies we employ are
deeply rooted in the University’s community-college tradition in that they seek to make academic
learning accessible to a wide student body. At the same time, we have sought to integrate a practical
and cooperative emphasis into our program, so that students can self-consciously develop skills in
teamwork, dialogue, research, writing versatility, and critical self-reflection in preparation for their
future work and/or education.

Words in the World Seminars
The Words in the Words Seminars (ENGL 363, 365, and 463) are the backbone to the degree, a unique
series of high-impact learning experiences that maximize students’ encounter with the concepts and
problems that shape our discipline. The topics of the 3 upper-level seminars (“Genre and Form,”
“Networks, Cultures, and Traditions,” and “Creative and Critical Formations”) cover issues that are at the
core of every successful English major program, but which here are delivered through small and highlyengaged fora designed to enhance learning for students of varied backgrounds, proficiencies, and career
goals. While these courses are largely discussion-based, they also integrate a mixture of delivery
methods, including lectures, student presentations and colloquia, advanced library workshops, field
trips, writing retreats, collaborative projects, and individualized student ePortfolios.
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Flexible Course Design
One of the innovative features of our courses is their strategic openness. Rather than designing a large
number of courses focusing on specialized subfields and periods of Anglophone literature, we offer a
shorter listing of courses that aim to maximize flexibility. This approach has multiple advantages. First, it
avoids structuring courses around current trends which may soon become outdated. Second, it
encourages instructors to take creative approaches to their classes, and to explore the dynamic
processes through which disciplinary fields are continuously formed, critiqued, and reshaped. Third, it
provides students early in the program with a realistic picture of the courses they will be able to take:
whereas many English departments list a great many courses which they are not able to offer on a
regular basis, our streamlined course-list helps to give each student a realistic picture of the courses
they take over the course of their degree program.

Creative Writing
The University’s Creative Writing Concentration and Minor programs are closely integrated with the
English Major. In order to ensure that both Creative Writing and English Majors view themselves as part
of a single inclusive community, we have designed the programs so that they share course
requirements: thus, Creative Writing students take ENGL 260 - Writing Communities and at least one
upper-level Words in the World seminar.

Experiential Learning
Beyond traditional coursework, our program integrates experiential learning through three courses that
bring students out of the classroom and into the community. The first is a Land School course (ENGL
367) that will offer students immersive, exciting, and culturally-sensitive opportunities for land-based
learning – our program’s take on the traditional “field school” model. This course will be popular with
students and will help to deepen the Indigenous and decolonial dimensions of our program. The second
is a Foundations in Writing Pedagogy course (ENGL 369) that introduces students to the philosophy and
practice of English-writing instruction. Working in collaboration with the Capilano University Writing
Centre, students gain hands-on tutoring experience useful to a variety of future writing-centered
pursuits. The third is the Words in the World Practicum (ENGL 465), which provides work-placement
opportunities for students with local organizations. The Practicum is an occasion for students to apply
their skills and knowledge in real-world settings in ways that supports their future success beyond the
program. Members of our Program Development Advisory Committee have already indicated their
support for such opportunities. These are unpaid for-credit work experiences.

ePortfolio
ePortfolio is an online learning tool that functions as a platform for students to document their course
work, reflect on their learning experiences, and showcase their knowledge. Currently, all Capilano
University students design their foundational ePortfolio in ENGL 100 – University Writing Strategies (a
required course for all Capilano University degree programs). In the English Major, students will have
opportunities to develop and refine their ePortfolios at key touchstones throughout the degree,
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including in ENGL 260 - Writing Communities, the Words in the World seminars (ENGL 363, 365, and
463), and the Capstone Project (ENGL 464).
We have sought to include ePortfolio into our program judiciously, taking advantage of its potential
benefits while being mindful of the extra energy it can demand. Thus, while the actual required work
toward the ePortfolio is minimal, students are provided the support and encouragement they need to
design a platform that suits their individual interests and aspirations. Currently, the University employs
dedicated ePortfolio Peer Mentors and a Faculty Support Team to assist students and instructors with
this learning tool via face-to-face meetings and regular workshops.

Distance Learning
The English department has offered a variety of mixed-mode (partially-online) course offerings in the
past; recent student surveys suggest that these remain attractive options for some of our students. One
of the key benefits of mixed-mode courses is that they provide student with opportunities for face-toface learning with the instructor and fellow students while minimizing the frequency of long commutes,
thus enabling a wider engagement for students throughout our region.

Capstone Project
Our capstone course is unique in its delivery model, in that it provides an opportunity for students to
work collaboratively to create an anthology publication of student work. The course is first and foremost
an opportunity for students to develop their prior course work in new directions. In the seminars that
structure the course, students read a selection of key texts that are shaping the discipline in order to
think broadly about the scholarly conversions they might use to expand the horizons of their writing and
research.
As students revise and refine their individual work, they also work together to design a print and web
anthology of their capstone projects. Students will use current publishing tools and expand their skills in
editing, proofreading, and teamwork.
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6. Admission and Transfer/Residency
Program Admission Requirements
Admission Requirements:
Students pursuing a Bachelor of Arts degree must be admitted to the Faculty of Arts & Sciences.
•
•
•

BC Secondary School graduation (Grade 12) or equivalent
A minimum grade point average of 2.0 (60%) calculated on English 12 or English 12 First
Peoples and two academic Grade 12 courses
Capilano English Language Requirement for students whose primary language is not
English: Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL): paper=560, internet=83, or English
Language Assessment (ELA)=145, or International English Language Testing System
(Academic IELTS)=6.5 overall, and no one score less than 6, or Canadian Academic English
Language Assessment (CAEL)=70, or Pearson Test of English (PTE Academic)=56 or Capilano
University EAP 100 and 101 with a minimum B+ grade in each course.

Transfer

Students who transfer to Capilano University may be eligible for a maximum of 60 transfer credits
toward the degree.
All program courses have been designed to be readily transferable within the BCCAT (British Columbia
Council on Admissions and Transfer) system, with which Capilano University already has long-standing
articulation and transfer agreements. For details see Appendix 3 (S2013-01 Transfer credit) for the
University’s policies and practices on assigning transfer credit.

Residency

Students in the program have a residency requirement of 50 per cent of the 120 degree-credits, in
accordance with university policy. See Appendix 3 (S2017-04 Graduation) for the university policy on
residency.

Graduation

Bachelor of Arts Curricular Requirements:
In order to graduate, students must complete a minimum of 120.00 credits, maintain a minimum
CPGA of 2.00, and meet Cap Core, program (major, major/minor, or double minor), and Capilano
University residency requirements.

Honours:

Honours students must fulfil all of the requirements for a major with a minimum upper-level CGPA of
3.50 in addition to completing a 6 credit honours thesis.
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7. Faculty
Curriculum vitae of all faculty are included in Appendix 7. The number of faculty required to mount the
program in its first year is 1-1.25 FTE (year three of the degree). In its second year, 4th year courses will
necessitate increases to 1.75-1.87, depending on demand for electives. Because of our existing roster
for delivery of the Associate of Arts Degree – English and Associate of Arts Degree – Creative Writing
programs, and because of recent hires, the department currently has the expertise to teach all courses
in the Major and initial Concentration, with the exception of Indigenous Literatures, which is now a
priority. As well, many courses in the degree curriculum are designed to accommodate a range of
interests and specializations, which will allow the department flexibility in allocating its faculty. All but
four of our 24 faculty currently teaching have the required PhD or equivalent.
At present, the department has approximately 1.5 - 1.75 FTE of non-regular instructional capacity,
sufficient to cover the needs of the department as a whole in the early years, notwithstanding our ability
to retain our non-regular hires and increases in enrolment.

Enrolment plan
The numbers below are a conservative estimate, reflecting retention, attrition, and new admits. While
at this time there is no reliable means of estimating international student demand for this program, a
conservative estimate of 10 per cent has been used below.
Academic
Year
2020-2021

Courses Offered 1
1st – 3rd year courses: 10

Faculty FTE
Needs 2
1 – 1.25 -

Head Count
1st year
35-40

Head Count
2nd year
20-25

Head Count
3rd year
20-25

Head Count
4th year 3
0

2021-2022

1st – 4yr courses: 13

1.75 – 1.87

55-60

30-35

25-30

15-20

2022-2023

1st – 4yr courses: 13-14

1.87

75-80

35-40

30-35

20-25

2023-2024

1st – 4yr courses: 14

1.87-2

75-80

40-45

35-40

25-30

1 Includes

four courses already offered within the AA-English and AA-Creative Writing degrees that are required by the Major,
as well as three courses already offered within the Liberal Studies BA and one upper-level course already offered by English,
which will count as electives in the Major.
2 Does not include need resulting from growing first-year enrolments in ENGL 100 and first-year literature courses, which are
taken to satisfy the BA English Requirement.
3 Does not include students from outside the degree who take program courses as electives or to meet Cap Core requirements
(program courses are not restricted to program students).

For policies on the academic credentials of faculty (Policy S2006-02 Educational Qualifications for
Instructors), see Appendix 3.

FULL PROGRAM PROPOSAL

Page 159 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

27

Sch 9.3

Bachelor of Arts, Major in English
For Policies regarding academic freedom (Policy S2003-01 Academic Freedom); performance evaluations
(Section 11.5 CFA Collective Agreement); teaching loads and professional development (Article 6 CFA
Collective Agreement), see Appendix 3.

8. Program Resources
Library, Classrooms, and Equipment
Capilano University requires minimal resources to mount the program. These are:
• The Library Impact Assessment identifies a needed expenditure of $15,500 in one-time and
$8,500 ongoing expenses (see Appendix 8 Resources (Library Impact Assessment)).
•

Classrooms, laboratories and equipment:
o Two priority seminar classrooms (one initially; 2 by year 2) required each term to deliver
the 3 core seminars, the capstone course, and face-to-face components of the Land
School, Tutoring Practicum, and Words in the World Practicum. This classroom will
require a table configuration to accommodate 20 students, instructor, and possible
guests, and will require a laptop and projector hook-up for presentations.
o Priority computer lab space for the capstone course, equipped with student access to
Adobe Photoshop and InDesign.
o Increase of the current Capilano Review-affiliated, Writer-in-Residence stipend from
1,000 to 3,000 for a longer residency of one-month, with the aim of eventually securing
a permanent endowment from the Cap Foundation to fund the residency.

Existing and Shared Resources
There are significant opportunities to share program courses with other programs:
•
•
•
•
•

Upper-level electives that will double as electives for programs elsewhere, as is the case with
English courses offered within the Liberal Studies program (see note 1 above).
Possible sharing of a local Land School location, event, and other resources with field school
components of other programs (e.g. at West coast destinations or at regional campuses).
Further Concentrations in the English program such as the envisioned Indigenous Literature and
Literature & Environment Concentrations can make use of courses in other program areas.
Participation in Faculty of Arts and Sciences student colloquia.
Capstone Project course can include fourth-year students in other programs who wish to publish
their work in the course anthology.

Implementation Schedule
With a scheduled date of Fall 2020 for program implementation, the department and the university will
provide the necessary support to ensure the program is successfully mounted and sustainable.
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9. Program Consultation
Student Surveys
There is student demand for this degree at Capilano University. In Fall 2018, student surveys were
conducted to assess the interest in an English Major degree program. The survey was distributed in firstand second-year English literature courses and is reproduced in Appendix 9. A total of 273 students
from a mix of programs responded; the programs with the most representation were general Arts (26%),
Liberal Studies (10%), Biology (8%), and English (6%).
In summary, 41.8 per cent of respondents expressed they were “Very Interested” or “Interested” in
enrolling in an undergraduate program in English. When asked which credential option was most
desirable to them, 35 per cent of respondents listed BA with a Major in English, and another 28 per cent
recorded BA with a Minor in English. 65.2 per cent reported that an English Major that featured
concentrations (in, for example, Creative Writing, Film and Media Studies, Indigenous Literature and
Culture, etc.) would positively influence their decision to enrol in the program.
Creative Writing remains a desirable focus for many students. 49.8 per cent of respondents were “Very
Interested” in a Capilano English Major with a Concentration in Creative Writing and an additional 30
per cent were “Interested.”
Additional analysis of the surveys found that Capilano University students are looking to draw
connections between their academic work and real-life experiences. 60.1 per cent of respondents felt
that practicums and internships with local arts organizations, literary magazines, and other media
organizations would be "very valuable" to their degree, and an additional 28.2 per cent felt that would
be "somewhat valuable."

Other institutions, BC and outside BC
A program review package was sent out to following post-secondary contacts in early March 2019:
•
•
•
•

UBC, Alexander Dick, Chair, Majors
Program, English
UBC, Sandra Tomc, Chair of Graduate
Comm., English
UBC Okanagan, Ashok Mathur, Creative
Writing program, Faculty of Creative and
Critical Studies
UVIC, Michael Nowlin, Chair, English

•
•
•
•
•

SFU, Michael Everton,
Undergraduate/Associate Chair, English
SFU, Clint Burnham, Graduate Program
Chair, English
KPU, Robert Deale, Chair, English
VIU, Sandra Hagan, Chair English
U of Calgary, Jacqueline Jenkins,
Department Head, English

As of April 26, 2019, four institutions have provided feedback on the program.

Program Advisory Committee
In Spring 2019, the English department surveyed the members of our Program Development Advisory
Committee (PDAC) for feedback on our proposed degree. The survey is reproduced in Appendix 11. The
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PDAC is a seven-member group that includes a former Capilano University English and Creative Writing
student (now a full-time employee at SFU), a local secondary school teacher, a librarian, editors, writers,
and the director of a local community arts council. Given this range of experience, the PDAC is
positioned to offer unique insight into the potential value of our proposed Major.
Our survey had two goals: first, to learn from our PDAC members which attributes of our program would
be most useful to our students from the perspective of organizations and employers in our community;
second, to learn what kinds of support our members’ organizations might be able to provide for our
students. Six of the seven members responded to our survey. In their responses, they indicated strong
support for our program as well as a willingness to be host organizations.
A number of questions asked PDAC to reflect on “the ideal set of knowledge, values, and skills that an
English Major could bring to a community-oriented organization or community-based project.”
Respondents emphasized the value of writing and interpretive abilities as well as interpersonal skills.
One question asked to rate a series of skills associated with English. The most highly rated skills were
“attention to the written word and visual culture” and “Problem-solv[ing] with imagination”; these were
closely followed by “Engag[ing] positively with views that differ from one’s own” and “Communicat[ing]
and cooperat[ing] with others with empathy, sensitivity, and discretion.” See Appendix 11 for full details
on survey responses.

10. Program Review and Assessment
Capilano University’s commitment to ongoing quality improvements is demonstrated in both our Policy
B.106 Program and Course Review and Approval and Procedure B.106-01 Program Review (see
Appendix 3), which requires that all academic programs be reviewed every five years, and the
Northwest Commission on Colleges and Universities (NWCCU) accreditation status. The Vice-President,
Academic and Provost is responsible for maintaining a list of programs scheduled for review. Program
review provides ongoing improvement through in-depth self-reflection, formative and summative
feedback, and internal and external peer review. Program reviews consist of the composition of the SelfStudy Report; an external review of the program including a scheduled site visit and formal report with
findings and recommendations; an action plan to implement the recommendations; an institutional
response; and approval of the Program Review Package presented to the Senate Academic Planning and
Program Review Committee, outlined in Appendix 3 - Policy S2011-01 Senate Academic Planning and
Review Committee.
To fulfill both internal and external accrediting or professional association standards for quality
improvement, all academic programs measure student achievement of program learning outcomes as
part of an annual program assessment process. The process involves articulating what knowledge and
skills students are expected to achieve upon graduating from a program, measuring student learning
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against defined benchmarks and using the results to inform action plans to improve curriculum and
pedagogy. Programs submit assessment plans/reports to their dean each year for review and feedback.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 10.1: CONFIRMATION OF THE FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Soon Kim, Board Chair
PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to recommend that the Board confirm the Chair of the Board’s
appointment of Patricia Heintzman as Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee.
BACKGROUND
Through the established Board of Governors review and approval process, the Finance & Audit
Committee Terms of Reference was revised in the 2017/18 fiscal year. It was determined that this
committee have both a Committee Chair and a Vice Chair.
DISCUSSION
Section 2, Composition and Quorum, of the Committee’s Terms of Reference states, “The terms of
membership will be two-year renewable terms commencing in August of each year. Where possible the
terms of membership will be staggered. Annually, a chair and a vice-chair of the Committee will be
appointed by the Board Chair and confirmed by the Board as a whole.”
Meeting this criteria, the Board Chair has appointed Patricia Heintzman as Chair to the Committee.
RECOMMENDATION
THAT the Board of Governors confirms the Chair of the Board’s appointment of Patricia Heintzman as
Chair to the Finance and Audit Committee and the re-appointment of Cherian Itty as Vice Chair.
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BOARD REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 10.2: AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for 2018/19
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Soon Kim, Finance and Audit Committee Chair
PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is for the Finance and Audit Committee to recommend that the Board review
and approve the Draft Consolidated Financial Statements of Capilano University for the Year Ended
March 31, 2019 (attached).
BACKGROUND
The Finance and Audit Committee met on May 16, 2019 with the University’s auditors, KPMG, and
management to review the Draft Consolidated Financial Statements of Capilano University for the Year
Ended March 31, 2019 and the Audit Findings Report. The Finance and Audit Committee also met incamera without management.
DISCUSSION
KPMG acknowledged the cooperation from the Finance Services Department and stated for the record
that they were independent of the University. KPMG provided highlights from the Audit Findings Report
and management provided highlights from the draft Consolidated Financial Statements.
After their review, the Finance and Audit Committee passed a motion to recommend that the Board
approve the Draft Consolidated Financial Statements of Capilano University for the Year Ended
March 31, 2019.
MOTION
THAT the Board approve the Draft Consolidated Financial Statements of Capilano University for the Year
Ended March 31, 2019.
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY
Management is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements, and has
prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended
March 31, 2019 in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the
Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. This
responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and
making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which judgment is required.
In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial
statements, management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and
related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and
that the financial records provide a reliable basis for the preparation of the financial
statements.
The Board of Governors of the University carries out its responsibility for review of the
consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee of the Board meets with
management and the external auditors to discuss the results of audit examinations and
financial reporting matters.
These consolidated financial statements have been reported on by KPMG LLP, the
University’s external auditors appointed by the Board of Governors. The external auditors
have full access to the Board with and without the presence of management.

Paul Dangerfield, President

Jacqui Stewart, Vice-President, Finance & Administration
June 18, 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Board of Governors of Capilano University, and
To the Minister of Advanced Education, Skills and Training
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Capilano University (the “Entity”),
which comprise:
•

the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2019

•

the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then
ended

•

the consolidated statement of changes in net debt for the year then ended

•

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

•

the consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses for the year then ended

•

and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements as at and for the year ended March
31, 2019 of the Entity are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the financial
reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of
the Province of British Columbia.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our
auditors’ report.
We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of Matter – Financial Reporting Framework
We draw attention to Note 2(a) to the financial statements which describes the applicable
financial reporting framework and the significant differences between that financial reporting
framework and Canadian public sector accounting standards.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance
with the financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and
Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial
reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to
continue as a going concern.

•

Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Entity to express an opinion on the financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

[KPMG LLP Signature]

Chartered Professional Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
[Date]
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018
2019

2018

$ 46,823,206
42,370,818
3,126,024
723,621
93,043,669

$ 26,315,939
39,251,323
1,762,872
749,649
68,079,783

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 4)
Employee future benefits (note 5(a))
Deferred revenue and contributions (note 6)
Deferred capital contributions (note 7)

17,018,227
1,189,100
31,523,958
49,653,146
99,384,431

13,578,563
1,247,300
16,513,912
51,466,115
82,805,890

Net debt

(6,340,762)

(14,726,107)

10,503,329
73,609,550
245,998
84,358,877

9,662,960
76,035,514
335,230
86,033,704

Accumulated surplus

$ 78,018,115

$ 71,307,597

Accumulated surplus is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus
Accumulated remeasurement gains

$ 70,269,709
7,748,406

$ 65,953,456
5,354,141

$ 78,018,115

$ 71,307,597

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments (note 3)
Accounts receivable
Inventories

Liabilities

Non-Financial Assets
Endowment investments (note 3)
Tangible capital assets (note 8)
Prepaid expenses

Contractual obligations (note 10)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board:

Soon Kim
Chair, Board of Governors
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018
Budget 2019
(note 2(j) and 12)

2019

2018

$ 39,658,608
50,307,573
7,080,569

$ 41,738,160
54,726,524
7,579,595

$ 39,950,902
45,236,697
5,718,384

3,961,988
2,188,500
2,093,880
500,000
2,009,000
107,800,118

4,002,330
2,301,220
2,228,709
953,846
1,087,340
114,617,724

3,963,724
2,316,264
2,172,000
5,633
2,186,027
101,549,631

62,963,059
38,415,425
6,421,634
107,800,118

64,627,503
39,478,248
6,671,753
110,777,504

57,964,128
33,826,191
5,959,152
97,749,471

Annual operating surplus

-

3,840,220

3,800,160

Endowment donations received

-

476,033

218,841

Annual surplus

-

4,316,253

4,019,001

65,943,456

65,953,456

61,934,455

$ 65,853,456

$ 70,269,709

$ 65,953,456

Revenue:
Province of British Columbia
Tuition fees
Project and other revenue (note 6 (b))
Amortization of deferred capital
contributions (note 7)
Sales of goods
Parking, childcare and theatre
Donations and gifts-in-kind
Investment income

Expenses:
Instruction and student support
Facilities and institutional support
Ancillary

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year
Accumulated surplus, end of year

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt
Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018
Budget 2019
(note 2(j) and 12)
Annual surplus

$

Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets

(5,584,311)
9,140,848
3,556,537

Acquisition of prepaid expense
Use of prepaid expenses

-

Remeasurement gains (losses)

-

Change in endowment investments

-

Decrease in net debt

4,316,253

$

4,019,001

(5,349,439)
7,775,403
2,425,964

(4,456,305)
7,763,849
3,307,544

(395,538)
484,770
89,232

(252,082)
136,090
(115,992)

2,394,265
(840,369)

(56,405)
(358,194)

8,385,345

6,795,954

(14,726,107)

(14,726,107)

(21,522,061)

$ (11,169,570)

$ (6,340,762)

$ (14,726,107)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018
2019

2018

$ 4,316,253

$ 4,019,001

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Annual surplus
Items not involving cash:
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Revenue recognized from deferred capital contributions
Changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventories
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee future benefits
Deferred revenue and contributions

7,775,403
(4,002,330)

7,763,849
(3,963,724)

(1,363,152)
89,232
26,028
3,439,664
(58,200)
15,010,046
25,232,944

(335,711)
(115,992)
(39,278)
1,110,549
(121,000)
2,712,860
11,030,554

(5,349,439)

(4,456,305)

2,189,361

1,801,361

Investing activities:
Net purchase of investments

(1,565,599)

(1,662,171)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

20,507,267

6,713,439

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

26,315,939

19,602,500

$ 46,823,206

$ 26,315,939

Capital activities:
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets
Financing activities:
Deferred capital contributions received

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses
Year ended March 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

Accumulated remeasurement gains, beginning of year
Unrealized gains attributed to fair value of investments and
endowment investments
Amounts reclassified to investment income

2018

$ 5,354,141

$ 5,410,546

2,546,064

292,004

(151,799)

Net remeasurement gains (losses) for the year

2,394,265

Accumulated remeasurement gains, end of year

$ 7,748,406

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended March 31, 2019

1. Purpose of the University:
Capilano University (the “University”) is a post-secondary educational institution funded by the
Provincial Government of British Columbia. The University is incorporated under the amended
University Act (Bill 34 was enacted on September 1, 2008). The University is a special purpose
teaching university and has regional campuses in the Province of British Columbia in
North Vancouver, Squamish and the Sunshine Coast.
The University is a registered charity under the Income Tax Act and is exempt from income tax under
Section 149 of the Income Tax Act.
These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial position and results of operations
and accumulated surplus and cash flows of the University and its controlled foundation, the Capilano
University Foundation (the “Foundation”). The purpose of the Foundation is to raise funds for student
financial assistance, capital needs, and program development at the University. The Foundation is
a registered charity and is exempt from income taxes under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act.
2. Summary of significant accounting policies:
The consolidated financial statements of the University are prepared by management in accordance
with the basis of accounting described below. Significant accounting policies of the University are
as follows:
(a) Basis of accounting:
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 of
the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia
supplemented by Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011 issued by the Province of
British Columbia Treasury Board.
The Budget Transparency and Accountability Act requires that the consolidated financial
statements be prepared in accordance with the set of standards and guidelines that comprise
generally accepted accounting principles for public sector organizations, or if the Treasury Board
makes a regulation, the set of standards and guidelines that comprise generally accepted
accounting principles for public sector organizations as modified by the alternate standard or
guideline or part thereof adopted in the regulation.
Regulation 257/2010 requires all tax-payer supported organizations in the Schools, Universities,
Colleges and Hospitals sectors to adopt Canadian public sector accounting standards without
any PS4200 elections effective their first fiscal year commencing after January 1, 2012.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
(a) Basis of accounting (continued):
Regulation 198/2011 requires that restricted contributions received or receivable are to be
reported as revenue depending on the nature of the restrictions on the use of the funds by the
contributors as follows:
(i) Contributions for the purpose of acquiring or developing a depreciable tangible capital asset
or contributions in the form of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as deferred
capital contributions and recognized in revenue at the same rate that amortization of the
related tangible capital asset is recorded. The reduction of the deferred capital contributions
and the recognition of the revenue are accounted for in the fiscal period during which the
tangible capital asset is used to provide services.
(ii) Contributions restricted for specific purposes other than those for the acquisition or
development of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as deferred contributions
and recognized in revenue in the year in which the stipulation or restriction on the
contributions have been met.
For British Columbia tax-payer supported organizations, these contributions include government
transfers and externally restricted contributions.
The accounting policy requirements under Regulation 198/2011 are significantly different from
the requirements of Canadian public sector accounting standards which requires that:
•

government transfers that do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability be recognized
as revenue by the recipient when approved by the transferor and the eligibility criteria have
been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard PS3410; and

•

externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the
resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public sector
accounting standard PS3100.

As a result, revenue recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated
Surplus and certain related deferred capital contributions would be recorded differently under
Canadian public sector accounting standards.
(b) Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of three
months or less at the date of purchase.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
(c) Financial instruments:
Financial instruments are classified into two categories: fair value or amortized cost.
(i) Fair value category: Portfolio instruments that are quoted in an active market and derivative
instruments are reflected at fair value as at the reporting date. Sales and purchases of
investments are recorded on the trade date. Transaction costs related to the acquisition of
investments are recorded as an expense. Unrealized gains and losses on financial assets
are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until
such time that the financial asset is derecognized due to disposal or impairment. At the time
of derecognition, the related realized gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus and related balances reversed from the
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. Unrealized gains and
losses on endowment investments where earnings are restricted as to use are recorded as
deferred contributions and recognized in revenue when disposed and when related
expenses are incurred.
The financial instruments measured at fair value held within each investment are classified
according to a hierarchy which includes three levels, reflecting the reliability of the inputs
involved in the fair value determination. There different levels are defined as follows:
a) Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
b) Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
c) Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that not based on observable market data.
The University’s investments, except for the donated insurance policy, are all considered to
be level 1 financial instruments for which the fair value is determined based on quoted prices
in active markets. The donated insurance policy is deemed a level 3 financial instrument as
the inputs for the asset are not based on observable market data. Changes in fair valuation
methods or in the availability of market observable inputs may result in a transfer between
levels. During the year there were no significant transfers of securities between the different
levels.
(ii) Amortized cost category: Investments with specified or determinable maturity dates are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus when
the financial asset is derecognized due to disposal or impairment. Sales and purchases of
investments are recorded on the trade date. Transaction costs related to the acquisition of
investments is included in the cost of the related investments.
Accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Any gains, losses or interest
expense is recorded in the annual surplus depending on the nature of the financial liability
that gave rise to the gain, loss or expense. Valuation allowances are made when collection
is in doubt.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) Inventories:
Inventories held for resale, including books and materials, are recorded at the lower of cost or
net realizable value. Cost includes the original purchase cost, plus shipping and applicable
duties. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less any costs to sell.
(e) Non-financial assets:
Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the
provision of services. They may have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are
not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.
(i) Tangible capital assets:
Tangible capital asset acquisitions are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are
directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.
Donated assets are recorded at fair value at the date of donation. In unusual circumstances
where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, the tangible capital asset would be
recognized at nominal value. Land is not amortized as it is deemed to have a permanent
value. The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives shown below:
Asset

Rate

Buildings, concrete/steel
Buildings, wood frame
Computer equipment
Software
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Library books
Public works
Vehicles

40 years
20 years
4 years
3 years
5 years
10 years
10 years
10 years

Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use.
Borrowing costs, if any, attributable to the construction of tangible capital assets are
capitalized during the construction period.
Tangible capital assets are written down to net realizable value when conditions indicate
that they no longer contribute to the University’s ability to provide goods and services, or
when the value of future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are
less than their net book value.
(ii) Leased tangible capital assets:
Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of
property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are accounted
for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as incurred. As
at March 31, 2019, the University did not have leased tangible capital assets (2018 - nil).
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
(f) Employee future benefits:
The University and its employees make contributions to the College Pension Plan and Municipal
Pension Plan, which are multi-employer jointly trusteed plans. These plans are a defined benefit
plan, providing a pension on retirement based on the member’s age at retirement, length of
service and highest earnings averaged over five years. Inflation adjustments are contingent
upon available funding. As the assets and liabilities of the plan are not segregated by institution,
the plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan and any contributions of the University
to the plan are expensed as incurred.
The University also has a defined benefit plan for retired employees and employees on longterm disability. The University accrues its obligations under this defined benefit plan as the
employees render the services necessary to earn these benefits and as employees on longterm disability become eligible for such benefits. Actuarial gains (losses) incurred are deferred
and recognized into the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus over
the estimated average remaining service life of the employee group. The effective date of the
most recent valuation is December 31, 2018, and the next required valuation will be as of
December 31, 2019. This actuarial valuation has been extrapolated to March 31, 2019.
The University accrues vacation for employees as earned. However, revenue for funding for
these is not accrued, as the Province does not provide special funding for vacations and retiring
allowances. As the majority of employees are paid salaries, management anticipates that
vacation accruals will be reversed when these employees take their standard vacations and that
no additional funding will be required above authorized salaries.
(g) Revenue recognition:
Tuition and student fees and sales of goods and services are reported as revenue at the time
the services are provided or the products are delivered, and collection is reasonably assured.
Fees received prior to the year-end where the course is delivered subsequent to the year-end
are recorded as deferred revenue.
Project revenue and expenses are recognized as the related activities are performed. The zero
profit margin method is used when a contract’s financial outcome is not reasonably
determinable. This method of accounting requires that equal amounts of revenue and expense
be recognized until the financial outcome of a contract can be reasonably estimated. Provision
for anticipated losses is made in the period in which they become evident.
Unrestricted donations and grants are recorded as revenue when receivable if the amounts can
be estimated and collection is reasonably assured. Pledges from donors are recorded as
revenue when payment is received by the University or the transfer of property is completed.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
(g) Revenue recognition (continued):
Restricted donations and grants are reported as revenue depending on the nature of the
restrictions on the use of the funds by the contributors as follows:
(i) Contributions for the purpose of acquiring or developing a depreciable tangible capital asset
or in the form of a depreciable tangible capital asset, in each case for use in providing
services, are recorded and referred to as deferred capital contributions and recognized in
revenue at the same rate that amortization of the tangible capital asset is recorded. The
reduction of the deferred capital contributions and the recognition of the revenue are
accounted for in the fiscal period during which the tangible capital asset is used to provide
services.
(ii) Contributions restricted for specific purposes other than for those to be held in perpetuity or
the acquisition or development of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as
deferred contributions and recognized in revenue in the year in which the stipulation or
restriction on the contribution have been met.
(iii) Contributions restricted to be retained in perpetuity, allowing only the investment income
earned thereon to be spent are recorded as endowment donations received on the
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus for the portion to be held
in perpetuity and as deferred contributions for the investment income earned thereon.
Investment income includes interest recorded on an accrual basis and dividends recorded as
declared, realized gains and losses on the sale of investment and write downs on investments
where the loss in value is determined to be other-than-temporary.
(h) Contaminated sites:
A liability for contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use and the
following criteria are met:
(i) An environmental standard exists;
(ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standards;
(iii) The University is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;
(iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
(v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.
The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including
operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for
a contaminated site.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
(i) Use of estimates:
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the accounting
framework described in note 2(a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions.
These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and related
disclosures. Key areas where management has made estimates and assumptions include those
related to the useful lives of tangible capital assets, accrued liabilities and employee future
benefits payable. Where actual results differ from these estimates and assumptions, the impact
will be recorded in future periods when the difference becomes known.
(j) Budget figures:
Budget figures have been provided for comparative purposes and have been derived from the
consolidated budget approved by the Board of Governors of the University on April 17, 2018.
This budget is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt.
3. Financial instruments:
Financial assets, non-financial assets recorded at fair value are comprised of the following:

Level 1:
Fixed income investments
Canadian equity investments
Foreign equity investments

2019

2018

$ 23,974,880
16,199,604
12,308,663
52,483,147

$ 23,582,844
14,346,231
10,702,218
48,631,293

Less: endowment investments

(10,503,329)
41,979,818

Level 3:
Donated insurance policy
Investments

(9,662,960)
38,968,333

391,000

282,990

$ 42,370,818

$ 39,251,323

2019

2018

4. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Salaries and benefits payable
Accrued vacation pay

$

6,021,950
7,808,328
3,187,949

$ 17,018,227
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$

4,356,448
6,146,740
3,075,375

$ 13,578,563
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

5. Employee future benefits:
(a) Benefits for employees on long-term disability and faculty retirees:
Information about liabilities for the University’s employee benefit plans is as follows:
2019

2018

Accrued benefit obligation balance, beginning of year
Interest cost
Employee contributions
Expected benefit payments
Immediate recognition of continuation of
benefits for disabled employees
Actuarial gain

$ 1,194,000
3,900
386,900
(387,800)

$ 1,314,300
3,200
301,800
(302,000)

(53,500)
(60,700)

(117,000)
(6,300)

Accrued benefit obligation balance, end of year

$ 1,082,800

$ 1,194,000

2019

2018

Accrued benefit obligation
Unamortized actuarial gain

$ 1,082,800
106,300

$ 1,194,000
53,300

Accrued benefit liability

$ 1,189,100

$ 1,247,300

As the employee future benefit liability for long-term disability is an event-driven obligation, the
expense (recovery) recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated
Surplus is comprised only of the immediate recognition of the liability.
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the University’s accrued benefit
obligation are as follows:

Obligation discount rate
Estimated average remaining service life
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2019

2018

2.45%
9 years

2.75%
9 years
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

5. Employee future benefits (continued):
(b) Provincial pension plans:
Capilano University and its employees contribute to the College Pension Plan and Municipal
Pension Plan (the “Plan”), jointly trusteed pension plans. The Board of Trustees for these plans
represent plan members and employers and are responsible for the management of the pension
plan including investment of the assets and administration of benefits. The pension plans are
multi-employer contributory pension plans. Basic pension benefits provided are based on a
formula. The College Pension Plan has about 14,000 active members from college senior
administration and instructional staff and approximately 8,000 retired members. The Municipal
Pension Plan has about 197,000 active members.
The actuarial valuation for the College Pension Plan as at August 31, 2015 indicated a
$67 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits. The actuarial valuation for the Municipal
Pension Plan as at December 31, 2015 indicated a $2,224 million funding surplus for basic
pension benefits.
Employers participating in the Plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is
because the Plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the Plan in aggregate with
the result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and
cost to individual employers participating in the Plan.
The University records pension expense as cash contributions to the plans are made. During
the year, the University contributed $5,005,371 (2018 - $4,791,364) to the above plans.
6. Deferred revenue and contributions:
Deferred revenue and contributions consists of deferred tuition fees, deferred government
contributions and project and other revenue, deferred restricted donations and deferred restricted
investment income as follows:
2019
Tuition fees
Deferred government contributions and
project and other revenue (a) and (b)
Restricted donations and investment income (c)
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$ 23,430,887

2018
$

9,126,832

2,157,950
5,935,121

2,316,915
5,070,165

$ 31,523,958

$ 16,513,912
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

6. Deferred revenue and contributions (continued):
(a) Included in deferred government contributions and project and other revenue is the following:
2019
Provincial contributions:
Beginning of year
Amounts received during the year
Recognized as revenue

$

$

728,756
2,691,981
(2,572,622)
848,115

2018

$

$

382,707
2,492,920
(2,146,871)
728,756

Operating grants from the Province of British Columbia of $39,165,538 (2018 - $37,804,031)
were immediately recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Surplus when received. Amounts recognized as revenue are included in the
Province of British Columbia revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Surplus.
(b) Included in deferred government contributions and project and other revenue is the following
related to contributions revenue:
2019
Non-provincial contributions:
Beginning of year
Amounts received during the year
Recognized as revenue

2018

$

1,588,159
7,301,271
(7,579,595)

$

1,483,095
5,823,448
(5,718,384)

$

1,309,835

$

1,588,159

(c) Restricted donations and investment income is comprised of the following amounts from nongovernment organizations:
2019
Beginning of year
Amounts received during the year
Recognized as revenue
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2018

$

5,070,165
2,340,781
(1,475,825)

$

4,845,008
647,659
(422,502)

$

5,935,121

$

5,070,165
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

7. Deferred capital contributions:
Contributions for capital are referred to as deferred capital contributions. Amounts are recognized
as revenue over the useful life of the asset. Treasury Board provided direction on accounting
treatment as disclosed in note 2(a). Changes in the deferred capital contributions balance are as
follows:
2019

2018

Balance, beginning of year
Contributions received during the year
Revenue recognized from deferred capital contributions

$ 51,466,115
2,189,361
(4,002,330)

$ 53,628,478
1,801,361
(3,963,724)

Balance, end of year

$ 49,653,146

$ 51,466,115

Included in the above is the following related to government and non-government organizations:
2019
Provincial contributions:
Beginning of year
Amounts received during the year
Recognized as revenue

Federal contributions:
Beginning of year
Recognized as revenue

Other contributions:
Beginning of year
Recognized as revenue

2018

$ 36,751,991
2,189,361
(3,280,734)

$ 37,977,276
1,801,361
(3,026,646)

$ 35,660,618

$ 36,751,991

2019

2018

$ 14,239,119
(421,596)

$ 14,660,715
(421,596)

$ 13,817,523

$ 14,239,119

2019

2018

$

475,005
(300,000)

$

990,487
(515,482)

$

175,005

$

475,005

Revenue is recognized as amortization of deferred capital contributions on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

8. Tangible capital assets:
Balance at
March 31,
2018

Cost
Land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment
Library books
Other furniture and equipment
Public works
Software
Vehicles

$

10,000,370
115,572,513
10,224,266
89,253
11,966,215
2,201,475
1,465,525
313,121

Total

$ 151,832,738

Additions
Net of
Transfers
$

$ 5,349,439

Balance at
March 31,
2018

Accumulated
amortization

1,596,429
60,830
2,143,035
837,652
(8,526)
437,909
282,110

Disposals

Balance at
March 31,
2019

$

89,253
-

$ 10,000,370
117,168,942
60,830
12,367,301
12,803,867
2,192,949
1,903,434
595,231

$

89,253

$ 157,092,924

Disposals

Balance at
March 31,
2019

Additions

Land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment
Library books
Other furniture and equipment
Public works
Software
Vehicles

$

61,039,908
6,171,567
88,904
6,808,155
766,458
848,313
73,919

$

3,028,703
2,269,144
349
1,666,479
196,079
461,886
152,763

$

89,253
-

$

Total

$

75,797,224

$ 7,775,403

$

89,253

$ 83,483,374

Net book value
March 31, 2018

64,068,611
8,440,711
8,474,634
962,537
1,310,199
226,682

Net book value
March 31, 2019

Land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment
Library books
Other furniture and equipment
Public works
Software
Vehicles

$

10,000,370
54,532,605
4,052,699
349
5,158,060
1,435,017
617,212
239,202

$ 10,000,370
53,100,331
60,830
3,926,590
4,329,233
1,230,412
593,235
368,549

Total

$

76,035,514

$ 73,609,550
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

9. Financial risk management:
The University has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk,
market risk and liquidity risk.
The Board of Governors ensures that the University has identified its major risks and ensures that
management monitors and controls them.
(a) Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the University if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Such risks arise principally from certain
financial assets held by the University consisting of cash, investments, accounts receivable and
endowment investments. The University assesses these financial assets on a continuous basis
for any amounts that are not collectible or realizable.
(b) Market risk:
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, including interest rates, will affect
University’s income. The objective of market risk management is to control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk. The University
manages market risk by adoption of an investment policy and adherence to this policy by an
investment manager. Investments are in pooled funds in a diversified portfolio in accordance
with the University’s investment policy.
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates.
It is management’s opinion that the University is not exposed to significant market or interest
rate risk arising from its financial instruments.
(c) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the University will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
become due.
The University manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and forecasted cash flows
from operations and anticipated investing and financing activities to ensure, as far as possible,
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the University’s
reputation.
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

10. Contractual obligations:
The nature of the University’s activities results in multi-year contracts and obligations whereby the
University is committed to make future payments. Significant contractual obligations related to
facilities, security, parking and janitorial services that can be reasonably estimated are as follows:

2020
2021
2022
2023

$

2,535,486
1,529,448
653,418
310,422

Total

$

5,028,774

11. Expenses by object:
The following is a summary of expenses by object:
2019
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Buildings and grounds maintenance
Cost of goods sold
Other operating expenses
Salaries and benefits
Student support activities

$

7,775,403
6,300,859
1,694,878
23,829,210
69,131,525
2,045,629

$ 110,777,504
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2018
$

7,763,849
5,096,114
1,615,010
16,522,633
64,748,530
2,003,335

$ 97,749,471
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CAPILANO UNIVERSITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Year ended March 31, 2019

12. Budget figures:
Budget figures have been provided for comparative purposes and have been derived from the
consolidated budget approved by the Board of Governors of the University on April 17, 2018. The
budget is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus and the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt and is reconciled to the Consolidated Statement of
Operations as follows:

Approved
Budget

Expenses by object:
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Expenses
Salaries and benefits

$

9,140,848
27,185,945
71,473,325
107,800,118

Reallocation

$ (9,140,848)
(27,185,945)
(71,473,325)
(107,800,118)

Expenses by function:
Instruction and student support
Facility and institutional support
Ancillary

$ 107,800,118

$

Statement
of Operations
and
Accumulated
Surplus

$

-

62,963,059
38,415,425
6,421,634
107,800,118

62,963,059
38,415,425
6,421,634
107,800,118

-

$ 107,800,118

13. Comparative information:
Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform with the financial statement
presentation adopted in the current year.
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BOARD REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 10.3: EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE STATEMENT FOR 2018/19
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Soon Kim, Finance and Audit Committee Chair
PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is for the Finance and Audit Committee to recommend that the Board review
and approve the Executive Compensation Disclosure Statement for fiscal year ending March 31, 2019.
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The provincial government requires under legislation that all public sector organizations, including
Capilano University, disclose all compensation paid to the Chief Executive Officer and the next four
highest ranking executives earning more than $125,000 during a fiscal year. The Board Chair is
accountable for the accuracy and compliance of the information through a signed attestation that is
publicly available. The statement is available on the Public Sector Employers’ Council and University
websites.
Attached is the Executive Compensation Disclosure Statement for 2018/19. The Finance and Audit
Committee completed their review at the May Finance and Audit Committee meeting.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Board approves the Executive Compensation Disclosure Statement for the Year Ended
March 31, 2019.
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Capilano University
Executive Compensation Summary - Fiscal 2018/19

Name and Position

Annualized Base
Salary

Holdback / Bonus
/ Incentive Plan
Compensation

Base Salary

Benefits

Pension

Pension Contribution

Employer %
Irene Chanin, Executive Director, Development & Univ. Communications
Jacqui Stewart, VP, Finance & Administration
Paul Dangerfield, President
Toran Savjord, VP Strategic Planning, Assessment & Institutional Effectiveness
Laureen Styles, VP, Academic & Provost

Name and Position
Irene Chanin, Executive Director, Development & Univ. Communications
Jacqui Stewart, VP, Finance & Administration
Paul Dangerfield, President
Toran Savjord, VP Strategic Planning, Assessment & Institutional Effectiveness
Laureen Styles, VP, Academic & Provost

$ 145,877
$ 167,059
$ 200,813
$ 154,752
$ 167,000

All Other
Compensation
$ 4,349
$ 150
$ 4,112
$ 150
$-

$ 96,386
$ 166,090
$ 196,031
$ 152,518
$ 132,208

$$$$$-

Vacation
payout

Severance

$$$$$-

$ 7,728
$ 12,230
$ 23,746
$ 12,972
$ 12,831

Leave
payout

$ 4,199
$$ 2,312
$$-

$$$$$-

$ 9,880
$ 17,024
$ 21,026
$ 15,633
$ 13,551

10.15%
10.15%
10.15%
10.15%
10.15%

Other

$$$$$-

Notes:
Irene Chanin, Executive Director, Development & Univ. Communications
Jacqui Stewart, VP, Finance & Administration
Paul Dangerfield, President
Toran Savjord, VP Strategic Planning, Assessment & Institutional Effectiveness
Laureen Styles, VP, Academic & Provost

- appointment ended, partial year for 2018/19; vehicle allowance included in base salary effective May 1, 2018
- vehicle allowance included in base salary effective May 1, 2018
- vacation payout in 2018/19
- partial year in 2017/18; vehicle allowance included in base salary effective May 1, 2018
- appointed June 2018

Page 194 of 204
Capilano University Board of Governors

2018/19
Total

2017/18
Total

$ 118,343
$ 195,494
$ 244,916
$ 181,273
$ 158,591

$ 170,339
$ 187,621
$ 224,851
$ 116,589
N/A

Employee %

10.25%
10.25%
10.25%
10.25%
10.25%

Vehicle /
Perquisites /
Transportation
other
Allowance
Allowances
$ 150
$ 150
$ 1,800
$ 150
$-

All Other
Compensation
(expanded
below)

$$$$$-

$ 4,349
$ 150
$ 4,112
$ 150
$-
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Policy No.

Officer Responsible

B.509

President

Policy Name

Administrator Compensation Policy

1.

Approved by

Replaces

Category

Next Review

Board

Memo 42

A

April 2019

Date Issued

Date Revised

Related Policies, Reference

Nov 17, 2015

April 19, 2016

B.503, B.507, B.510

POLICY STATEMENT
Capilano University provides an Administrator Compensation Policy that includes: salary,
flexible group benefits, College Pension Plan and other programs and services designed to
attract and reward employees’ commitment and performance.

2.

SCOPE
This policy applies to all regular and term-defined employees who are administrators
including the President, Vice-Presidents, Deans, Directors and Managers.

3.

GOVERNANCE
Capilano University’s Board of Governors oversees the Administrator Compensation Policy
which may be amended from time to time, as determined by the University and as approved
by the Minister. The President is responsible for Capilano University’s Administrator
Compensation Policy, consistent with Board policy.

4.

OBJECTIVES
Capilano University’s Administrator Compensation Policy is intended to attract and retain
skilled and knowledgeable personnel necessary to meet the University’s mission and goals.

5.

GUIDING PRINCIPLES
In administering the Administrator Compensation Policy, Capilano University adheres to the
following guiding principles:
5.1.

Performance
Employees will receive annual performance evaluations to ensure that employees
are meeting the job expectations for their positions.

5.2.

Differentiation
The Administrator Compensation Policy will ensure that differences in scope and
responsibility are compensated appropriately in relation to all internal positions.

5.3.

External Equity
Capilano University’s salary scale will be reviewed periodically to work towards
external equity with comparables.
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Administrator Compensation Policy
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Memo 42

A

April 2019

Date Issued

Date Revised
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Nov 17, 2015

April 19, 2016

B.503, B.507, B.510

5.4.

Accountability of Funds
Compensation decisions are objective and based upon a clear and well documented
business rationale that demonstrates the appropriate expenditure of public funds.

5.5.

Fair and Consistent
The Administrator Compensation Policy will be fairly and consistently applied, based
on assessing common factors for jobs, and not assessing the individual in the role.

5.6.

Transparency
Compensation systems are designed, managed and communicated in a manner that
ensures the Administrator Compensation Policy is clearly understood by employees
and the public while protecting individual personal information.

5.7.

Compliance
The Administrator Compensation Policy will be in compliance with all laws and
regulations.

6.

ELEMENTS OF THE ADMINISTRATOR COMPENSATION POLICY
Capilano University offers an Administrator Compensation Policy designed to remain
competitive with other post-secondary institutions in British Columbia. Elements of the
policy include:
6.1.

Salary
Differences in scope and responsibility are compensated appropriately in relation to
all internal positions.

6.2.

Health and Welfare Benefits
Capilano University has a flexible benefits plan with a number of different elements,
some of which can be modified in order for employees to make selections to better
suit their individual needs:
• BC Medical
• Extended Health
• Dental
• Group Life and Accidental Death and Dismemberment
• Long Term Disability
• Short Term Disability
• Employee and Family Assistance Program
• Optional coverage available through flexible benefit options:
Page 2 of 3
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o
o
o
6.3.

General Benefits
• Vacation
• Sick Leave

6.4.

Pension
•

6.5.

College Pension Plan

Other
•

7.

Health Care Spending Account
Professional Development
Registered Retirement Savings Plan

Professional Development

EXTERNAL EQUITY
Capilano University’s comparator group includes organizations where we can attract
qualified employees from and are at risk of losing qualified employees to. Our core
comparator group includes similar post-secondary institutions and other public sector
employers within British Columbia. For other jobs where talent may be needed from out-ofprovince and jobs that require skills from specific industries or from outside of the public
sector, a secondary comparator group may be required.

8.

PAY POSITIONING
Capilano University targets the 50th percentile of the comparator group.

9.

AFFORDABILITY AND SUSTAINABILITY
Capilano University’s Administrator Compensation Policy is designed and administered in a
fiscally responsible manner that ensures that costs are affordable and sustainable over time.
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BOARD REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 10.4: APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS FOR 2019/20
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Soon Kim, Finance and Audit Committee Chair
PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to recommend that the Board appoint KPMG as Capilano University’s
auditors for 2019/20.
BACKGROUND
Section 33 of the University Act requires that the Board must appoint an auditor, unless the Auditor
General has been appointed. According to the proposed three year Audit Coverage Plan published by
the Office of the Auditor General, the Auditor General intends to complete:
•
•
•

Oversight audit in 2019/20
Direct audit in 2020/21
Direct audit in 2021/22

KPMG concluded a 5 year contract expiring on March 31, 2019. The contract allows for an extension of
up to two years. The appointment of KPMG auditors through to the end of 2019/20 would coincide with
the deliverables in the Auditor General’s current plan.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Board appoint KPMG as the auditors for 2019/20.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 11: Board Self-Assessment Survey Results
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Duncan Brown, Governance Committee Chair
BACKGROUND
The Governance Committee is responsible for conducting an annual evaluation of the Board, which was
completed during the month of May. Capilano University’s Office of Institutional Research produced a
Full Summary Report based on the Board of Governors Self-Assessment Survey, which the Governance
Committee reviewed at its June 11, 2019 meeting. Governance Committee members endorsed the
Survey Report.
The following is an extract from the Executive Summary of the Board Self-Assessment Survey:

SURVEY OVERVIEW
The Board of Governors Self-Assessment Survey was administered from May 16th, 2019 to May
31st, 2019. Of the 15 participants, 12 responded resulting in a response rate of 80%. The results
indicate that the members of the Board have a clear understanding of the mandate and
responsibilities. However, there is a need to better establish measurable goals and targets for
performance by the Board. In terms of processes, similarly to 2018 results, the members
generally agree that the current processes are efficient. While there are no prominent
differences compared to last year, Board members generally scored less favourably in all
questions except in their role to provide oversight, understanding broader changes facing CapU,
and the orientation process. Compared to last year, more Board members this year believe that
the Board does not provide strong leadership in the ongoing review of the University’s strategic
direction.

SUMMARY FINDINGS
GOALS AND ROLES
• Members of the Board believe they have a clear and common understanding of the Board’s
mandate and responsibilities.
• Compared to 92.3% (n=12) in 2018, 66.67% (n=8) agree that the Board provides strong
leadership in the ongoing review of the University’s strategic direction.
• The Board members believe that they are effective in reviewing current policies and are
available as a resource to each other.
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•
•

Half of the members believe that the Board is ineffective in establishing and tracking
measurable goals and targets for performance.
Similarly to 2018, 41.7% (n=5) of the members do not believe that the Board has a
succession plan implemented for its members.

PROCESSES
• The Board meetings are generally well run and orderly, but 25.0% (n=4) of the members
believe that the time spent on agenda items is inappropriate to the significance of the item.
• The majority of the members believe that the processes are reviewed regularly to ensure
that they are streamlined and efficient.
RELATIONSHIPS
• The Board treat each other with courtesy and respect and provide an open, trusting
environment.
• The Board has a good working relationship with the administration at Capilano University.
• Compared to 15.4% (n=2) in 2018, 33.33% (n=4) believe that the Board does not seek input
and feedback from community and other external stakeholder groups on appropriate
aspects of Board/University operations.
• The Board expressed interest in being more involved with CapU events and activities.
DISCUSSION
Governance Committee members are interested in hearing the opinion of all Board of Governors
members.
RECOMMENDATION
This is for the Board’s information only.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 12: FUTURE MEETINGS AND EVENTS
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 19, 2018
PRESENTER: Paul Dangerfield, President
PURPOSE
To provide the Board members with the dates for the upcoming regular Board meetings, as well as other
Capilano University events that may be of interest.
BACKGROUND
Board members continue to express an interest in taking part in more Capilano University events in
addition to the Board meetings. Many of these events are listed on the Capilano University website
under BlueShore Financial Centre for the Performing Arts. Tickets can be requested through the
Executive Assistant to the Board.
Please note that there may be some adjustments to the meetings and events schedule (below). Regular
meeting dates for the Board of Governors will be finalized in the coming weeks and will be posted on
the Capilano University website.
BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE
Type of Meeting
Board All-Day Orientation &
Planning Session
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting
Joint Board and Senate
Networking Social
Regular Meeting
Regular Meeting

Meeting Date
Thurs, September 19, 2019

Time
9 am to 5 pm

LB321

Tues, September 24, 2019
Tues, November 26, 2019
Tues, December 3, 2019

4 to 6 pm
4 to 6 pm
5:30 to 7:30 pm

BR126
BR126
CSU Student Lounge

Tues, February 25, 2020
Tues, March 24, 2020

4 to 6 pm
All Day

Regular Meeting
Foundation AGM & Annual Board
Dinner

Tues, June 2, 2020
Thurs, June 18, 2020

4 to 6 pm
5 to 9 pm

BR126
kálax-ay Sunshine Coast
Campus (to be confirmed)
BR126
Pier Salon – Pinnacle Hotel
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UPCOMING CAPILANO UNIVERSITY EVENTS
Event
Pride on the Pier

This event is hosted by the Pride Society of
Vancouver. Capilano University is proud to
support and attend this event.

Domestic Student Orientation

Date

Time and Location

Tuesday, July 31

The Shipbuilder's Square,
Lower Lonsdale
5:00 pm

Thursday, Aug 29, 2019

Day 1: Start Right Here New Student
Orientation
Day 2: Faculty and Program Orientation

Tuesday, Sept 3, 2019

International Student Orientation

Students will receive specific check-in times
for Faculty and Program Orientation.
Northshore Campus,
The Centre for Sport and Wellness,
9 to 4 pm

Friday, Aug 30, 2019

Alumni Awards Event

A ticketed event for Alumni award
recipients, alumni, partners, CapU faculty,
staff, volunteer leadership

Thursday, Oct 17, 2019

Time and location are to be confirmed.

UPCOMING THEATRE EVENTS
2019 – 2020 Series at a Glance

Event
Cécile McLorin Salvant
Peter Bernstein
Charlie Hunter and Lucy Woodward
Tord Gustavsen Trio
A Tribute to Bird and Diz
Gord Grdina's Haram
Renee Rosnes
Delvon Lamarr Organ Trio
Leo Kottke
Jontavious Willis
Full Moon Fever
Lemon Bucket Orkestra
Pharis and Jason Romero
Strunz & Farah
April Verch
Black Hen Roadshow
Polyrhythmics & Tony Allen
Handel’s Messiah
SINGERS’ CHOICE!

- Jazz Series Oct 16 & 17, 2019
Oct 25, 2019
Dec 6, 2019
Jan 19, 2020
Jan 24, 2020
Feb 28, 2020
Mar 6, 2020
Mar 26, 2020
- Global Roots Series Sept 29, 2019
Oct 6, 2019
Oct 10 & 11, 2019
Nov 2, 2019
Jan 17, 2020
Jan 26, 2020
May 16, 2020
May 29, 2020
June 7, 2020
- Classical & Choral Nov 30-Dec 1, 2019
April 4-5, 2020
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Macbeth
7 Stories
A Chorus Line
Bed & Breakfast
Kim's Convenience
The Shoplifters
Dr. Jen Gunter
Winter Harp

Event

- Theatre Series Nov 14-23, 2019
Feb 4-8, 2020
Mar 19-28, 2020
- Arts Club at Cap Oct 3, 2019
Feb 15, 2020
Jan 9, 2020
- Speaker Series Sept 24, 2019
- Special Event Dec 11 & 12, 2019

Date

NOTE: Dates & times are subject to change; Locations to be confirmed.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT
AGENDA ITEM 13: BOARD CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR ELECTION
PURPOSE:

Approval
Information
Discussion

MEETING DATE: June 18, 2019
PRESENTER: Paul Dangerfield, President
PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with information regarding the annual election of the
Board Chair and Vice-Chair.
BACKGROUND
Section 19.2 (1) of the University Act states:
The members of the board of a university, other than the University of British Columbia, must elect a
chair from among the 8 members of the board appointed under section 19 (1) (d).
Section 9.1 of the Board Bylaws state:
At its annual June meeting the Board shall elect by majority vote of Board members present (if they
constitute a quorum) a Chair and a Vice‐Chair. The President of Capilano University will conduct the
election.
DISCUSSION
The Board Bylaws state that the President shall conduct the election of the Board Chair and Vice-Chair
annually at its June meeting. The President will first ask for nominations at the meeting for Board Chair;
self-nominations are acceptable. Please note that the University Act states that only appointed board
members are eligible to run for election of Chair and Vice-Chair.
Anyone who wishes to nominate a member for the position of Board Chair will identify the nominee by
name. The nominee should then declare his or her willingness to run for election. Nominations do not
need to be seconded but it is not out of order for members to second a nomination to signal their
endorsement. If anyone wishes to nominate themselves, they must declare this by stating their name
and willingness to run for election of Chair.
If there is only one candidate, the presiding officer may announce that the candidate is elected by
acclamation. If there is more than one candidate, then a ballot vote will be taken.
The same procedure will be conducted for the election of the Vice-Chair.
This is for the Board’s information only.
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